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THREE COFFEES FROM TEXAS
Rich, Holland and John Trousdale

Although they left their indelible footprints on Texas history,
none of these three were native born Texans. All three were
probably related through familial connections. It is fairly well
documented that Holland and John Trousdale were definitely of the
same family. As far as this researcher is concerned, the
documentation that Rich is of the same family is very "iffy".

The "correct" spelling of the name of each of these pioneers, is
probably "Coffee". This too, is open to debate. It can be
"proven" that either spelling is correct. There is no original
research in this collection, nor are any arguments made as to the
validity of any materials included. A full name Index including
glllfgmgly names, counties mentioned and city or village names is
included.
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Rich Coffey was the first: per- .

manent white settlér of the lower..
Concho country of West Texas
and many are the stories still re-:
lated of him and hie exploits:~
When old-timers of Coleman; -
Concho, McCulloch, Runnels, and -
Tom Green Counties gather and..
begin reminiscing, invariably_ the

name of “Uncle Rich” Coffey will -
be mentioned and a number of
stories will follow. Many of these _
are pure fabrications, and too,
often not representative of the

kind of man Rich Coffey was."

Others are exaggerated versions

of actual events. All of these have
helped to make Rich Coffey a
legendary figure of the frontier
and have aided in creating and
?erpetuatin a false image of this
famous old frontiersman. It is the
intention of this paper to aid in
rescuing the real %ich Cofiey for
posterity. . .

Rich Coffey was a_strong man,
not quite six feet tall but. weigh-
ing more than two hundred
pounds and with an unusually
thick chest and shoulders. An
exaggerated statement that he
weighed “about 800 pounds” is

. c2T e Ly co -
- - * "

denied by his descendants. His
dress during the period of the
Civil War. and just following was
picturesque indeed with a buffalo
robe and cape”to pull over his
head with the buffalo tail attach
for decoration. ‘
A small congregation in a little
log church near Dublin, Texas in
the early seventies was startled by
the sudden appearance of a large

- man dressed in bearskins. His

long uncut hair and his bearskin
clothes made him look more like
a bear than a human being. The

. church service was in progress
.- and the stranger found a seat.and

listened intently to-the’ sermon.
As the message proceeded the
visitor was visibly touched and
tears flowed down his cheeks. Be-
fore the sermon was over his huge
shoulders began- to shake and
finally he gave vent to audible
sobs. Following the benediction
the stranger made himself known
to Rev. John R. Northcutt, the
minister. It was Rich Coffey from
the Concho, who as a boy in
Georgia had known John R.
Northcutt but had not seen or
heard of him for many long years.
While passing through the Dub-
lin vicini ongbis way to Weather-
"ford he had heard of a Baptist
minister named Northcutt and
had turned aside to learn if this
could be his old Georgia neighbor.

Richard Coffey was a native of
Georgia, where he was born Feb-
ruary 14, 1823. Here lie grew to
maxl;iood and married Miss Sallie
Greathouse on October 5,.1849.
About 1855 they moved to Texas,
settling in Parker County. Here
their first son, John Wright Coffey,

o

was born on June 21, 1858. Two'

daughters had already been born
to them. Rich Coffey engaged in
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cattle raising and also did some
freighting. He served under Cap-
tain L. S. Ross as a citizen soldier
and aided in the capture of .Cyn-
thia Ann Parker on December 18, -

In 1862 Rich Coffey boldly :
moved his family and cattle cut
beyond the most remote settler to
Elm Creek near the present site of
Ballinger in Runnels County. He"
was accompanied to his frontier
home by a number of cowboys in
his employ, including W. A. and.
Jim Beddo, Bob and Nathaniel
Guest, Bob and Henry Meeks,
Billy Gordon, and Jack McCarthy.
“There they built a picket fort, all
the houses were joined together
and all enclosed by pickets made
from the poles they cut from the
river bottom.” - =" -

Indian raids became so numer-
ous that the Coffeys “forted-up” -
with settlers at the Flat Top
Ranch in southwestern Coleman
County. A ranch home was even-
tually selected just below the con-
fluence of the Concho and the
Colorado and on the Coleman
County side (though the home
was actually in Concho County).

This frontier home became a
welcome haven to many a »
traveler. “Many stories
by the Rangers of
never failed to
‘Uncle Rich® whe

dow never gfew
was ever turpéd a
a guest went on his
warm glow inside be
big-hearted hospitality”4£ ek
Rich and Aunt Sallie.} ‘

cially during 4
moon” each mg C
manches ¢ parily made
invasions. ;%:' the men werd £d:
gaged in lgoking after the

the care anil'much of the prétéci’
tion of Ibe ranch house was{leffis
to Mrs Coffey and her daughtérs
In timé5 of extreme danger “Aunt
Sallie” kept a huge pot of lye soap
boiling day and night to dash
upon any Indian attempting to.
make an entrance to the frontier
home, E '

Rich Coffey had many Af€oun-.
ters with the Indians. A

tiersman, he was alwdys&fert and
adept at makin ight"decision
quickly. U B ROCE sion whﬂe!:.

walking

o country, -The cattle -
! Coffey bore the brand of.
4. On this.occasion he decided -

6.1t his own cowhoys take a herd

¢w. Mexico. Nathaniel Guest
a¢placed in charge of the herd.
% ik Coffey, the 15 year old eldest

Fthetremuda of 54 horses. The

hen] was moved out on June 1, -
1871. The trail boss had planned- .

to “noon” at a large waterhole on -
a creek. Bill Coffey had alread
reached the stream, stripped o
his clothing and was enjoying a
swim. John was preparing to ride
to the front of the herd to start the
lead cattle down to water, when
the herd stampeded as they were
suddenly attacked by a band of
ninety to one hundred Indians.
John yelled, “Let's go to the
creek!” He arid Dan Amold raced
down the hillside hard-pressed by
about twenty-five painted and
scowl:‘lr:é; Indian warriors. With
his rimfire Winchester rifle, John
shot at a nearby half-naked Indian
who was firing a pistol. In the
excitement he missed. “As they
reached the level of the creek,
Dan was shot through the "head
and without a word his lifeless
body toppled from his horse.”

Bill Coffey, hearing the commo-
tion, swam ashore to retrieve his
clothing but discovered he was
too late to secure his clothes and
mount his horse. He quickly
dived under a projecting ledge of
rock, where there was just suff-
cient room for him to keep his
head above the water while re-

" ofi‘13020 cattle “up the trail® to-

nywas a regular cowhand, while "
lt§ 1wo years younger, wrangled -

Page 3
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maining out of sight. Here he re-
mained throughout the afternoon.

In the meantime the Indians
closed in on John Coffey and
seized his horse but he quickly
sprang from the saddle into a wil-
low grove. The Indians fearin
his gun temporarily retired an
John sought a hiding place along
the creek. “In the shelter of the
Jow bank he crept up the creek to
a place where two trees grew on
the bank and where water had cut
away- the dirt from their roots.”
Pulling some boulders around the

roots for protection, he slipped be-
hind the rocks and rootlslp ig:o-the

hollowed out hole in the bank.-

“During the ensuing hour John
heard another cowboy up a fork
of the creek, shooting and yelling

like mad. The cowboy, Lapoleon

Lemmons, was killed and scalped
and his mutilated body was found
later lying against a tree.”

Eventually thirst drove John

Coffey from his hiding place but.
)

the Indians quickly forced him
back without the craved water.
This continued throughout the

When the attack occurred Nip

Hammond fled to the ranch pur-

sued by thirty warriors. He suc-
ceeded in reaching the Coffey
ranchdand tllz;te in the afternoon re-
turned with assistance, ing
to find all of them.deam-
nately all of the cowboys had
escaped, save Dan Armold and La-
.Poleon Lemmons, whose muti-
ated bodies -were given burial.

~-They were only eighteen yesrs of -

age and had run away from their
homes’in Williamson County just
three weeksbefore.. . - ..
The Indians departed with the
entire herd of cattle and all horses

in the remuda save two. A few
months later on Christmas Day,

the Coffeys watched helplessly as -

the Indians rounded up the re-
maining cows and horses and
drove them away. All that Rich
Coffey had worked so hard for
during nine difficult years was
gone. Without a word of self-pity
he set to work to recuperate his
financial losses and while he never
became a wealthy man, he was
able to live his last years in com-
“fort. His strength of character was
demonstrated by the fact that “he
was never despondent over any
reverse that came to him.” “In ev-
ery turn of life, whether fraught
with danger, seasoned with ad-

Zlost butthe twolve/ thousand dol-

14

venture, burd%r:ed witll: sorrow,
or tinged with joy; he neuver-
failed to meet the lights-

shadows as they came.”
In the early y // Ir
tier, Rich Coffey ued it6 do?

some freighting a < ~
With six or sevep! gragons_pulled:.
by teams of six tq G ¥ g {g
made the long/|dangerous trak:
across the open? ';‘5 to-the salt||
lakes in prg?" .\Crane County’
near the Pep 3;3‘.‘@1{&&1}1&
wagons werefldadegsfﬁth salt god,
hauled ‘back; 1o barter with his=
neighbors. The rerréiﬁ@er‘
disposed of as he and<}jis ¥ami)
made their annual pilgtimage
Weatherford, where ghéy cus
marily did the ye g,// shoppir
This trip usually dcfupied fron)),
four to six weeks./ "lﬂ"’ranls had?
a store on Mukewater Creek iy
hich be Tt 50 o Yo ooy
which he later sold to Jo Js-
um, where y':,if could buy “bgg‘q;l
and beans, .with perhaps a litfle?!

Wi

coffee and‘sugar. .. tobaccotand -
canned.:peaches...” Bill Franks"
had a_reputation of “tricking” you'
and often sold a bottle of water
for whiskey. This store was the
beginning of Trickham, Texas.

Rich’ Coffey is said to have

made as many as twenty-four
trips to the'salt lakes near t
cos and one account sta
twenty-two of these tri
"his men buried one g
slain by the Indians.

p"‘ﬁgflz ig' animal was -

.i‘?‘é%ﬂ"?d% feft With no pro-.
ST

Vi
at
’g and set out on the- long, -
1‘ q::afrous ride "across the West"
;Texas p

lains. Since there was'no >

P 2
“place to hide, they kept riding*
" gr}_;_e,n day arrived. \;Eén -

! \weé about twenty-five miles from -

rage 4
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t¥he\ Concho, they saw what ap- -
;%'zaed to be an Indian party in.
!?. 33

)

to stay a rew aays ana wey ac-
cepted the invitation. The Colo-
nel refers to the ranch buildings
at the mouth of the Concho as
“heavily stockaded on all sides.” .

-
vy

was use-les‘s totum bad‘»“
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i dnight; “It was useless-
said Goo ::i to go on. The .

to stop; we
mass lgoked like about twenty In- -
dians and the boys were fright-
ened in the extreme.” ight
had very keen sight and he con-
cluded it was not Indians but the
three cowboys were unconvinced.
Preparations were made for a bat-
tle and Goodnight instructed the
men . carefully as to their plans.
When they finally met the strange

party imagine their surprise to

find that it was Rich Coffey on his
way to the salt lakes with “a wag-
onload of the biggest watermelons
you ‘most ever saw.”” For two or
three hours they sat in the shade
of one of Coffey’s wagons and ate
cold watermelon and long after-
ward Goodnight declared “that
watermelons never tasted as good
_tome as that day.”

Rich Coffey frequently met
with Mexicans from Chihuahua
at the salt lakes and was haulinugl
the load of melons to barter wi
them. However, he failed to make
connections with them on this oc-
casion, so he buried his melons in
the sand, and returned with his
wagons loaded with salt. '

In carly February, 1867, a small
Farty of gold-seekers, under the
eadership of Jacob Schnively and
VWilliam C. Dalrymple, was at-
tacked by Indians in the Concho
country. All of their horses were
captured or .killed, leaving the
party stranded, some wounded
and all without focd. Two of the
Earty presscd on ahead to seek re-
ief at the Tankersley Ranch on
Dove Creek “but when nearing
the ranch they came upon ol
Rich Coffey and a party of men
and wagons enroute to the salt
lakes on the plains where they ex-
pected to procure supplies of salt.”

Uncle Rich generously shared his

supplies with them and thus ren-
dered timely assistance to a group
in dire need. Many a needy trav-

eler, like the members of the ill- -

fated Schnively Expedition,

rienced the senerous hospitaf’ty

of this rugged old Good Samari-
tanof the frontier. . ... -

In 1873 the New York Clipper
ran a story conceminf Rich Cof-
fey as related by Colonel Lewis
Ginger. Col. Ginger-and his Pio-
neer Minstrels stopped at the Cof-
fey Ranch on their way to Fort
Concho. Uncle ,Rich im;ited them

‘Uncle Rich and the

Colonel -
walked up the Colorado River a
short ways late one aftermoon to’
fish for channel cat. They took .
along a demijohn of brandy as
an “anti-snuke-bite remedy.” As
darkness fell and a beautiful moon
arose the channel catfish were bit-
ing nicely. However, the Colonel
was much more interested in loos-
ening Uncle Rich’s tongue in re-
gard to his frontier experiences.
After some sampling of the bran-
dy Uncle Rich began telling his
frontier experiences. He was just
telling of his first encounter with |
the Comanches when an ow! hoot-
ed up the river on the side’they

" were on and was answered by one

on the opposite side. Uncle Rich-
said: “Son, did you hear them?”
The Colonel replied, “Do you
mean the owls?” “Son, them’s no
owls. Theyre Injuns. Let’s ske:
daddle.” The Colonel wanted to
get the fish staked to the bank but
Uncle Rich said, “To H— with the
fish. Come on, well get out
ohere” .- . AN
They set out for the ranch on-
the run. About a quarter of a mile

. from the ranch they had to pass

through an open space where the
moonlight made it almost as Lig
as day. An arrow whizzed
tween Uncle Rich and the Colonel
and they made the final sprint
with a burst of speed, arriving
safely at the ranch house. -
On one occasion Rich Coffey
was giving his corn the last plow-
ing of the gcar The mule he was
driving suddenly caught the smell
of Indians and ran away, leaving
Uncle Rich in the com field un-
aware of the presence of the In-
dians. His good wife saw the
mule running to the house and
caught sight of the Indians. About
this time Uncle Rich discovered

«she presence of the “Indians and

set -out on a“dead run for the'
ranch. As he raced, -pursued by
the Indians, his wife shouted ex-
citedly, “Run, Rich, run!” With a
final burst of speed he reached the
ranch ahead of the Comanches.
When he had regained his breath
sufficiently to speak he said to his
wife, “Sweet, you didn't think
I-would lay down on a race like
that, did you?”

In spite of his love for people
and his big-hearted hospitality,
Rich Coffey was a genuine fron-
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tiersman and wanted plenty of el-
bow-room. The thought of near
neighbors irked him. As. he ex- -,
ressed it, he didn’t want to hear .

Eis neighbor’s rooster crow, espe-
cially to the west of him. He re-
sided thirty miles from Coleman °
and while on his way there discov-—
ered that some nester had moved
in about half way, set up his tent
for living quarters and built stock
pens. Vexed by the’ intrusion,
as he consid it, Uncle Rich-
asked the County Judge what
could be done to have the man
moved off the range. The Judge .
informed him that no legal action.
could be taken and suggested ‘he
should be glad to have a neighbor.
Uncle Ric blingly asserted
that he lﬂ\'ﬂf neighbors but “not
in his front yard.” Sl

Rich Coffey had a keen sense
of humor and loved a good joke._

Texas new-comer in conversa-
tion with Uncle Rich for the first
time commented that it looked
like rain as it had been cloudy fqr
two or three days. “That doesn’t
mean a thing,” Uncle Rich drily
replied, “I have seen it cloudy "for
six months and it didnt rain.

In the early 1890’s interest in oil
was aroused in connection with
the oil discoveries at Brownwood.
An oil promoter met with a group
of Uncle Rich’s neighbors at a
school house, proposing that they
group together and finance a test
well. Uncle Rich was not satisfied
and motioned for his good friend,
Ol Gann, to follow him outside.
After several questions in regard
to the proposals Uncle Rich final-
ly asked, “Ol, how deep does that
feller plan to go?” “Oh, possibly
as much as five or six hundred
feet,” Gann replied “Shucks!
He won't find no oil I've seen
cracks in the ground deeper than
that in dry weather.”

In his early years in the area, he
was called for jury service at
Brownwood, fifty miles away. He
.asked to be excused and the Judge
inquired as to his reason. He re-
plied that he wanted to be with
his wife. The Judge, dissatisfied
with the reply, pushed the inquiry
further as to just why he wanted
to be with his wife. Uncle Rich
replied, “It’s the light of the moon
and we are expecting an Indian
raid. I would just kinda like to be

with my wife when the Indians
come.” The Judge granted his re-

4 Rich Coffey was 5. member of

the first grand jury in Coleman -

County. In his instructions to the
grand jury, the Judge told them
to bill every gun-toter.” After be-

ing in session two or three days-

two newcomers on the grand jury
asked about the “gun-toters” stat-
ing they knew of many such cases.
There was an ominous silence,
since most of the citizens carried
guns at that time. Finally, after
considerable thought, Uncle Rich
was equal to the occasion and

said, “Gentlemen of the jury, I.

make a move that every man on

this jury that has a under his
coat g:yinhis boot gu?come for-

ward and stack-it on the table, .

Here is mine.” This brought forth
ah Jaugh and a count re-
vealed ttie fact that half the grand
jurymen were carryin, . This

settled the issue an ere were.

no bills against “gun-toters™ -

Rich Coffey was one of the first
county commissioners of Coleman

County and for many years paid
taxes in that County, only to -
ly discover that he ‘actually resid-

in Concho County. A small-

corner of Concho County crosses
the Colorado River and takes in
a small triangle of land.. Uncle
Rich actually lived about a hun-
dred yards west of the Coleman
County line and about a mile
south of the Runnels County line:

Rich Coffey was fifty years of

age when he petitioned Brown-

wood Lodge No. 279 for the Ma- -

sonic Degrees. The original

etition is still preserved in the
Eodge records and states that he
had resided on the frontier of Tex-
as for eighteen years. The village
of Brownwood was just beginning
to grow, after existing more than
a dozen years and moving three
times with only a small store, a
blacksmith shop and an old
weather-beaten "log courthouse.
Brownwood Lodge met in the sec-
ond story of the courthouse, gain-
ing access to the Lodge room by
means of a crude ladger.

Rich Coffey received the First
Degree on February 14, 1874, his
fifty-first birthday. He was passed

- as a Fellowcraft on April 11th and

raised to the Sublime Degree of

. a Master Mason on May 9th of the

same year. Although he resided

Page 6
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fifty miles from Brownwood, he
was a regular attendant at the
Lodge meetings. He often arrived
early and customarily remained
over for two or three days tp visit
with the Brethren.

In 1878 Rich Coffey, along with
seven other Master Masons of
Brownwood Ledge, became char-
ter members of Coleman Lodge
No. 498. Uncle Rich was a mem-
ber of the committee that secured
the first permanent hall for the
Lodge meetings. In 1885 he be-
came a charter member of Paint
Rock Lodge No. 613, where he
held membership until his death.
His picture is on display in the
Paint Rock Lodge room. -

In 1881 Uncle Rich started

‘2 substantial stone house on a

bluff overlooking the ‘confluence
of the Concho and the Colorado
Rivers. The lumber was hauled
from Waco with the exception of

the last load, which was hauled .

A crossing on the Colorado Riv
er was often referred to as the
Coffey Crossing and for 4 number

of years a small postoffice serving-
that area was officially nnmeg
Rich Coffee (sic), Texas. . . .
Rich Coffey and his family are
representative of the courageous
pioneers who opened up the vast
areas of West Texas to ent
settlement. The Coffey family
consisted of three sons and three.
daughters. Penola, the oldest
child, born July 15, 1850, married
el o T, Tt
aughter, en, il 29,
1852, married Anderson gordon.
The youngest daughter and ffth
ild, Belle, was born July 10,
860 and married Bill McAulgy.»

The three sons were large men-
physically and expert cowmen. -
John Wright Coffey, born June 21,
1858, resided in Kimble Cow
from 1886 until his death in 1 )

He was a Master Mason of.Jun“o:
tion City Lodge No. 548. Bill Cof-
fey, born July 8, 1858, was an ex-
})ert roper and a very strong inan.
t is said that he could grasp
a horseshoe in his hands and bend
it straight! In roping a horse his
thumb and part of two fingers
were torm off. Upon his return
home, Uncle Rich, deeply moved,
said, “Son, you never can be a Ma-
son now.”. Coe :

Fogg Coffey, the youngest son,
was Egm Maelych 6, 1863, and be-
came a famous cowman of Texas,
noted for his clowning and rough
humor. The extreme crudities and
roughness of Fogg Coffey have
doubtless contributed to the
blurred caricature that so many
have of Rich Coffey.

The legend of Rich Coffey has
"even gone into fiction and a recent
western story, with a setting in the
Concho country, uses Rich Coffey
as a_minor character. (Born of
the Sun, by John H. Culp, pub-
lished in 1859 by Ace Books, Inc.)

-Perhaps no better tribute can
be paid this brave old frontiers-
man than to use the words of one
of the early Texans, Creed Tay-
lor, who says of him: “I often met
Mr. Coffey alénF the border and
gladly offer this humble tribute to
his memory. He was one of the

bravest of the brave and his hos- - -

pitality was of that old *Pexas qual-
ity which knew no bounds.” He

was a devoted Freemason and a

worthy member of the Baptist
Church for many years prior to his
death, which occurred at his home
in Concho County, Feb. 7, 1897.”
The following day he was given
a Masonic burial at Paint Rock.
His Brethren paid tribute to him
in a memorable Resolution of Re-
spect, stating that in the dropping

of his name from the roll of Paint .

Rock Lodge No. 613 it symbolized
“a part of its history...The In-
dian and Buffalo have gone to the
‘happy hunting grounds’; and the
lowing of the herds are in their
stead. A ci%r is naw flourishin

where once he hunted game an

in all these changes of nearly half
a century, he remained the same,
with the originalia/ born in him,
with the wit and humor from
a good heart and genial disposi-

Ky

tion—'A sturdy pioncer and an

honored landmark’ He was like
the rugged oak braving the fury
of a thousand storms, but Time
the grim destroyer which -

no living thing touched him and
he fell. We have feasted at his ta-
ble and listened with willing ears
to rich and varied stories of his
life. We have hailed him, within
the portals wherein dwell peace

and harmony. In ‘his grave we -

cast the Evergreén and we shall -
cherish the memory of one who

loved his fellow men.™

Page 7
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Walter Gann, author of The
Tread of the Longhorn and many
other western writings, grew up
as a neighbor of the Coffeys. He
recalls that a framed certificate on

the mantel piece over the fireplace

of the Coffey home proclaimed
the fact that Mrs. Sallie Coffey
was the widow of a Master Ma-
son. Mrs. Coffey, who was born
December 22, 1825, in Decatur

County, Geor?ia, ‘died ' June- 4,

1910. Regretfully this paper must
close with the sad announcement
that the remains of those noble pi-
oneers, Richard and Sallie Coffey,
rest in unmarked graves at Paint
Rock, Texas. Lot T

T gt g Vo I o g

i d permission. Th ercus source
:it:t;:asl;:yave be;n :;mcd.e) e

Page 8
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Sorry about the quality of the Picture. It is a Xerox copy of a
Xerox copy. The original hangs in the Masonic Lodge, in Paint
Rock, Texas. (Gene Brewington)
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Source: Into The Setting Sun, History of Coleman County, Texas, by
Beatrice Grady Gray, c. 1951, Pages 30-31

Rich Coffce

Down in the southwestern part of the county Rich
Cofiee seitled in 1862, on Elm Creck. With Mr. Coffee
from Parker County, came also Bob and Henry Mecks, Bob
Guest, Uncle Biliy Gordon, and Mack McCarty. A few
vears later they moved on into the valley of the Concho and
established ranch headquarters near its junction with the
Colorado. There they built a picket fort, all the houses
were joined together and 21l enclosed by pickets made
from the poles they cut from the river bottom. Many
stories are {old by ithe Rangers of the aid they never failed
to receive from “Uncle Rich” when in trouble. Mr. Coffee
had to keep enough men on the ranch at all times to guard
the stock and houses. Mr. Coffee died in 1897, but his son,
Fogg Cofice, still lives on the old ranch'near the mouth of
the Concko, He gives a few outstanding events in- the
carly life of his father in Coleman Countys B

He tclls how they had to go té theé salt wells of West
Texas to get salt for his cattle and made twenty-one trips
over the trackless desert a distance of at least two hundred
reiles with ox teams and hicavy wagons. On almost every
wrip serme man of the party was killed by Indians and had
0 he buried in the desert sand.

Mrs. Coffee iold how she remembered hearing Aunt
Sallis, mother oi Fogg, tell about how they had to be al-
ways on the lookout for Indians, She said that once when
aer husband had to be away for a few days she kept a pot
‘of soap boiling for three days ready to throw on the In-
dians if they came.

In 1875 the Indians killed Burl Brown, who lived on the
head of Elm Crcek. In 1871, Mr. Coffee lost 1020 head of
catile and 54 saddle horses, practically his entire herd, in
an all day fight with the Indians. The herd was all round-
ed up and started to market. John, an older son, was in
chargze. They rcached the crossing on the river about
sunrise. (This river crossing is now known as the old
“Trapp Crossing.” The foundation of a building which was -
once the Trapp saloon is still there. Over the hill about a
mile is the “Boot Hill Cemetery” where men who died with
their boots on’” were bhuried. Seventy-five men were
“planted” there during the days when the saloon was
flourishing on the old cattle irail), and had just gotten the
cattle strung cut to cross when up jumped a large band of
Indians from the other side of the river and headed
straight into them, yelling and shooting. Two of the cow-
boys, Napolcon Lemons and Dan Arnold from Bluffton,
were killed. John Coffee jumped off his horse and ran and
hid under a bluff in the bank and was kept there nearly all
day. Finally, late in the afternoon, he managed to get up
enough courage to comc out and go on home. He met
some of his family out hunting for him. The Indians got
entirely away with the herd.
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Source: San Angelo Standard Times newspaper, San angelo, TXL.

May 27, 1973. .
Copied by: Gene Brewington, 4728 NW 5Y Terr., Oklahoma City, OK.

RICH COFFEY HARKER DEDICATED
Area iMasons Attend Ceremonies )
By: Louise Flanagan, Standard-Times Special Jorrespondent

PAINT ROCK ~-- Saturday afternoon, a group of area liasons umet
with descendents of the pioneer Coffey family here, and others
to dedicate the tombstone marking the grave of Rich Cofifey, an
early-day Mason., The crowd was estimated at 160-180.

Douglas Powell, senior warden, introduced the grand master of
the Grand Lodge of Texas, Duncan Howard, who was in charge of
the program, After the invocation, by the Rev. D. D. Tidwell,
Howard said the iMasons had gathered to pay tribute to the
first white settler of Concho County. ’ )

He then introduced Bishop Powell,-a candidate for the master
llason degree and great-great-grandson of Rich Coffey, and
other Coffey descendents including Mr. and irs. sskell Powell,
andfher mother, widow of John B, Coffey, grandson of Rich
Coffey.

Other descendents were iirs. Ted Bingham of winters, albert
Whetstone of iidland, Charlie R, Walker of PFredericksburg,
Clabe iwalker of Junction, Hollon ialker of Harper, Charlie RX.
Coffey and his son, Chuck Coffey, both of ilarlin, Emery
Walker of Junction, lirs. iiyrtle wWeaver of Junction, iirs.
Johnny Graham of Kerrville, and sirs. J, P, Thornton of
Lafayette, La., who leared her connection with the pioneer
through Dr. Tidwell,

After the introduction, Thomas C., Yantis, grand junior warden
of the State Lodge of Texas read the resolution formed by the
Paint Rock lodge, which lauded Coffey for being a sturdy
pioneer,

Frank Coker, senior deacon of Paint Rock, unveiled the tomb-
stone, after which ilrs. Thornton thanked the ilasons on venalf
of the Coffey family for the tombstone and the dedication.

After the dedication, Bishop Powell was to receive his master
wason degree in a ceremony at the Coffey Ranch, all that is
now left of Rich Coffey's original noldings, on the vanks of
the Colorado River at the Coleman-Concho county line. iHe is
the son of Ballinger Police chief and wrs. sskell Powell.

Saturday was a sort of convention day for the region's
Ilasons, beginning with a regional conference in the morning
for uasonic officers from lucal lodges in several surrounding
districts at the Suez Temple in San angelo,

The ceremony at Paint Rock followed 2 noon luncheon a: Lowake,
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The IMasons had the idea to vut a marker on Cofiey's grave
after a Texas ilasonic publication published a story about
his pioneering activities and his iasonic membership,,
reporting that the grave was unmarked.

Coffey was born TFeb. 14, 1823, in Georgia. He was married
there in 1849 to "aunt Sallie" and in 1855, brought nis wife
and two dauwghters to Parker County, where his eldest son,
John Wright Coffey was born.

5ishop Powell said his commitment to bpecoming a master Liason
was spurred by reading of his ancestor. He read that Rich
Coffey was one of the first settlers in Runnels County when
he and 2 number of cowboys moved to sSlm Creek in 1862 and
built Pickeiville, now the site of a historical marker, The
place was so named because all the houses were joined to-
gether and enclosed by pickets made with poles cut from the
river bottom. ’

From 1862 on, Coffey and his associates were instrumental in
bringing civilization to the area-now consisting of  runnels,
Coleman, Brown and Concho counties., Indian raids were
numerous, esvecially in the "light of the moon," a time the
Comanches chose for pillazging. aunt Sallie kept a huge pot
of voiling lye soap to greet the Indians when they called
without invitation.

"Uncle Rich's" customary greeting to his guests was "Get
down and go to staying." ill were welcomed at his hone,
stories say, even though he disliked having close neighbors.
On one occasion sone settlers chose to make their home about
20 miles from his Concho Jounty home and Uncle Rich felt they
had trespassed oy moving into anis "backyard."

In aadition to ranching, nis principal occupation aiter ov-
ing to Concho County, ne had a side ovusiness as a freignter.
ile made 24 trips to Salt Lakes in Jrane county for salt for
versonal use and for barter. On 22 of tnese trips, at least
one of his men was killed by Indians, ~fart of his wares were
watermelons, which ne traded to friendly Indians., OUnce ae
fed the wetermelons to members of the Goodnight and _oving
cattle drive party.

de attempted 2 cattle drive nimself and lost all nis cattle
and a good many of his aorses, all the products of nine years
labor, to the Indians. In addition, two of nis cowboys, both
18 years of age, were killed and mutilated by the Indians.
But ne vegan again and vecame quite prosperous although never
wealthy,

ile assured one associate that there was no oil in the country
pecause he nad seen cracks in the ground at least 600 feet
deep during droughts and found none.

He became a ..ason in Brownwood at the age of 50, earning three
degrees in as many montns. «altaousn he liveda 50 miles from
3rownviood, ne regularly atiended the Brownwood meetings. In
1673 ne and seven otner master :uasons from that lodge vecame
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charter members of Coleman Lodge 496 and later he became a

charter member of Paint Rock Lodge 613, 2 membership he
neld until his death.

————— S
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From: Frontier Times, Bandera, lexas, September 1¢2¢, Page 15, Page 14

RICH COFFEY, Early Day Ranchman
Written for Frontier Times by Col. Lewis Ginger, Los Angeles, Calif,

In 1873, the New York Clipper had a story the Lew Ginger Minstrels
at_Fort Concho, in Western Texas, one of the military posts forming
a line from Western Nebraska through Kansas, the Indian Territory
(now Oklashoma), and through Texas to the Rio Grande, guarding the
frontier settlements from the hostile Indians, in which it was
estimated there was in the country adjacent to those posts over
one hundered and fifty thousand warriors of the Cheyenne, Kiowas,
Apaches, Comanches, Araphoes, and other less prominent tribes.

As I am the man who organized the Pioneer Minstrels which made the
tour of the posts playing to the soldiers over half a century ago,
I will relate an incident of the remarkable trip. On our way to
Fort Concho, which was a hundred and fifty miles beyond any civili-
zation, we stopped at the Coffey Ranch, at the mouth of the Concho,
where it entered the Rio Colorado, This was a cattle ranch which
Richard Coffey, commonly known as "Uncle Rich", and four or five
of his stalwart sons started several years before our advent into
the country. They had many a brush with the savages, but always
beat them off, as the ranch buildings were heavily stockaded on
all sides, The Colorado on both sides was heavily wooded and
abounded in game, such as deer, wild turkey, &nd occasionally
panther and black bear., Uncle Rich inv;ted us to stay a few days
at the ranch and hunt and fish, which we were glad to do and we
enjoyed it immensely.

Uncle Rich and I became great friends. One evening he said: "Son,
sposen we take our fishing tackle and go up the river a little ways,
where I know a fine place for channel cat. They bite fine when it's
moonlight." TFrom our supply of "anti-snake bite remedy," i. e. a
demijohn of brandy, I took a half pint bottle and Uncle Rich cut
from fresh beef several pieces to use as bait, About eight
o'clock we started uy the river, and had walked a half mile when
Uncle Rich said, "Here Son, is a fine deep hole where we can git
all we want in no time." Before commencing operations, Uncle
Rich took a good pull from the bottle, then fixing the poles and
lines and baiting the hooks, it was nrot long before we were land-
ing some fine channel catfish. I was anxious to hear Uncle Rich
tell of some of nis skirmishes with the red men, and so prevailed
upon him to sample the brandy again, which he did. He told me of
his starting the ranch with a few hundred cattle, and with the
aid of his sons, the herd soon doubled in numbers. He was in the
midst of telling me of his first encounter with a raiding band of
Comanches, when he stopped suddenly and listened. An owl hooted
some little distance up the river on the same side we were on.

It was answered by another on the opposite side. Unecle Rich
said, "Son, did you hear them?" I said, "Do you mean the owls?"
"Son, them's no owls. They're Injuns., Let's skedaddle." We

had quite a string of fish staked to the bamk and I said that I
would get the fish., He said, "To H-—-- with the fish., Come on,
we'll get out of here.

By this time there were more hoots on both sides of the river,
but none below us on our side, but below on the ogposite side we
heard one or two. It was a bright moonlight night and we were
making good time for the ranch, with Uncle Rich in the lead.
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About a quarter of a mile from the ramch we had to run through
an open space where there were no trees and the moon made it

as light almost as day., The river here was not very wide and an
arrow came whizzing through between Uncle Rich and I, and I saw
it quiver in a tree within a few feet of us,

We soon reached the ranch and everybody got ready to give the
redskins a reception., It was not long before some thirty Indians
appeared at the mouth of the Concho on the opposite side of the
Colorado from the ranch. They made no hostile demonstrations,
but danced and shouted for a little while, then disappeared.

Uncle Rich said that it was only 2 little thieving party out
for stealing horses. "All the sanme," said he, "if +they had
cotched us son, they would have made a nice bonfire to roast
you and me in,*"

Uncle Rich Coffey was a typical western ranchman, honest and
generous and was well known throughout that country. There may
be one or more of his splendid sons yeét living; though he would
be in his eighties by now. If so and‘he should see this story,
I wish he would write to me. Iy address is, Col. Lewis Ginger,
Keswick Hotel, 312 South Flower St., Los Angeles, Calif,

Copied, iarch 1978, by Gene Brewington, 4728 Nw 59 Terr., Oklahoma
City, OK 73122
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Compiled by Hazie Davis Le TFevre

PAINT ROCK CEMETERY

COFFEY,; W,A. (m. Miss Mary M,
Haley, who died suddenly)
b, 7-8-1858
d. 2-12-1528, son of Rich & Sallie
Coilfey. "Buried beside his wife
; in P.R. cemetery,!!
 COFFEY, Mrs, W.A,
‘ "Nee Mary Haley
b.
d. Prior to 1928
‘COFFEY, 'Adah, inf. dau of W,A,
& MM, Colffey .
b. 10-28-1884 (tombstone) “ ‘e R
d, 11-19-1885 .
COFFEY, Richard

b 1822, Ga.--see p, 37
this book. )
d. 1897 (Picture, with dates,

hangs in P.R. Masonic Hall--
charter mem.) Came to County
in 1862 from Parker Cao., Tex..
-COFFEY, Mrs, Rich
nee Sar‘ah Greathouse
b. 1827 (see census) in Ga,
d, buried at P,R. cem;
info., Mrs, Fogg coffey, Sterling
City, Tex. in 1957 when inter-
viewed, '
LITTLEFIELD, Mrs, Edgar
nee Penny Coifey, dau. of W,A,
‘& Mary Haley Colfey
be  eceee—o
d. abt,” 1925, (Funeral
altended by her father, W, A,
Coltey, and aged gr*andmotf':er',
Mrs, Hall,

Page 16
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The Millard Story
1 was glad to see the reproductiqn of
Fred Millard’s memoirs in the Winter
1971 iasue of OLD WEST. I missed the
booklet whenr Mr. Hunter published it.
I knew Fred Millard slightly. I saw him
a few times around Eden, along about

1900 and 1901 when we were driving -

cattle back and forth. I also rode with
him in a caboose on a cattle train one
night in 1904.

We had loaded our last shipment of
cattle for grazing in the Osage Nation
at Coleman [Texas] on the Santa Fe.
Fred had loaded a string of cattle at
Brady. His unloading point was at Ponca
City on the Santa Fe and his cattle were
switched to the Santa Fe at Brownwaood.
The two shipments were joined at Brown-
wood. It was before the Santa Fe ac-
quired ownership of the Frisco between
Fort Worth and Brady and we had to

. go all the way around through Temple,

-

We parted in Fort Worth next morning
as our unloading point was on the
M K & T at Nelogany near Pawhuska.

Millard told me about the injury he
got in the railroad yard in Kansas. He
also told me something that he did not
tell in his memoirs. He sued the railroad
company and was awarded a verdict
of a thousand some-odd dollars. He said
the jury consisted of poverty-stricken
farmers mostly, who seemed to think that
a thousand dollars was an adequate com-
pensation for a person who had to go
through life a cripple. He had a decided

. imp at that time and, of course, he
never recovered. I think that was the
. last time [ ever saw him.

I met Jim Rose at the Cattleman’s
Convention in El Paso in 1914. He told
me a distressing story about himself. He
said every dollar he had in the world was
invested in two trairloads of cattle which
were on their way to the border. Pancho
Villa stopped the trains and took the
rolling stock to fnelp move his army.
The cattle were unloaded on the Hearst
Ranch—Phoebe Hearst's. Mrs. Hearst
put her men to herding them, but one

. gang of bandits and another would come
along and take what they wanted of
them. Finally they all disappeared.

The “Tonk"” Smith Fred spoke of was

...9 .Tonkaway Smith—so named because he

lived with the Tonkaway Indian tribe
for a number of years. I sold Smith a
bunch of about a hundred two-year-oid
steers in Coleman County in 1910. He
shipped them to Ponca City which by that
time was Oklahoma instead of the Osage
Nation in Indian Territory. Mr. Smith
had been a member of Mosby’s Brigade
in Jeb Stuart’s Cavalry during the Civil
War. It was after the war that he lived
with the Tonkaways.

There is another incident which is
trivial in a way, but still it might be
worth telling. The Rich Coffev famil
lived across the Colorado from the mouth
of the Concho about a half mile below
it. P Coffev told me that Fred Mil-
lard and .anotner man whose name I
have forgotten were at the Rich Coffey
home the night floodwasiers of the Con-
cho washed away the town of Ben Fick-
lin in 1882, cresting at the junction of
the Colorado.

s e g

 house where

A tenant farmer wag living in the

the Coffey family first

lived while they constructed ‘the larger

{

{

b ol abe

stone building some two hundred yards
above c¢n considerably higher ground.
During the middle of the night the
tenant, whose wife was critically ill, woke
the Coffey family saying that the water
from the river was up to his front porch
and he wanted help to get his wife to
safety. The water was rising rapidly.

Fogg and his brother Bill and Fred
Millard and the other man ran outside
in their night clothing—not even taking
time to pull on their boots. There was a
hack sitting in front of the Coffey house.
They threw the seats out of tﬁe hack
and ran it down to the tenant house by
hand and backed it up to the front porch.
Water was running into the house by
that time. Each of the four men picked
up the mattress at each corner and car-
ried it outside with the woman and bed
clothing still on it. By the time they got
her into the hack the water twas up to.
the hack bed. The current was so swift
they had trouble standing in it. They-
pulled the hack to high ground dnd car-
ried the woman and hér bed into the
Coffey house. In another, hour the house
from which they had moved her was
gone. While they saved her from drown-
ing, they could not save her life—she
died the next day from the illness.

Something else which might be of in-
terest—in his paper Fred Millard men-
tioned Bill McCauley. I think the name
was McAuley—which is of little differ-
ence. Bill McAuley married one of Rich
Coffev’s daughiere—Fe Fandler gmitss
iew cattle in and around Coleman and
Concho Counties. If I ever knew what
became of him, I have forgotten. I never
knew him myself but I niever heard my
dad or anyone else say anything bad
about him. I can’t say as much for some
of the men he worked and had around
him. Either in the late eighties or early
nineties, he drove a string of cattle to
the Osage Nation. He took some of those
Concho County boys with him, including
Fogg Coffev, Bob Littlefield, Buck Cur-
rie and Charlie Pierce. Fogg is the only
one that I knew personmg.&but when a
fellow knew Fogg, he knew about every-
thing—everything, that is, that Fogg
cared to tell. What he didn't want to
tell—he didn't.

Fogg got into a fight one night in a

dive in Ponca City and they almost killed
him. He could whip any two or three of
them, but he said that enough of them
got around and on top of him until “they
smothered me down.” One cracked him
over the head with a Winchester barrel
which cooled him off for quite a spell.
When he finally came t6 and was getting
up, one of them =aid, “Hit that s-o-b—
he's comin’ alive again!”"—and someone
hit him. Foegg said the next time he came
to he just lay there until he got a chance
to crawl out the door to his horse and
get away. If Bob Littlefield ever got
mixed up in anything, Fogg didn't tell
me about it. Knowing his reputation like
I do—I'll bet if there was ever any-
thing going on and he knew about it,
ne got there too.

Page 17
Charlie Pierce joined up with the Bill

"Doolin gang of train and bank robbers

-and was killed in a fight with the U.S.

marshals. He belonged to 2 re§pectable
family in Concho County and little was
said about how he met his death. If his
family knew, they were closgmouthed
about it and few, if any, questions were
asked. It wasn't until the time that I
sold the bunch of steers to ankaway
Smith that any of the old-timers in Texas
who had known Charlie Pierce learned
the details.

Buck Currie was a decided hunchback.
He walked and rode all humpegl over.
He stole a bunch of Indian ponies and
took off for Texas with them. Fogz
learned that the marshals were ready
to follow his trail. He beat the marshgls
to Currie and made him turn the ponies
loose before the marshals caught him
with them. The marshals recoveged the
ponies but that was all. Fogg said that
Buck Currie was the easiest man to fol-
low that he ever saw. He said every man,
woman and child along the trail remem-
bered seeing a humpback man dr_mng
a bunch of.paint horses. Currie continued
on to Texas. He didn't exactly s}eal
another horse on the way—he just
swapped the tired one he was riding
for a fresh one without the owner's
knowledge. He rode that horse all the
way into Paint Rock.—Walter Gann,

31662 Scenic Drive, South Laguna, Cali-
) fornia 92677
\'0

Old West

Summer, 1972

FAGE &7
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From: Frontier Times, November 1934, printed Bandera, TX Page 18
Copied 1977, by: Gene Brewington, 4728 NW 59 Terr. Oklahoma City, OK

The Passing of John Wright Coffey
By Lirs. A, T. Whetstone, Noxville, Texas

As the mid-day sun wended its way toward the western horizon
on Thursday, August 30, 1934, the spirit of John wright Coffey,
after waiting at the gates for three weeks for the Master's
summnons to the summerland, took its flight to that mansion

not made with hands, and was welcomed with that heaven be-
Jeweled sentence, "vell done good and faithful servant."

John Coffey was born in Granbury, Hood county, Texas, June 21,
1856, the son of Rich Coffey and Sallie Greathouse Coffey. He
came of a distinguished family and was himself distinguished.
He came to Concho county with his parents when a small child.
There his father established the famous Rich Coffey Ranch
where John grew to young manhood, On December 31, 1874 at the
age of 18 years, he was married to Miss lMary Brown. Seven
children were born to tuhis union, five of whom survive. They
are Sam Coffey of Alpine, Charlie Coffey of Dripping Springs,
Jesse Coffey of Little Devil's River, irs Nethan Walker of
London, Ikrs, D. H. Whetstone of Noxville, all of whom were
present at his bedside when he passed away. One daughter, lirs.
Jegse Walker, died in 1919, His wife also died in 1919 and a
son, Walter, died in 1931, He is survived by one brother, Fog
Coffey of Leaday.

Mr. Coffey came to Kimble county in 1886 and settled on Little
Devil's River where he lived until his death. 4all his life was
spent on the western frontier and he experienced those hard
conditions as they existed during those early days, participated
in the grim contests of the wilderness, On November 30, 1933
he was married to Miss Libbie Rush of London. Although living
only a short time in our nidst her beautiful character and
kindly disposition has endeared her to all with whom she has
come in contact., It was she who through weary days and sleep-—
less nights bent above his couch and ministered to his every
want as his life ebbed slowly away. She, whose life was a
benediction in his declining days.

Mr. Coffey was laid to rest with impressive ceremonies in the
family plot at 0ld Noxville cemetery, August 31, 1934, and was
followed to the grave by a very large cortege, including many
ranchmen and friends from distant places. Religious services
at the grave were conducted by Rev, Lewis Pearl of London, who
igs a life-long friend of the Coffey family and under whose
preaching Mr. Coffey was converted many years ago. As emotion
dimmed his eyes and caused his voice to break he delivered a
touching eulogy to the life and character of the deceased.
+hen Rev. Mr. Pearl concluded his remarks, Judge i/eaver H.
Baeker, of Junction as spokesman for the liasonic Lodge of which
Mr. Coffey was an honored member, in his masterful way pro-
nounced a wonderful panegyric after which the Masons concluded
with their bveautiful and sublime ceremony and paid their last
respects to their comrade and brother and we took our leave
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of one of the noblest and kindliest men of the Texas
frontier. The pallbearers were six grandsons: John Van
Coffey, Simon Walker, Lester Coffey, Clabe Walker, Albert
Whetstone and Charlie Coffey.

John Coffey was as simple and unaffected as a child; he was
the poor man's friend and the humble man's associate and little
children loved him; he wronged no man; he coveted no man's
riches; he envied no man's success., He walked through his
seventy-eight years without guile, the broad and open highway
of a noble, generous and useful life, and we are all richer
and happier and better for having known him, His life was a
revelation of the triumph of a clean and noble spirit over
the common doom of death., Men of his character and attain-
ments, abounding love, and the charity that would cover a
multitude of sins; men who scatter sunshine along their ways
and live for others rather than self; . men who are examples
of that radiant happiness which comes from doing good, and
which shines through the windows of their souls; men who can
be cheerful under all circumstances, and render their cneer-
fulness contagious; such men are far too few in this mater-
ialistic world. Iir., Coffey radiated sunshine wherever he
appeared. He was active in all matters of public interest,
He was in many Indian skirmishes, waged war on all dis-
reputable characters, was generally elected to command any
expedition against Indians and outlaws, hence his title as
Colonel Coffey., He was severely wounded in a battle with
Indians near Paint Rock while attempting to recover stolen
stock and thereafter walked with a limp, iir. Coffey rarely
discussed his activities in battling outlaws and Indians but
had a vast store of anecdotes and information about events of
early days,

A8 rugged as the life that the man led is nis wilderness grave
that marks his crumbling bones, and as enduring as eternity is
the excmple he left to his fellowmen,
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Source: Frontier Times, November 1929, Page 86,

Copied by: Gene Brewington, 4728 NW 59 Terr., Oklahoma City, OK
Transcribed from a very poor {erox copy, obtained Texas State
Library, Austin, Texas, in 1978.

FOGG COFFEY, CLOWN OF WEST TEXAS COW CALIPS
by: Sam Ashburn in San Angelo Times

What Paul Bunyan is to the lumber camps of the northwest; what
Carl Cromwell is to the o0il fields of wWest Texas; what the
works of Shakespeare are to the teachers of English literature;
that is what Fogg Coffey is to the fun making of the cow camps
of West Texas and to the citizens that live up and down the
Conchos in these parts.

Fogg is still living but so much has been said of him that he
has been expanded into a myth, something without form or flesh.
It required him many years and many trips to Ballinger, Paint
Rock and other towns to build up his collection of interesting
anecdotes of this typical free hearted, breezy westerner, who
loved fun, horses and his fellow man. -

When he first ceme to this section, it was a raw land, with
hiding Indians waiting for an unwary move by the incoming
whites, He killed no Indians and is glad of it, because he
wants no sucnh memories, There are 0o nreny recollections of
things enjoyable in the business of winning a new land to the
sweet uses of prosperity. He chased many Indians but was
always in the lead.

Fogg is the way he signs his checks and his voice has the
quality, too, of the fog horn. It is a name and a nicknanme,
too, and by it he is kmown all over the cow country.

"Do you know Fogg Coffey," one asks and the answer comes back,
"Sure, everybody knows him, there he is over there." One
looks and there is Noah Beery's double and how he kept out of
the movies is answered only when it becomes known that the
movies have never seen this giant man, six feet plus, and
weignt 250, He wears a S3tetson hat, with a peak top, the
front side crusned in about deep enough to permit the sleeping
of a kitten there. He has lived on the "river" for 60 years
and his fun making has kept the whole country shnaking. Fogg
is genial, a lover of conversation and the association of his
fellow man, The side of the car creaks when he sits down and
begins to roll a cigarette of canned tobacco.

Some one had told of the exploits of this hardy son of the
west, He used to rope wild mules and horses tying the rope
around his body as the wild ones thundered down the hill.

He toosed the loop, caught them and then hung on -- he had to.
He took no chances of failing -- he risked his own life
rather than fail. "Well I had to catch them," he says

"we needed them. The Indians stole the tame horses and we
nad to use the wild ones."

Page 20
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Fogg was born in Parker county in 1863 but at the age of three
months came with his father, Rich Coffey, to the Concho river
at Leaday, and there he has been since lé69. He used to work
for the 0., H. Triangle folks wnen Coggins and Parks of Brown-
wood owned it, and branded from 10,000 to 13,000 head of cattle
a year., Now he has 1,000 acres of land, 150 in cultivation as
well as some sheep and cattle, His father had cattle and
horses,

"Nope, I ain't ever got rich, but I've had a good time," says
Fogsz.

It is hard to talk to Fogg in a gathering for there are a
hundred people that want to cnat with him, This yarn developed
while Fogg listened.

"You remember that time, Fogg, that you were in Paint rock
and some fellow got hold of your horses bridle and started to
lead you away to the courthouse as a witness. -And you just
slipped the bridle off the horse and left it in the hands of
the law and rode your horse home without ‘she bridle."

"Yea, I remember that, that was shore a fine horse. e don't
have many good horses any more., That horse could do anything
that any horse in the world could do and everything taat
numans do except talk and ativend preaching."

Fogz felt that he was entitled to talk about the other boys
a minute and told of the incident when Bush Still while
workinz cattle fell with the horse, the horse breaking his
neck, "That horse's name was Pack and Bush, damn but he was

a good one, sat down and cried -—- it was the first time I had
seen him cry. DSush was a real cowhand, %00, his horse was
never tired -- he was a cowman wno was always ready to go."

Togz doesn't come to town very much but there was a plenty in
his younger life to make the younger generation at this good
natured masterly showman. There was one incident that he
laughs at now but then it was deadly serious. One June 1,
1371, the Coffeys lost 1020 head of cattle and 54 saddle
horses to the Indians, oJnce Fogg, riding a mule in the
morning after some horses, saw more Indians, who began to
snoot at him while he ran the twelve year old mule at top
speed, the horses in front. "They shot at me twice, but
missed me. That was the fastest mule that I ever saw, vhen
I got to the house, I thought my father would ve tiiere to
help me but he was chesing anrcther wvunch of Indians. Unce
two boys with our herd of catile were killed by the Indians
and my orother was shot, but it didn't hurt him —— they just
"zut" shot nim and mede him run faster.

Fog was about 12 years old when the chase occured. Ie said,
nI have chased a lot of Indians but I was always in the lead.

- 3ut I nave never neard anybody noller like a bunch of themn.

ind that mule that saved my life, he never worked any more.

“e just let him loaf around until he died of old age. =ne
sad & gotched ear and when he ran he pointed this e&r in the
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direction we were travelling and leveled his tail out.
There were five Indians in the group that chased me that
norning."

Fogg then got to telking about horses, and he warmed up and
put his arm around a friend as he got on the subject., He
began: "You boys all remember old Figure 3, don't you, that
1little 300 pound horse. I'm telling you he would have been
a tough one for a greener to ride."

Jack Stubblefield, prosperous rancher of Ballinger joined
the group with a "Hello, Fogg" and Fogg said: "Glad you
joined us, for these boys around here are telling this
paper feller a lot of lies about me.,"

lir. Stubblefield told about 2 horse he once owned, Once a
man borrowed this horse to work some mules., He rode him for
a few minutes but got down and led him after the horse began
to do some real cow work with the mules. That -horse was
named Brownie, -

Then the two men walked up with the story about the two
brothers who found a saloon in Paint Rock crowded and to
gain entrance to the bar threw a handful of cartridges in
the stove, i/then the crowd came back in one of the brothers
was drinking and the other acting as bartender.

There was another tale, too, of some brothers who after a
good day in town left for home, part of them in a wagon and
part horseback. "Let's play Indian," said one, and the
olderbrother dropped back a mile and chased them home,
shooting at them with a thirty-thirty. No one was hurt but
there was only three wheels on the wagon when it arrived.

There was a tale, too, oi the officers who failed to arrest
a man he wanted for a misdemeanor when the man walked into
the middle of a pond and sat down. The officer refused to
follow,

rogz then inquired of a friend to learn that the friend
looks like a grasshopper sitting up in a corner of the
fence; "there's nothing to nim but running gear."
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8y: JoAnn F. Hatch, P.O. Box 1123, Pinedale, AZ 85934, c. 1992.

COFFEE FAMILY NOTES

Time has not permitted a thorough or lengthy search on this family which
married into the Beddoe family, but we will give a summary here of our findings
so far as they go, in hopes jt might be helpful to some future researcher of

the Coffee family.

On June 10, 1841 Elizabeth Coffee marrieq Joseph Warren Beddoe in Chatooqa
County Georgia. On the 1850 U.S. census of Chattooga- County, Elizabeth Coffee
Beddoe, along with her two sons who were 8 and -5 years old were Tiving with the
family of William B. Coffee and his wife belia.' Joseph Warren Beddoe did not
appear on this census. The birthplace of Elizabeth and her two sons is given

as Georgia.

Other records in gngggggggfgoungkﬁeorgia show that on 5 October 1848
Richardson Coffee and Sarahﬁﬁrgathgu;erwerermarrigdftherg, We believe this
Richardson Coffee, who later appears in Texas with the Beddoes, was a brother
of Elizabeth Coffee Beddoe. Richardson Coffee and Elizabeth Coffee Beddoe

are of an age to be brother and sister, she is 24 and he 28 in the 1850 census.
The older Coffee family that Elizabeth and her sons are living with are of an
age to be the parents of Richard and Elizabeth. William B. Coffee was 50 years
old and born in S.C. His wife Delia was 45 years old and also born in S.C.
Others living inFhis household in 1850 were Jane Coffee, age 21, John Coffee,

age 18 and Thursa M. Coffee, age 16. There is also a person named Pinckney

Lingo, age 19.

01d William Coffee is on the 1840 U.S. Census of Chattooga County Georgia
and the land records record him selling 320 A. for $1600.00 in 1851. This was
evidentally about the time the Coffee family moved to Texas, because in 1860
they appear in the Parker County Texas U.S. census. They are the only Coffee
family in Parker County. Elizabeth may have remarried, but I fail to find her
or her two boys. The Coffee household in 1860 consists of Wm. Coffee, age 60,

and his wife D. Coffee, aged 53, J. Coffee age 25.

109.
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RICH COFFEE

by Hatch
.In 1860 Richard (Richardson) Coffee and his family are shown in Brown County

Texas, which is not far from Parker. In a history of Coleman County Texas we
find information on Rich Coffee who it is stated came to Coleman County from
Parker County in about 1862. In the 1870 U.S. Census of Coleman County Texas
Richard and Sarah Coffee are enumerated with four children, all born in Texas:
John age 15, William age 13, Bell age 11 and Richard age 6. Richard and Sarah
Coffee are also enumerated in the 1880 Coleman County census.

We have found no further records of E1i;abeth Coffee Beddoe, but her two

sons appear in the 1870 U.S. Census of Coleman County and in the newspaper,

The Concho Herald, dated 6 Oct 1911, a story was told by an old timer of Concho
County, a Mr. Harrison, and we quote: "Mrs. Fogg Coffee told me that one of the
Bedow boys, a_nephew of Mr. Rich Coffee, was killed by the Indians and was
buried at the old rock house in Coffee Settlement.!,. This reference to the
Beddoe brothers being nephews of Rich Coffee gives further weight to our opinion
that Richard (Richard or Rich) Coffee was a brother to Elizabeth Coffee Beddoe.

In 1976 we corresponded with Mrs. 0la Foster of Bountiful, Utah who is a
direct descendant of Rich Coffee. She sent us several sheets of Coffee family
history from the book The Coffee Family by Lawrence Coffee. One of the sheets
shows Rich Coffee as being the son of James Coffee and Deliliah Ferguson. We
believe this information came from Inez Cates Ward of San Angelo, Texas who is
listed as the Coffee Genealogist.

In 1979 we corresponded with Inez Cates Ward. She said she was a descendant
of Clominda Jane Coffee who was a sister to Rich Coffee. She also claimel the
parents of Richard and Clominda were James and Deliliah Coffee, but had no proof
to offer. She did not know if Elizabeth Coffee Beddoe was a sister to Rich and
Clominda. 1Inez Ward says, "I've never found the family list (sisters & brothers)
although have spent 20 years and much money doing research."

119,
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John Trousdale Coffee: -~ '
Lawyer, Politician, Confederate

BY jdHN K. HULSTON AND JAMES W. GOODRICH®*

Four months after his death in Texas on May 23, 1890, a Mis-
souri weekly newspaper, the Greenfield Dade County Advocate,
carried an obituary about John Trousdale Coffee. The obituary
mentioned that “much of Col. Coffee’s life was connected with
this city . . . there are scarcely any here who do not know some-
thing of him personally or by reputation.” What the readers of
the obituary remembered or knew concerned Coffee’s years as a
Mason, as an attorney, as a politician and as a leader of Confed-
erate cavalry during the terrible years of the Civil War. Some
Dade Countians also would have remembered Coffee as a hard-
drinking and oft-married man noted for his “positive convictions”
on many subjects. But the most vivid recollections of the people
would pertain to Coffee’s military exploits as a successful recruiter
for the Confederate cause and for his troop of cavalry which ram-
bled back and forth through Missouri and Arkansas. Coffee’s men,
during this perilous time, had caused Union sympathizers to fear
for their lives and property and required Federal forces to con-
stantly deploy against them.

John Trousdale Coffee was not a Missourian by birth. He
had been born December 14, 1816, in Smith County, Tennessee,
to Reverend Joshua M. and Jane “[inny” Trousdale Coffee.> Be-
sides preaching the gospel, Joshua Coffee owned property in
Lancaster and Alexandria, Tennessee. He operated a store, known
as “Joshua M. Coffee and Son,” in Alexandria where he also served
as postmaster for a time.? i

Young Coffee read law until he believed himself ready to
take the bar examination. He passed the exam while in his early
twenties and also joined the Masons. Falling in love with a first
cousin, he proposed to her. She declined to marry him because
of their blood relationship. His marital plans were delayed only a
short time, and in 1841, Coffee married Eliza Jewell Stone. A year
later Eliza died and was buried in Cleveland, Tennessee, the com-
munity in which Coffee apparently practiced law. The grief-stricken
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John Trousdale Cojfee

young widower received a further blow, in the fall of 1842, when
his father died on October 2. The_elder Coffee left a $20,000 debt
due to financial reverses.*

The deaths of his wife and father, plus his father’s insolvency.
probably prompted Coffee to emigrate to Missouri. Newly or-
ganized Greene County beckoned. There Coffee might succeed
in both law and politics, as well as acquire good land at a rea-
sonable price,

After his arrival in Springfield, the Greene County seat, Coffee
sought to qualify as a licensed lawyer. He began an active practice
as one of the thirty attorneys serving the Springfield area prior to
the Civil War. On June 26, 1843, he expanded his practice when he
registered on the roll of attorneys in Polk County.®

o

John Trousdale Coffee

Cozi;'tew, Mrs. William Coffee

One recorded anecdote illustrated Coffee’s thirst for hard
liquor and his humor. In the early 1840s, he and a fellow lawyes
from Bolivar, John T. Payne, had taken a case and received a
horse as their payment. While socializing in a Springfield saloon.
Coffee and Payne discussed their payment. After a few drinks, the
two lawyers began arguing loudly on hbw to divide the fee. Tired
of the heated discussion, Coffee finally unholstered his pistol and
started to walk out of the saloon. Payne followed him and de-
manded to know what Coffee planned to do. Coffee replied: “I
am going to shoot my part of that horse. You may do what you
please with your part.”” ‘

On April 4, 1844, Coffee, who was dividing his time between
his legal affairs in Springfield and Bolivar, married a Bolivar wom-
an, Catherine Grace Hunt. Again misfortune visited the trans-
planted Tennessean. Two weeks after the birth of their only child.
Catherine Coffee died. Coffee placed the child, named for her
mother, in the care of her maternal grandmother, who resided in
Bolivar.?

By September 1845, the young lawyer decided to marry a
third time. He exchanged vows with sixteen-year-old Lavena Har-
riet Weir of Greenfield, in mid-September.® The bride’s father,
Reverend Samuel Jackson Weir, was a prominent minister and

Page 26
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farmer, who had helped establish Greenfield as the Dade County
seat.’® Coffee and his new wife lived in Greenfield after their
wedding.

During the late 1840s, Coffee continued to practice law in
Southwest Missouri and occasionally assisted land speculators. He
left the state, however, for a brief period, after he raised a regi-
ment of Southwest Missourians to fight in the Mexican War. Coffee
recruited the company very late in the war, and it had traveled
as far as New Orleans when the war ended. Consequently, Coffee
discharged his men and returned home, where he became Dade
County’s circuit attorney in 1849.1

As an anti-Benton candidate, Coffee successfully campaigned
for the Missouri senate in 1854 and represented the Twenty-fifth
District composed of Polk and Dade counties.’? On December 28,
1854, he received his committee assignments to “Ways and Means”
and the “Deaf and Dumb Asylum.”'® His political beliefs were
personified by his nomination, before a joint session of the legis-
lature, of the proslavery candidate David Rice Atchison for another
term as United States Senator.!* Coffee sponsored a number of
bills, including internal improvements for Southwest Missouri, the
incorporation of the Carthage Female Academy, a prohjbitory liquor
law in Dade County, the incorporation of the town of Fremont in
Cedar County and petitions for relief.'®> However, he would not
finish out his elected term.

Both branches of the legislature recommended Coffee for a
captaincy in the First U. S. Army Cavalry Regiment. He accepted
+the commission in May 1855, and commenced recruiting in South-
west Missouri before reporting to his duty post at Fort Leaven-
worth, Kansas. He resigned his senate seat on August 24, 1855.1%
Four months later on December 20, 1855, Coffee relinquished his
military commission due to illness. He promptly returned to his
Greenfield home, located on the town commons, which also served
as his law office.

In 1856, the question of whether Kansas would be admitted

into the Union as a slave or free state plagued Missouri and the
rest of the mation. Coffee, by this time, had become one of the
most influential men in Dade County and a recognized political
leader in Southwest Missouri. A staunch states’ righter and owner
of at least one slave, Coffee adamantly opposed the abolitionist
activities occurring in Kansas.
. On the evening of August 26, 1856, a citizens meeting took
place at the Dade County Courthouse. A committee of seven men
from Dade and Lawrence counties, including Coffee, were ap-
pointed to draft resolutions expressing “the sense of the meeting.”
The drafted preamble and resolutions denounced “abolitionists and
hired marauders . . . ravaging Kansas Territory, robbing the law
and order citizens, burning down their houses. . . .” Immediate
action was necessary and delay would prove:

fatal to Southern rights and the maintenance of law in

Kansas, and that it is the duty of every pro-slavery man

in our county to render such aid as he consistently can

without serious injury to himself or family. . . A7
Coffee spoke afterwards to the crowd and proposed “squatter
sovereignty” as a solution to the Kansas problem.'®

In June 1857, Coffee and two other Dade Countians acquired
the weekly Greenfield American Standard. Originally an anti-Ben-
ton paper, the former owners, in 1856, had begun to support the
Know-Nothing party. The new owners changed the newspaper’s

!
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name to the Greenfield Southwest, dropped its Know-Nothing
affiliation and published it as an “Independent in politics.” In
1859, the Southwest ceased publication, but while it existed, it fur-
thered Coffee’s leadership as an independent Democrat after he
withdrew from the national Democratic party.1®

As an independent in 1858, Coffee offered himself as a Demo-
cratic candidate in the Seventeenth State Senate District.2® He
lost the nomination to the regular Democratic candidate, B. H.
Cravens of Cedar County. Coffee then considered running in the
general election as an independent candidate but reconsidered.
He decided that his candidacy might prove injurious to the Demo-
cratic party. This decision foretold his forthcoming nomination
as a candidate for representative of Dade County. Coffee won
the election and immediately allied himself with pro-Southern
leaders Sterling Price and Claiborne Fox Jackson. This alliance
insured his election to the office of speaker of the house for the
20th General Assembly. Coffee received 97 of the 117 votes cast.2!

During the 20th General Assembly, Coffee sponsored internal
improvement bills for Southwest Missouri, just as he had done a
few years earlier as a state senator. He also introduced bills to
incorporate Masonic lodges, a new school district, the Dade County.
Agricultural and Mechanical Association, dnd bills to lepalize land

In the early 1840s, Coffee represented clients in this Polk County Court-

house, Bolivar. .
WPA Records, Jt. Coll. Univ. of Mo.
WHMC-Columbia & SHS of Mo. Mss.

3

73 3

T3

transactions.?> He voted for a constitutional amendment to limit
the state debt to $30,000,000 and spoke in favor of postponing
the vote on the state’s revenue bill until after the legislators had
discussed it with their constituents.?

Throughout his term as speaker of the house, Coffee per-
formed his important duties with dispatch. He presided over the
sessions and followed the adopted rules of parliamentary pro-
cedure. Among his powers were committee and chairmanship
appointments. He did not campaign for reelection the next term.

By 1860, his political ambitions appeared to center on securing
the Democratic nomination for Missouri’s secretary of state. In a
mid-February meeting, Dade County’s Democratic Committee met
and instructed its delegates to the state convention to vote for
Coffee.?* Benjamin F. Massey, however, won the nomination.**
For a brief period, Coffee returned to his law practice, worked

) ed

his 800-acre farm and supervised his slave family.2®

. When the Civil War erupted, Coffee, his beliefs in states’
rights and slavery firm, raised a Confederate regiment in Dade
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County and won election as its colonel. He also established re-
cruiting camps in southern Missouri for General Thomas C. Hind-
man.?? Official reports in Records of the War of the Rebellion
scarcely mention Coffee until after Sterling Price’s Confederate
victory at Lexington, Missouri. After the Lexington battle, Price
withdrew his Missourians to Springfield, thence to the southwest
corner of the state, and finally to the security of the Boston
Mountains of Arkansas.

On March 7, 1862, Generals Price and Ben McCulloch of
Arkansas, fighting in the command of General Earl Van Dom.

were defeated in the Battle of Pea Ridge, Arkansas, by the Union®

forces of General Samuel R. Curtis. Again, Price withdrew his
men to extreme Southwest Missouri and returned to the Boston
Mountains. Following the Confederate defeat at Shiloh, Tennes-
see, Price took most of his army to Corifith, Mississippi. Soldiers.
who accompanied Price, joined the Confederate army for three
years.?® Confederate units, remaining in Missouri, continued as
independent commands. .

Coffee chose not to go with Price. Instead, he established a
camp at Cowskin Prairie in the southwest corner of Missouri. On
April 26, 1862, Coffee and some sixty Missourians under his .com-
mand joined Colonel Stand Watie and his Cherokee troops in
a skirmish with the First Missouri Cavalry. A Confederate victory
ensued, but Watie, in his report, mentioned that he was forced
to withdraw because Coffee did not supply expected support.**
By mid-May, Coffee had made camp at Maysville, Arkansas. Four
hundred Confederates had joined him. Union General Samuel R.
Curtis described these men as “the most despicable, rough, ragged
rascals ever congregated together.”3°

At the end of the month, Coffee and some 200 of his motley
cavalry joined contingents of Watie’s troops to attack Union cavalry
near Neosho. The rebels surprised their enemy and routed them.
Watie reported that: “Colonel Coffee’s cavalry, which had charged
simultaneously with our infantry, kept up the pursuit for miles.”*!

In late July 1862, JO Shelby, recently returned from Tennes-
see, joined forces with S. D. Jackman and Coffee. The officers
and their men rode through Neosho and traveled north with Jack-
son County as their destination. This force, joined by John T.
Hughes, Gideon W. Thompson, Upton Hays, Vard Cockrell and
their men, also actively recruited to swell its ranks.32

Union General E. B. Brown became aware of the Confed-
erates’ plans and reacted accordingly. From his Springfield head-
quarters, he issued a circular on August 2, calling for the people
of southen Missouri “to rise in a body and protect their homes
and families.” Brown was convinced that “Coffee and his band,”
in particular, would destroy the Union troops efforts to maintain
“peace and security.”33

Coffee and his men led the Union troops on a merry chase.
On August 5, Brown reported to General John M. Schofield that:
“Coffee has doubled, and vesterday afterncon was going south
near Mount Vernon, our troops in pursuit of him.”s% On the same
day, Brown sent a dispatch to Colonel Frederick Salomon and
stated that: “Coffee and [James S.] Rains made a recent raid
into the State . . . but they move so rapidly I have but little hopes
of coming up with them.”3s

Brown’s belief, that Coffee was near Mount Vernon on August 3.
proved incorrect. On that day, he appeared in Montevallo, a small
town located in Southeast Vernon County. Montevallo was not
far from Coffee’s camp on Horse Creek in the western part ol

Page 29
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Cedar County. When Coffee camped at Horse Creek in early
August, about 200 men comprised his force. Through successful
recruiting, he quickly added over a hundred others to his ranks.
In Cedar County, the lawyer-politician-Confederate officer had
enjoyed great military success. His and other Confederate troops
had so terrorized the county’s pro-Union population, during the
spring of 1862, that many had left the courffy for the protection of
Union-held Springfield.3¢

At Montevallo, a Union detachment of over a hundred men
from Fort Scott, Kansas, surrounded some twenty pro-Southerners
seeking to join Coffee’s band. A skirmish ensued, and those Con-
federates that escaped made their way east to Coffee’s head-
quarters. The commanding officer of the Uiicn force, Colonel

Confederate Cavalry Raiders

William Barstow, and one of his sergeants purportedly boasted to
the Montevallo townspeople that: “We will have Coffee for break-
fast tomorrow moming and we will take him without cream and
sugar.”s7

Told of the Federal attack at Montevallo, Coffee set off to
capture the Union detachment. He wanted to surprise his enemy,
but a Union sentry discovered the approaching Confederates. The
Union cavalry mounted their horses and speedily withdrew to
the south. Coffee and his ill-clad followers charged through the
town from the east and pursued the retreating Federals. In their
haste to escape, the Federal force left two supply wagons and
large quantities of arms and ammunition, which would be put to
good use by Coffee’s men.3®

By August 9, Schofield knew that Coffee had been recruit-
ing near Osceola.3® On August 14, Brown informed Schofield that
Coffee and Rains, with a combined force of some 3,000, probably
had formed a junction in Cedar or Barton counties. Schofield, in
his St. Louis headquarters, sent a reply to Brown the same day.
Tt illustrated the confusion created by Coffce, his troops and men
like them in the Union defense of Southwest Missouri:

If Rains and Coffee are both west of vou it must be a
mistake about any very large force south of Forsvth. I
apprehend it is a mere demonstration to facilitate the
movements of Rains and Coffee. It may, however, be the
reverse. The movements of Rains and Coffee may be in-
tended to draw your troops away from Springfield. Do
not let them deceive you.®

Coffee may have deceived Brown. as Schofield suggested in
an August 12 report to General Henrv W. Halleck.’* but he had
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not deceived Colonel Clark Wright or Major Samuel Montgomery
of the Sixth Missouri Cavalry. Wright had ordered Montgomery
to “cut Coffee off,” and on August 7, the major’s troops success-
fully carried out the order. His troops had attacked part of Coffee’s
cavalry from the rear, near Montevallo. The Confederate cavalry
leader had split his force before the skirmish, sending half of his
command to Osceola. Reporting the \Wright-Coffee clash, Mont-
gomery pridefully stated that “we have the old rebel in a tight

place.”™? On the ninth, Montgomery found Coffee’s forces re-
united near Stockton. The Fourth Missouri Militia and a company
of artillery engaged the Confederates “just at daylight” on Au-
gust 12, “and drove them handsomely. . . .”4* Shelby learned that
Coffee was being hard pressed along the Osage River. He rode
to the aid of his fellow officer, but Coffee and his men had out-
ridden and eluded the enemy. They appeared to be out of danger.**

Subsequently, Coffee and Shelby joined forces and continued
north from the Osage to the Grand River. Coffee.then turned
his column west and headed for Independence. Shelby started
in the opposite direction for Lexington. Both recruited men for
their ranks along the way. A '

On the night of August 15, Coffee’s. cavalry, varjously esti-
mated at 800 to 1,500 mostly ill-clad, unarmed Missouri State Guard
members, prepared to camp a mile south of Lone Jack in Jackson
County. Other Confederate troops were in the area of Lone Jack
including the commands of Upton Hays and Vard Cockrell who
planned to attack Lexington, The latter had camped about six
miles northwest of Lone Jack.*® Union troops, however, also were
nearby. Some 800 troops, under Major Emory S. Foster, had
marched from Lexington and arrived at the northern edge of Lone
Jack at about nine o’clock, the evening of the fifteenth. Shooting be-
tween Coffee’s pickets and the Federal troops occurred immedi-
ately. Discovering that Coffee’s main force had camped south of

the town, Foster prepared to attack them. The Union detachment
including artillery, had advanced some three-quarters of a mi](;
when Coffee’s poorly equipped cavalry charged. A volley frorr;
Union muskets dispersed the Confederates. At the same time, the
Union artillery fired into Coffee’s main camp. Coffce’s troops \:vith-
drew hastily, and the Union force retumed to Lone Jack.+¢

Union cannon fire alerted the other Confederate officers in
the area, who did not realize that enemy troops were nearby
Foster, however, knew about the Confederates. His troops haci
captured a sergeant from Coffee’s command, who informed Foster
that he was greatly outnumbered. Foster expected reinforcements
and, therefore, the news did not disturb him.

Now aware of the Union occupation of Lone Jack, Havs
Cockrell, Hunter and Jackman decided to attack the town ea,'-l‘;
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the morning of the nineteenth. As the Confederates approached
from their positions toward the town, a musket discharged and
the element of surprise vanished. Even so the Union forces vir-
tually were surrounded. The Confederates attempted to capture
the Union artillery more than once. They set fire to the Cave
Hotel, a rallying point for the Federal troops. Noah Hunt, a Lone
Jack resident, counted over 110 dead horses laying around the
square. Vicious hand-to-hand combat accounted for piles of dead
and wounded. The reinforcements, Foster expected, never ma-
terialized.

As the battle raged, Coffee busily rallied his troops that had
been dispersed by the previous evening’s engagement. Around
11 a.m., he was prepared to reinforce Cockrell. Foster had been
shot, and Captain Milton Brawner had assumed command of the
beleaguered Federals. As Coffee's troops entered the fray, Brawner,
short on ammunition and vastly outnumbered, decided to with-
draw his force and returned to Lexington.47

The Confederates finally occupied ‘Lone Jack around noon.
The fighting had lasted less than five hours. One of the - captured
Federals, Lieutenant Levi Copeland, was placed under the charge
of Coffee. Guerrilla leader Willianr Quantrill arrived at Lone Jack
late in the day and, finding that.Copeland had been captured,
demanded he be turned over to Quantrill's men. Coffee refused.
Quantrill, incensed by this rebuff, ordered his men to mount and
prepare to charge Coffee and his troops. He sent a note to Coffee
explaining that Copeland *had dragged the father of two of
Quantrill's men from his home and in front of the man’s family,
hung him and burned the house.” Learning this, Coffee turned
over Copeland, who was immediately shot by the two sons.*8

Coffee’s reinforcement of Cockrell’'s troops proved to be his
finest hour. Arriving where fighting was the heaviest, they caused
the Federals to flee as their dwindling ammunition gave them no
chance to successfully repel the superior force. Brawner acknowl-
edged as much in his report of the battle, “, . . the force under
Coffee . . . again appeared on our left flank, with the evident
design of surrounding our worn-out troops and cutting off all
retreat.”4® Because he had sustained minimal losses, had been in
the right place at the right time, and ranked as the senior colonel
in Price’s army, Coffee believed he deserved the rank of brigadier
general. For months, he and Shelby would vie for the brigadier’s
star.

The Confederate objective to occupy Lexington had been
thwarted by Foster’s desperate defensive action at Lone Jack. At
the same time, Union forces, commanded by General James Blunt
from Fort Scott, Kansas, and Colonel Clark Wright's cavalry, plus
Towa troops under the command of Colonel Fitz Henry Warren.
had been ordered by James Totten to try and cut off the Con-
federate withdrawal. Coffee’s hard-riding cavalry fled southward.
avoided a confused \Wright, crossed the Osage River near Clinton.
and successfully escaped to the Arkansas line. Shelby followed
at once.

All efforts to intercept Coffee and Shelby failed. despite Gen-
eral E. B. Brown's empty boast on August 17 to Schofield that

Coffee’s cavalry “are in a constant state of alarm, prepared to run’

and not to fight. and more afraid of the Feds than they are of
the devil.”s® Theodore Cardner. a membér of the First Kansas
Battery, testified as to the frustration experienced by the Union
pursuers attempting to capture Coffee’s horsemen:
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Before the day [August 17] was finished we had learned
that we were {eade for Loan Jack to run Colonel Coffee

out of Missouri, and although we kept up the pace . . .
for three days and four nights, the wily Confederate gave
us the slip and returned to the Ozarks.>!

William Quantrill

On the twenty-first, Colonel Wright reported to Brown of his
chase of the Confederates: “Coffee, Cockrell . . . and all the rebel
bands are together, heading for Dixie. They can outrun Jordan. . . .
Their course has been direct, their speed high, and their exercise
perpetual since I struck their trail.”? Once again the Union army
controlled Missouri, but the Confederates would return.5?

Three weeks after the battle of Lone Jack and following
hot pursuit by the Federals, three regiments of Confederate cav-
alry (one under Coffee’s command) met in Northwest Arkansas.
The regiments were attached to General Thomas C. Hindman.
who had assumed command of the Trans-Mississippi Department.
A reorganization of the Confederates under Hindman ensued. He
approved the resignation of General James S. Rains and relieved
him from duty because of drunkenness. At the same time, Hind-
man arrested Coffee on charges of drunkenness and ordered a court-
martial.®

On August 26, General Schofield confidently advised Totten.
at Springfield, that “the enemy’s forces in western Arkansas are
not all that formidable. They will probably content themselves
with raids like that of Coffee.”® General Curtis, from his head-
quarters at Helena, Arkansas, told Schofield that “Raines and Cof-
fee [apparently awaiting court-martial trials] at Fort Smith. . .
Price gone east. No invasion of Missouri.”s¢

In late July 1862, Hindman was relieved of his command of
the Trans-Mississippi Department and replaced by General The-
ophilus H. Holmes. The latter had received much criticism for
his “apathy” at Malvern Hill*” and had been transferred to the
Trans-Mississippi Department. One Civil War historian labeled
this department, by 1863, as “the junkyard of the Confederate
army [for generals from the eastern theatre]” until the arrival

E of Edmund Kirby Smith.3® Hindman, before being replaced, had

ordered all Missouri State Guards into the Confederate army.
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This action prompted General Sterling Price to advise the Con-
federate secretary of war, George Randolph, that thirty prominent
Missourians, including Coffee, should be the men to organize Mis-
souri troops for Confederate service.5?

Hindman had placed Shelby in command of a brigade com-
prised of three regiments of cavalry, his own and the regiments
of Coffee and Upton Hays. Shelby called his command the “Iron
Brigade.” It went into bivouac south of Newtonia. The men were
threadbare, on short rations and their horses were unshod.®® Not-
withstanding these privations, the Iron Brigade fought and won
its first battle near the end of September. Engagements followed
at Cross Hollow, Cane Hill and Prairie Grove. All the while, Cof-
fee continued to be inactive, presumably awaiting the court-martial
which convened and tried him in the spring of 1583. Coffee
won acquittal of the charge of drunkenness and returned to re-
cruiting for the Confederate cause in southern Missouri.8!

From his camp near Diamond Grove in Southwest Missouri.
Major T. R. Livingston, on May 28, 1863, sent a_dispatch to Price
which illustrated Coffee’s importance to the Confederate cause:

Colonel Coffee has joined me with a small force of un-
organized troops, and will co-operate with me. . . . It is
currently reported here that Colonel Coffee will so6n be
restored to the command of his re%'mént; if such should
be the case, we hope that he will be allowed to operate
in this section of the country. His knowledge of the coun-
try, and the unbounded confidence of the people in him,
demand that this should be the field of his operations.82

Coffee continued recruiting throughout the summer, often
leading raids designed to create havoc in southern Missouri. His
forays caused Union Colonel Edwin C. Catherwood to move his
troops from Springfield, chase Coffee’s band and defeat him near
Pineville, in McDonald County, on August 12. Catherwood won
a decisive victory, killing 60 to 70 of Coffee’s men.®® This affair
foretold the almost complete Confederate loss of control of Mis-
souri except in the extreme southwest corner. Thus, a plan, de-
signed by Shelby to draw Federals from their control of the Arkan-
sas Valley and Central Missouri, won the approval of Missouri’s
Confederate governor, Thomas C. Reynolds.

’

;A Portion of Gen. JO
Shelby's Portrait, As
Painted by George
Caleb Bingham
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Shelby planned a cavalry incursion into Missouri’s heartland,
perhaps even to the state capital in Jefferson City. Besides dis-
rupting Union control, the raid would give the Confederates the
opportunity to retaliate against Union General Franz Sigel's recent
burning of Bentonville, Arkansas.8* The raid called for more than
a thousand cavalrymen under Shelby to dash north toward the
Missouri River. Coffee was to command a third of Shelby's force.
Shelby started from Arkadelphia, Arkansas, on September 22, 1863;
Coffee joincd him at Crooked Prairie near Pineville. On October 4,
at Neosho, Shelby and Coffee forced Union Captain C. B. Me-
Afee to surrender his troops and sizable supply trains. Shelby
paroled thosce captured, and took such supplies as his men could
pack. Next the Confederates bumed every house at Bowers Mill
just north of Sarcoxie. Following a cold night’s ride north to
Greenfield, the advance Confederate units under Coffee’s command
arrived at the town at daylight on October 6. Here they surrounded
apd capturcd a garrison of fifty militia, seized all available sup-
plies and fired the Dade County Courthouse, used as a federal

garrison.%t
When Coffee joined his advance horsemen at his hometown,

the courthouse was in flames.®® He immediately. ordgred his men -

to take the county records from the burning building on’ the
public square and place them in the residence of Judge Nelson
McDowell. Despite his efforts to save the county records, Coffee
learned following the war that his land records had been ripped
from the county deed record book.%7

To see the courthouse, where he had practiced law, in flames
no doubt saddened Coffee. But he was even more deeply saddened
by another tragedy that had occurred while he was away from *
home. Less than two weeks before his return, his wife had died.
Whether or not Coffee knew of this before his arrival remains
unknown; and, history does not record yhat the bereaved Con-
federate cavalry officer did during his brief stay. Coffee, however,
probably visited the grave of his wife and certainly looked after
the disposition of the five children he had fathered.®®

The courthouse fire abated, the family business settled, Cof-
fee and his men continued north with the rest of Shelby’s brigade.
The horsemen crossed the Sac River at Seybert Mill on the road
to Melville (now Dadeville). On the morning of October 7, the
Confederates began arriving at Stockton, twenty miles dlstant
from Greenfield. There they burned the Cedar County Courthouse
which had been turned into a Union fort. They then torched the
Caplinger and Crow water mills nearby and rode on to Fair Play
in Polk County. They continued on to Humansville, Warsaw, Cole
Camp, Florence and Tipton, skirmishing with Union troops and
capturing wagon trains. Some of the Confederate scouts came
within sight of the night lights of Jefferson City, where General
+E. B. Brown’s Union troops outnumbered Shelby's command more
than three to one. Brown had left Jefferson City with 4,000 troops
in pursuit of Shelby, Coffee and the Confederate force, which now
had encamped near Boonville. General Schofield also had ordered
General John McNeil to take 2,000 soldiers to intercept Shelby’s
brigade.

Shelby withdrew his forces, fighting a delaying action against
his enemies. Breaking camp carly on the moming of October 13.
he headed for Marshall. Outside the Saline County town, Shelby,
Coffee and Colonel David Hunter and their men engaged General
Thomas Ewing, Jr., who commanded, according to Shelby, 4,000
Union troops. Five hours of fierce fighting ensued; dismounted
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troops fought hand-to-hand combat., During the fourth hour, Cof-
fee and Hunter had broken through Ewing’s left wing and occupied
Marshall. About this time, Brown and his men arrived in force.
Shelby estimated his enemy to now number 9,000.

Toward the end of the fight, Brown's forces joined up with
Ewing's. Shelby reported that “their combined forces, outnumber-
ing us eight to one, looked absolutely frightful. While forming
for a final, crushing charge, I determined to retreat, knowing it
was madness to continue the unequal contest.”®® Shelby ordered
his command to fight through an opening in the Federal right.
The assault surprised the Union soldiers. The Confederates, in-
cluding Coffee’s command and the supply wagons, escaped.™

In his official report of the Battle of Marshall, Shelby included
Coffee among those officers who “handled their commands with
great skill, and were ever where the fire was hottest and heavi-
est. . . .""1 Shelby led his force to Waverly, thence southward. Not
out ‘of danger until they crossed the Sac River at Seybert Mill.
the Confederates made camp, October 17, at John Dunkle’s farm
on Rock Prairie (now Everton), twelve miles southeast of Green-
field. They reached Pineville, in McDonald County, the following
night. Once again “under whips and spurs,” Shélby’s Iron Brigade
had outridden, outfought and oufmaneuvered the Federals, who
outnumbered them more than six to one. They arrived in the
Arkansas hill country four hours ahead of Brigadier General John
McNeil’s Union force.”

Shelby wrote of the raid: “my command increased about
600. . . . fought five battles; had daily skirmishes; traveled 1,500
miles. . . . My men and horses are worn out, and must rest here
[Washington, Arkansas] for a week or two.””® Shelby had reached
Washington forty-one days after starting the raid. His men traveled
an average of thirty-six miles each day.”™ The “Great Missouri
Raid” ended warfare of any importance in the state during 1863.7

Shelby’s aide, John N. Edwards, a few years after the war
ended, wrote of his commander and the brigade's exploits. He
facetiously portrayed Coffee, during the 1863 raid, as a “politick-
ing” officer bent always on electioneering. Edwards recalled at
Cole Camp, while the Confederates were dressed in Union garb,
“Coffee electioneered for Congress and explained his position.”®
To Edwards, Coffee, at the drop of his cavalry hat, would orate
to soldiers and civilians alike. Seemingly he exhibited this trait.

Confedernte guerrillas and Union troops fight for supply train.
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common of recruiters, throughout the war.

Shelby emerged from the raid a household name and a prime
favorite of Governor Reynolds, if not Price. Surprisingly, follow-
ing the raid, General Hindman relieved Shelby as commander
of the Iron Brigade, at the same time General John S. Marmaduke
took command of all the Price cavalry on October 22, 1863.

Because of bureaucratic haggling in the Confederate govern-
ment at Richmond, Virginia, Shelby did not receive his brigadier's
star until early 1864.77 Coffee, a senior colonel in Price’s army and
a colonel when Shelby held a captain’s rank, was passed over. Bit-
terness ensued among Coffee’s supporters when Shelby received
the star. Lewis Renfro, for example, commented later: “I don't
know just how this happened, for Colonel Coffee was senior in
rank, but by some hook or crook the plum went to Shelby.”?®
Doubtless, those loyal to Coffee recalled his timely arrival to insure
victory at Lone Jack with Shelby twenty miles away, his dramatic
break through Ewing's encirclement outside Marshall and their
day-to-day associations with him. The fact that Shelby’s past mili-
tary successes actually overshadowed Coffee’s record apparently
did not enter into their thinking. -

Denied his general’s star, Coffee left his regiment; and Gideon
Thompson succeeded him as its commanding officer. Thompson's
new command consisted of only three companies of cavalry and
one company of infantry. After Coffee’s resignation, official reports
afford scant information about him until Sterling Price reorganized
the army in the summer of 1864. Shelby received command of a di-
vision composed of his brigade and those of Jackman and Colonel
Charles H. Tyler. Coffee, in turn, became the colonel of a “paper”
regiment of Missouri cavalry, transferred from Jackman’s brigade
to Tyler's. Coffee's orders gave him until September 1 to fill his
regiment’s ranks.??

Following Jefferson Davis’s proclamation forgiving deserters,
Coffee believed that hundreds of deserters, located in the northern

Gen. Sterling Price

tier of Arkansas counties, would return to the Confederate ranks.
Coffee and Jackman and over fifty other officers were empowered
to recruit.?® Shelby thought that 3,000 men might. come in, and.
if this occurred, Coffee again would have a full regiment to com-
mand. However, the recruiting success did not materialize: and
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when Shelby prepared to join Price in his 1864 raid into Missouri,
the cavalry commander debated whether to leave Coffee at Bates-
ville, Arkansas, to continue recruiting, or to take him along. He
decided that leaving Coffee would only provide “a nucleus for
the deserters to come back to.” Since this was undesirable, he
ordered Coffee to join Jackman’s brigade .in the expedition and
allowed him to recruit to fill his regiment Beyond the September 1
deadline.’! Coffee thus recruited as the expedition traveled to
Fredericktown, Missouri; he hoped to fill his quota of men, but,
by October 3, he had not done so. Shelby relieved Coffee from
Jackman'’s brigade and ordered him to report to Price.

Shelby's lengthy “Report of Price’s Missouri Expedition,” writ-
ten by Edwards in December 1864, did not mention Coffee. Nor
was Coffee mentioned in any of the reports after the Battle of
Pilot Knob, on September 27, until the war’s end. Two Union
officers, however, believed that Coffee may have been foraging
for wheat in the Arkansas Fourche LeFave bottoms south of
Dardanelle, early in 1865.92

After the Battle of Westport, in late 1864 or early 1865, Cof-
fee moved his family overland to Waco, Texas. A family history
suggests that Coffee went to Waco at the invitation of friends of

his brother, Franklin Brown Coffee, who had been-a.member of

the Texas Rangers.?® While the reason for this trip may never be
known, his staying in Missouri could have been disasterous.

Sometime after the Confederate surrender at Appomattox, Cof-
fee, per sona non grata among Union sympathizers, might have
been physically harmed if he returned to Southwest Missouri. His
derring-do throughout the war had made him ome of the most
feared of all Confederate officers operating in the war-ravaged
area. The charred brick courthouse hulks at Greenfield and Stock-
ton stood as mute testimony to his perfidy.

Passed over as senior colonel in Price’s army, Coffee had lost
the coveted brigadier’s star. The Drake Constitution of 18865,
adopted by the Missouri State Convention, debarred him from prac-
ticing law and holding political office in Missouri, both of which
he had pursued as his peacetime livelihoods. Death had claimed
his third wife in late 1863, leaving him to care for seven children,
five of them under fifteen years of age. Discouraged, apprehen-
sive and worn out from four years of fierce warfare, Coffee, with
his children, joined scores of Missouri Confederates who decided
to start life anew in Texas.

After the surrender of the Confederate Army of the Trans-
Mississippi by General Edmund Kirby Smith, General Shelby, re-
fusing to capitulate, moved to Eagle Pass, Texas. At this time, he
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purportedly asked Coffee to join his force as a mercenary and
fight under the flag of Emporer Maximilian of Mexico.** Coffee
declined and instead surrendered himself in Austin, Texas, to
General George A. Custer. The ex-Missouri Confederate signed
a formal oath of allegiance to the United States on July 26, 1865.8°

The displaced parolee made a final move from Waco to
Georgetown, Texas, the county seat of Williamson County. Within
three months, he married his fourth wife, Eunice Amelia Allen
Vontress. The native Texan, a twenty-seven-year-old widow and
mother of a small daughter, had been the wife of Edward Hughes
Vontress, a prominent Georgetown judge and Confederate war-

time major. Vontress had died sixteen months earlier near Alex-

andria, Louisiana, when a bolt of lightning struck him. Coffee
and his seven children moved into his bride’s home. When three
of the girls reached “courting age,” two rooms were built on to
the front of the house. His fourth wife bore him six more children.

The ex-Confederate operated a goat ranch nine miles west
of Georgetown. For a third time, he qualified to practice law in
a new state. The States’ Rights Democrat also resumed participa-
tion in politics. During the 1870s, Coffee supported the establish-

ment of Georgetown College and the Georgetown Railroad. Al- -

though he never returned to Missquri, Coffee unsuccessfully

attempted to regain clear title to his Dade. County property, which

finally sold for delinquent taxes, in February 1879.

Coffee and his family maintained an active membership in
the Georgetown Methodist Episcopal Churkh South. In 1882, the
veterans of the Civil War, who lived in Williamson County, or-
ganized and elected Coffee as their first president. Eight years
later, he died at Brownsville, Texas, on May 23,88
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The John T. Coffee House At Greenfield, As It Appeared In 1977

Probably most remembered for his wartime service to the
Confederacy, Coffee should not be cast as a Confederate guerrilla
in the mold of William C. Quantrill. But Coffee’s mission, if not
his tactics, appeared the same as all guerrilla leaders: to keep
a maximum number of Union troops off balance and committed
to protect loyal Union citizens. For instance, when Union General
Benjamin F. Loan wrote President Abraham Lincoln in October
1863. that he needed more troops, Loan named Coffee as the arch-
tvpe guerrilla leader. Due to lack of Union protection, Coffee’s
foravs. according to Loan, forced Missouri’s pro-Union citizens
to either go into exile or unite in armed defense of their homes.®”
According to one historian of the Civil War, Confederate military
activity in Missouri “kept the Union military forces of the border.
who overwhelmingly outnumbered them, mobilized, harassed and
not available for utilization in other theatres where they were badly
needed.”®® Coffee’s leadership of Confederate forces, his ability
to recruit effectively and the military tactics he emploved greatl;'
Secicterd in o maintainine the fremendons smbalance in numbers.

.~ -;J‘-— '_m
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JOHN TROUSDALE COFFrEE Page 42
Received 1972, fron Don Ruth Merritt, Dallas, Texas.

(The following copy was sent to me. Think the GAZETTE in which
it was reprinted was at Georgetown, Texas.)

Col. John T. Coffee
A BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH OF A NOBLE AND USEFUL MAN

(The following is from the Dade County Advocate, published at
Greenfield, Mo. the former home of the late Col. John T. Coffee, who
died in this city a few months ago, and for an opportunity to publish
this sketch, the GAZETTE is indebted to Messrs. Strickland & Strange)

John Trousdale Coffee was born in the year 1818, in Tennessee,
in which state he was =ducated, grew to manhood, and married his
first wife, a Miss Stone (other records say Miss Soule) who died
without issue, leaving him a widower, while yet a young man. He was
& near relative of Gen., John Coffee of the U.S. Army, who died in
Alabama in 18%4. In the early forties he enlisted a company for the
war betwwen the United States and Mexico, but-.hy the time he reached
New Orleans on his way to the front, the war had ended and he dis-
charged his men and again turned his attemtion to civil duties. About
1852 he moved to Dade County, Missouri, and was engaged in the practice
of law at Greenfield for a number of years, during which period he
served as District Attorney one or more terma. He was married to his
second wife, a Miss Hunt of Bolivar, Polk Co, Mo, who subsequently died,
leaving one child, Catherine, now Catherine Snyder. In 1845 he was
married to his third wife, Miss «arriet Veir, who died at her home
pYdf£ near this place during the late rebellion. Several children were
born of this marriage. About 1852 hw was elected to the State Senate
and served a portion of the term when he was recommended by both

branches of the Legislature to a Captaincy in the regular army. The
Appointment was made and accepted, and he returned to Greenfield,
enlisted a company and went to Fort Leavenworth. In about a year from
this time he resigned his commiasion on account of ill health and
returned to Greenfield about the Holidays in 1856. Here again he
engaged in the practice of law and also in farming. In 1858 he was
elected to the lower house of the Legislature and was made Speaker of
the House. ue was succeeded in 1860 by W.K. Lathum. At the outbreak
of the¢ late rebellion, he cast his lot with the South, raised a
regiment for the Confederate Service and took an active part in the
War until it ended. After the war he left Missouri and in 1865
settled in Georgetown, Texas, where he again engaged in the practice
of law and farming. Oct. 26th, 1865, he was married to his fourth
wife, Mrs Eunice Vontrees, of Georgetown, Texas (widow of Judge
Vontrees) He lived with his family on his farm near Georgetown, and
engaged in law and politics up to the time of his death, which
occurred Friday, May 23%rd, 1890.

Col. dJohn T. Coffee was a man of positive convictions and
strong in his friendships. He became a Mason at the age of twenty one,
was a charter member of LAAFF Washington Lodge No. 87, A.F.&A.M.
charted at Greenfield, Mo, in 1847. iHe was a member of the Methodist
Episcopal Church, South, in which faith he died. He left surviving
him a wife and eleven children.

It will be seen by the above that much of Col. Coffee's life
was connected with this city, and all our older citizens know him
personally, while there are scarcely any here who do not know some-
thing of him personally or bv reputation.
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JOHN TROUSDALE COFFEE p N
Received 1972, from Don Ruth Merritt, Dallas, Texas age 43

John Trousdale Coffee b 14 Dec 1818, USmith Co, Tenn. Di:d 23 May 1890,
Georgetown, Williamson Co, Texas. Bur. I.0.0.F. Cemetery.
Son of Joshua M. Coffee and Jane Trousdale
married 18t Eliza Stone- no iss. She buried in Cleveland (B#adley Co)
Tennessee. Insc, reads: ELIZA COFFEE, wife of Col. John T. Coffee.
Died Dec. 14, 1841. Age 17 years.
Married 2nd Miss Hunt, in Missouri. Married 3rd Harriet L. Weir,
Greenfield, Dade Co, Mo. She died during Civil War, Married 3th. Mrs
Eunice Allen Vontrees, Georgetown, Texas.
/» children: (2nd mar.) Catherine Jane b 7 Oct 1844 m John W. Snyder
4, (3rd mar) Charles Franklin 72 March 1847, Dade Co, Mo. Died Dec. 1935
Chadron, Nebraska. (Evidently another quite a "character." Vas
elected to Cowboy Hall of Fame in 1966. Veteran of the entire
Civil War at age 18. Trailed Cattle Texas-Wyoming for the Snyder
Brothers. Then settled himself in Wyoming-Western “ebraska. Etc.
(with plenty of etc!) Married Virginia Ashland Toney. 3 ch.
3 Marietta b ca 1853, Mo. married Hi Webb :
#Arthur B B Feb 1850, Mo. Died 1880 in Chugwater, Wyoming, when accidently
shot by his own gun. Buried Cheyenne, Wyo. .
S Samuel Buffington b ca 1855 died Nebraska c 1907. Left sons- one,
Harry Buffington, President of ‘Omaha Stockyards, etc.
6 VWillianm F - ca 1857 died Louisiana 1944 - '
7"Lula ca 1861 married Lum Bradford 4th marriage:
Y John Trouadale Jr 15 Sept 1866 died 6 June 1944 , Had at least sons
Rector Cope Coffee and Jupiff. Both buried I1.0.0.F. Cem. Georgetown
(Have had conversation with Ruth, widow of R.C. and got some of
family data from her. James' widow was also still living last
yearememaaa never mind; I'm getting loused up. This James, whose
widow was still living and who got the history of her illustrious
forbear-in-law sort of, confused, shall we say, was the youngest
: son of 0ld John T himself) o
4 Ella Josephine 3 Nov 1868-22 Jan 1950 married Frank Yearwood .
79 Florence married R.T. Hanna :
// Tormye b 16 Aug 1871 died 16 March 1963 married 12 Sept 1894 William
Francis Magee
ldyJames b 1877 died 1952
(A1l the children of the last marriage born in Georgetown.

Re: Joshua M Coffee (Rev.)- he was the youngest son of Billiam
Coffee and Mary (somebody said was McAllister?). Brother of "my boy"
David. J.M. was born in Buckingham Co, Va. William lived in Bedford
Co, Va, then s0ld out, and the next records had him "William Coffee
of Buckingham Co, Va." Hence, his last two children, born after the
1784 selling, and evident moving, must have been born in B. Co.

David Coffee and brother Pleasant B. Coffee married sisters, Sytha
and Judith deadows, respectively, in Prince Zdward Co. About 1806 or 7
they, along with Joshua M. went to Smith Co, Tennessee, David and
Pleasant B s0ld the land "which came to me from my father William
Coffee by his will of May 1798", probably to finance the move, for
they both got "money in hand! Then real quick, in Smith Co, David
started buying land- the first was from the Trousdales. Joshua M
didn't sell his Virginia land "from my father" until 1810, when his
deed said he was of Smith Co, Tenn. Probably had something to do with
his having married Jane T. in Jan of that year! His deed is no doubt
recorded in the burned Buckingham Co records, but somehow a photocopy
of the deed itself reposed in a file all by itself (indexed as Coffer,
by the way) in the archives in Virginia.
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From Don Ruth Merritt, Dallas, Texas, 1972, Page 44

In February 1822, David died, and left the estate-taking-care
of "to my gro eryJosﬁui M. Coffee." Both David and Joshua M hgd

become fairly solid citizens of the county, from the way they got
into the records -~ county officers, on road committees, executors of
wills of other solid citizens, and all the rest., J.M. did quite a bit
of land selling and buying. Then at Alexandria he was a merchant,
post master-- no mention of his having anything to do with any sort
of preaching.

Then he moved to Warren County- where Ambrose Coffey's children
had already esconsed themselves- Ambrose's son Jesse Coffee built the
first brick house in McMinnville, son-in-law Jewell ran the big hotel-
and all these Coffees signed things for each other, the way kinfolks
did. Local history says Jesse and Joshua M from the same family, re-
lated, tho different branch. General John (also a Peter Coffee grandson)
has in one of his diaries that he "laid the night with cousin Jesse in
Warren County---- none of these kind folks give 80 much as a clue as to
how the cousinshid) came about, if ANy« 4/ 4RRey. Temw

In 1842 Joshua M, died, and the County Yecords show that he left
poor Jane owing in excess of $28,000, a tidy sum for those days. Still
no mention of his ministry. I'm crass enough to wonder whether he started
his preaching before or after he lost his money.Somebody started putting
Rev. before his name, and some descendants say he was a minister, some
say Methodiat. He may have been what they called a "local elder" and
one of these days I'm checking into his ministerial background. If it
were Methodist, the Theological Library over here at S.M.U. has a moast
beautiful line-up of conference reports that give even the Methodist
Elders, who weren't ordained ministers. Maybe he was one of those.

Anyway, that's who Joshua M. was.

Their- his and Jane T's- son Franklin B, or Benjamin Franklin,
was said to have been the first man killed in the Mexican War. Whether
the first, he was killed-official record: 9-20-1846. Pvt. Co D Tenn.

Oldest son William joined the Federal army ffor the Civil War,

and for some reason the intensely C.S.A. members of the family lost
track of him,
James Narnest died of T.B. unmarried.

Thomas S went to Mimsouri - was in Dade Co awhile. Then is said
to have gone to.California.

Lucinda M married Andrew “ackson Wood and moved to Texas.
Yary Jane married Tennison J. Wilson

Nancy married Dr Charles Turner New of Cannon Co, Tenn, Their
son, John Coffee New, graduated from West Point, and was a man of
affairs in the county.

The rest of them I know not what happened to. ~hould like to.
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Holland Coffee of Red River

AUDY J. AND GLENNA MIDDLEBROOKS

S TIME APPROACHED FOR THE MEETING OF THE SECOND

Congress ol the Republic of Texas, Dr. Daniel Rowlen,

a representative from Red River County, set out tor the

capital at Houston with a petition in his saddle bags. That instrn

ment stated that the signers, most of whom lived between Bow

D’Arc Creek and Cotfee’s Station, were asking lor the privitese
of forming a new county.

Soon after the opening of the session I)l Rowletrand his fellow
representatives from Red River County, Edward H. "Lrrant and
Collin McKinney, were named to a“special committee to consider
the request of the petitioners. It is 1o surprise that the commitiee
reported favorably. That congress concurred is’shown by the Lt
that the only debate stirred by the bill, read first on October 51,
1837, was over a name for the new county. The sponsors b
mitted the name Independence: Pawrick C. Jack of Brizonia e
quested that their choice be struck from the measure and 1hao
the name Fannin, in honor of James Walker Fannin, he used
instead. Over Dr. Rowlett’s protest Jack's motion carvied on the
third reading, and the proposcd political unit, with President
Houston's endorsement, became a reality on December 1. 1837,

As its first representative the sparse population ol Fannin Coun
ty eclected Holland Coffee, a merchant who, with “Tennesscan
Silas Colville, operated a wrading post on Red River approat
mately eleven miles northwest ol present day Denison. ‘lesas.:
Detractors and romanticists of recent vears have used shonsh
contrasting colors in depicting the carly Texas entreprencur. and
apparently both groups have some justification.

Holland Coffee, born on August 15, 1807,2 to Ambrose and
Mildred (Moore) Coffee, was descended from Edward and Ann
(Powell) Coffee who lived in Essex County, Virginia, in the
carly eighteenth century.* A grandson of Edward, Ambrose Coffee
left Virginia with relatives and friends to live for a time in the
western counties of North Carolina. Notable in this group besides
the Coffees were the Moores and the Hayes—John Coffee (Jack)
Hays, the noted Texas Ranger captain, was a relative of the Col-
fees. It cannot be proven that in mmoving west Ambrose lived in
Warren County, Tennessce, but since several of his children were
there,* it seems that the McMinnville vicinity mav have heen
home, at least briefly, for the restless pioneer. After Ambrose's
death in 1818, Holland and Christopher Greenup, only survivine
child of Ambrose’s second marriage in 1812, probably went 1o
McMinnville o live.

In wraveling to the Arkansas Texas area over a decade larer
Holland Coffee was associated with 2 group of Warren ¢y

Page 45
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Holland Coffee of Red River

residents,® a fact which indicates that he began his migration to
Texas from that section rather than from Wayne and Pulaski
counties in Kentucky where his father lived the last several yvears
of his life. The exact date ol the party's departure from Tennessce
is not recorded. But George Strother Gaines, who in the lall of
1830 led a small company of Choctaws to the Indian Tervitory 1o
choose Jands for the relocation of the tribe west of the Mississippi.
reported that while in camp on the south bank of the Arkinsas
River near Fort Smith, Arkansas, he purchased supplies from
Coftee and Colville, traders.” In 1843, at the head ol a party ol
lorty trappers, Coffee explored trade possibilities to the southwest
and in rapid succession sct up posts, the first of which was in
present-day Tillman County, Oklahonma, while the other 1we
were to the east near Red River in what are presently Love and
Cotton counties.’

Another report on Holland Colfee in the Red River ares cone
from James Bowie, who wrote: .

Natches  August sid, 18y,

Mr. Henry Rueg .
Jele Politico of Nacodoches District - r. ' -

Sir 1 have made my tour through the Judian villages and make

this my report. The Shawnces were all in a_drunken frollich whih .

I learned before reaching them and did not cul on them, I then

went to Big Mushes village where I found him and all of his people
drinking and dancing waited on them one day to get sober but
they did not and I then proceded to Bowls village which I found
in good disposition he called his War chiefs and councelors togeather
and after a consel with them agreed to go himself and all his men
on the Proposed campaign, and immediately despatched his couriers
to all the Cherokees and Shawnees to meet at his house in four
days from today in order to march with me, it is necessary to state
to you the information I received today which has caused me to
change my former intended rout and ask your cooperation and aid,
I learned from Matthew Sims who lives high up on the trinity
river and has come direct from Robins ferry he states that the
troops from Austins collony say two hundred and fifty has all
marched and last Tusday united at the head of the Navasota which
it is impossible for us to overtake by going that rout. Mr. Sims
also informs me that one of the Chickasaw Indians who live with
the Kichies come from Hall's Trading house with him to Robins
ferry told him on the way that all the Wacoes Tewackanees and
Towakees and some of the Comanches has assembled near Colfees
trading house above the cross timbers on Red River, and Colffee
has advised them to go to the interior and kill Mexicans and bring
their horses and mules to him and he would give them a fair price
for them and further states that a short time since a party of
Towachanoes came to Coffees Trading house [rom a trip to Colorado
and informed him that they killed and robbed some Americans
Mr. Coffees answer was all well and to proceed with the business,
he would protect them and give them market for their plunder
and also stated that Coffec had for his protection at his house two
hundred of that class of Indians and twenty-five white men, this
is corroborated by a Chickasaw who was in the Battle when John
Williams was killed. he came t0 Bowls day before yesterday on a
mission {rom the Keechies Wacoes Towocones and Comanches, pro-
posing a treaty between them and the Cherokees which was not
accepted by them. I wish you to take every step in your power
to put a check to this abuse and recommend you to raise filty or
more men to join with the Cherokees and Shawnees and proceed
immediately 1o Colifees neighborhood on Red River where we shall
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Hollaud Coffee of Red River

find the enemy and probably fall in with the party of Americans
that has gone out (rom the other Colonies. The Cherokees are
anxious that you should send with them as many of the Mexicans
that live in Nacogdoches as you can—for more of the particulars
[ refer you to Doctor Mitcherson who will bear this
Yours with Respect
James Bowier

A more direct report on Coffee’s activities belore he can b
identified definitely with Red River-Fannin Cotunty history s
found in a letter from his partner, Silas Colville. On il e,
1837, from Walnut Bayou, Pawnee Nation, he wrote,

Mr. Coffee & myself have made a visit to the Indian Villases
and found them very much alarmed. Some Quawpaw Indians b
told them we were coming with a strong lorce 10 muke wir o
them on account of Some Texans they had killed and sote Prisoncrs
they had among them. We ransomed lowr American Prisoncrs, o
Woman and child and wo Boys waken from the Colovudn in lesas
We gave them to understand that our business was 1o 11l darony
them and live at peace But that we could not b (uite Spectitons

to their outrages on ‘lexas. “Io this they made no reply a1 do -

not know what the result may be but | hope Lavorablé, We Ten
of one other prisoner among them which we intemd to have, We
are about thirty strong and we think that & sufficient force tee e
either offensive or Defensive.”

Tivo months later, Holland Collee boughe Lind in what s nres
eatly Grayson County, ‘lexas. Because ol subsequent evenes
description of the tract is interesting,

Texas Red River, Sept. 28 1837

Know all men by these presents that | George Ivey o) Red Riyey
District has bargained sold and delivered unto Mollane! ¢
my right title interest and claim tw an improvement long on e
south side of Red River near the junction ol the Faue sl
on the Place (7) George Ivey now lives embracing the provdesy o
holding one league of land the right whereol | warrant aimt i T
from the daim or claims of UTEY DETSON OF PCISONS 10 copstdor gy
of the sum of three hundred and ity Dolliys.

.t .3'('(' .l.'!

Also in 1837, John Hart and his partners, James S0 Baler !
William R. Baker, leid claim to land in the SAIe stciiy . A e
a dispute rose, Hart insisted that he and the Bakers Lot shoee
cabins on the land, cleared and cultivared four acres, then leased
the place o John F. Moody, who abandoned the pPropesiy wiehuong
warning. Hart said that on Moody's departure Holband Coee
took possession. Also he claimed that he fud Bastl Cason surses
the land but that Daniel Montague, the commny survevor, wenty!

not enter Cason's papers as being official. Hart brought suit
against Coffee, and during the proceedings court and litigants
adjourned to the site of the dispute, but the plaintiff lost. Later
the argument was rencwed when Hart met Silas Colville at War-
ren, and in the fight which ensued Hart was killed.'* On Qctober
20, 1841, Martin D. Hart, son of John Hart, filed suit again,
claiming 1,014 acres of Coffee's land, but he, too, lost.

To his brother-in-law, Dr. John Steele Young, secretary of state
for Tennessee, Silus Colville wrote from Shawneetown, Texas, on

July 1o, 1842:
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The affair between Capt John Hart and myself took place about
the first of May 41, in which I acted on the defensive and Hart
fell, a Victim a misguided and overbearing disposition. The rela-
tives of Hart in this Country are numerous and they partake a
good deal of the disposition of the unfortunate Decd. They are a
Tawless Set and have always carried their points by violence. Since
the affair between their leader and myself they have watched my
path for an opportunity to assassinate me up to the time of my
wrial, since which time their anger has greatly subsided. Public
opinion was so much in my favor that it seems to have cowed them.

My trial took place on the 1st Monday of May last. _]udg? Tervell.
formerly a lawyer of “Tennessce but a Native of S. Carolina, pre-
sided. The trial was short but created a great deal of excitement.
The friends of both parties were on the Court yard Armed :u.ul
equipt (not according to Law but according to custom). The Vcrfllct
of the Jury and the Judg of the Court and the warm congratulations
of the Spectators who were anxiously awaiting the Issue proclaimed

me Justifiable. . )
[ ‘am now on my little Farm attending to my pigs and poultry,

in good Health with fine prospects of a plentiful crop., [ shall
close by adding that Holland Coffee, who was here since 1 com-
menced writing, sends his friendly. regards to you.? .

In 1840, Coffee and Colville divided the property which they
held jointly, each taking an equal shave.”* Sirice the division took
place the year following Coffee’s marriage, it is possible that the
entrance of a third party affected the business relationship. Tt
seems, however, that they remained friends, for while in Nacog-
doches on January 10, 1843, Coffee appeared before Chiel Justice
Hart and designated Colville his legal attorney.**

The exact nature of Holland Coflee’s relationship to the woman
he married. Mrs, Sophia Aughinbaugh, prior to Februarv, 180,
is still unknown. Sophia, the second child of William and L
(Taylor) Suttenfield, had been born at recently re-established!
Fort Wayne, Indiana, about December 3, 1815. On July 1, 1845,
before she reached her eighteenth birthday, she marvied lese
Augustine Aughinbaugh, who headed the “County Seminan”
that year.* It seems, however, that he may have lelt teachmg 1o
enter business, for a year alter his marriage the local newspane
carried an advertisement lor ], A, Aughinbaugh and Company,
druggists.”* A reccipt which Prolessor Aughinbiaugh gave Panon
Brackenridge for payment of tuition and “Stove rent, luel Xa”
shows that the writer was a good pennumn, and spelled ad o
phered correctly—attributes somcetimes lacking in the Trontie
pedagogue.*

At Nacogdoches, Texas, on July 8, 1835, entry paperns were
made out to “Jesse Augustine Aughinbaugh™ stating that he i
a man of good morals and customs, devoted 1o the constitnnion
and the laws of peace, and of the Christan religion, ol the state
of matrimony and generally known as a good muan™" Fleven

days later Jorge Amonio Nixon, land commissioner for the Mex-
ican government, certified that the erstwhile professor-drugsis
from Fort Wayne had acquived one league of Land m the gram
of Joseph Vehlin.® The land lay east of the Trintey River i whie
is presently Houston County. For nineteen vears the tile b
undistirbed. On May 170 1854, 10 was sold by w avantor who
stated that he was “late ol Sun Patrtcio County™ and miade Tos N
in the name Jose Anzustine Anghinbaegh=
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Apparently time and advertisy left Jesse Aughinbaugh withow

further note, but a bill of sale dated February g, 1838, gives a
clue to Sophia’s whereabouts. It reads

Know all men by these presents, that I, John Rogers of Fort
Smith, for and in consideration of the sum of eight hundred dollars
to me in hand paid, the receipt of which I do hereby acknowledge
to have received to my full satisfaction.

Have this day bargained, sold and delivered unto Sophia Coffee,
late of Texas, a negro man named Lewis, aged about twenty years.
I do hereby warrant same negro man to be slave for life, and sound
in body and mind, and I do also warrant the title of said slave 10
the said Sophia Coffee, her heirs and assigns, against all legal claims
whatsoever.

In testimony whercof I have hereunto set my hand and seal this
the third day of February 1838.

John Rogers=

There has been much speculation as to how and when Sophia
took the name Coffee. Perhaps. as she said, Jesse deserted her, and
after awhile she assumed that he was dead or out-of her life per-
manently. In those days of fluid or non-éxistent marsinge laws
she and Coffee probably went through some kind of ceremony
which they felt met the demands of society but was found later
to have no legal standing. The arrangement was either unsatis-
factory or Jesse reappeared, however, for on July 23, slightly more
than five months after “Mrs. Sophia Coffee, late of Texas,” had
purchased a slave in Forc Smith, Arkansas. Sophia Aughinbaugh
was back in Houston, Texas. There she appeared before Judge
James W. Robinson of the District Court to start proceedings
lor a divorce with the lollowing presentation.

Republic of “Texas Sophia Aughinbuugh
County of Harris vs
Jesse AL Aughinbaagh
In Chambers, July o5, 1848

Whereas Sophia Aughinbaugh, the plainuff in the aboe case.
hath this day filed her petition before the Judge James W. Rob-
inson, one of the judges of the District Court of the Republic of
Texas; and she having shown to the satisfaction of the Judge alore-
said, that the defendant Jesse A. Aughinbaugh resides out of the
jurisdiction of this court.

Therefore, it is ordered by the Judge, that the Clerk of the Distrro
Court for the County of Harris, make publication ol s order,
in some public newspaper printed in the city of Houston for six
weeks previous to the next term of the District Court, 1o he holden
in and for the county of Humis. at the comnrt house therent, m 1w
City of Houston, on the ‘fifth Monday alter the fomrth Monday
October next’ ensuing; then and there 1o answer the petition of t4e
said Sophia Aughinbaugh, there exhibited against him, o the e
ters and things therin contained, will be taken pro confesso. aud 1he
decree granted as prayed for.

Hon. J. W. Robinson-:

Holland Coftee was not with Sophia lor the procecdings, fo
ever, for on the “2nd day of August. 1838, he “appeared hetore
us the Board of Land Commissioners Tor the County ol Fane
and proved according to law that he arrived in this Connny oe
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vious to the declaration ol mn s
and.

man and entitled to one thivd of a League of 1 ! .
The “matters and things” mentioned in Sophia’s peatton

. e )
fore Judge Robinson were not disposed of by that cout. m

W8 she asain requested a divoce Trom Jese
November 29, 1848, she again requeste A
Third Congress of 1he Repubin

Aughinbaugh by petition o the L
of Texas, in which Holland Coffce represented the new Coun
whli 1Y .
of Fannin.?* The “select” commitiee o whom the plea was 1
¢ ’ L R . . IR “
ferred reported in [avor of the petitioner. On the first yeac
A. B. Sweitzer of Gonzales moved tor rejection and wis suppotiee
by a vote of sixteen to fourteen. . o |
The Texas Homestead Exemption law, unique of its Kind e
- 1 . : g . b,
desirned to serve generations of Texans, came up lov consieess
" 3 .
rion during the fight over the granung of the
ared with the exaoment sner the

divorce, bhut 1t oe
ated slight interest as comp |
issue of Sophia’s frecdom.” On Janiary 15, 1830, however, e
teenth century liberalism and the personal influence of Conzres
man Coflee appurcmlv shilted sentimeént, and, with .\u;}uph.mg'»
i ' : otesting, “the Senaté md Heouse of Repre
still absent and unprowesung,

s of the Republic of Texas m Congress assembled™ vitlee

senanve
that “Sophia Aughinbaugh and Jesse A. Aughinbaugh be, and
they are hereby declared to be forever divorced, and each party is
hereby declared to be free to act in everything as though they
had never been married.”?®

In support of that generous verdict Washington County mar-
riage records show that Coffee purchased a license for himself and
Sophia Suttenfield. But acknowledgment was omitted from the
notice in the Telegraph and Texas Register, on February 20, 1849,
which read: “MARRIED—In Washington county on the 19th
ultimo, by Lusk, Esq., the Hon. Holland Coffee. late
member of congress from Red River, to Mrs. Sophia Aughin-
baugh, late of Houston.” It scems the groom’s gift to his bride
may have been land, for an instrument dated October 11, 1838,
carried a notation by James Whiteside, acting for the estate ol
Peter Andre, “who was eligible for 1/4 league of land,” that at
“Independence, Febr. 183g—For value received I transfer this
certificate to Mrs. Sophia Coffee the day and date above. James
Whiteside. Attest: Holland Coffee.”"*

Possibly James Whiteside was a cousin of Coffee. Elizabeth,
one of the two sisters of Ambrose Coffee, married Robert White-
side, and their first son was called James. Another son, Jonathan,
had a son, James A., who was born in 1803, four years prior to
Holland's birth. In addition, there are records that members of
the family came to Texas—Jenkin Whiteside, United States Sen-
ator from Tennessee, 180g-1811, among them.**

Immediately after their marriage Holland Colfee took Sophia
by way of Nacogdoches to his trading station on “Texas Red
River.” The post, on the oviginal Chihuahua Trail, was situated
at the top of a hill east of Sand Springs.™ Near by was Rock Blufl,
crossing for the notorious “Whiskey Tiail.” The ford was popular
because the cut through the steep bluff made a natural chute
for herding animals into the viver. Further prestige was given
Coffee’s home site when Colonel William (6. Cooke laid out the
military voad in X10 with a terminus on Red River just above

Page 50



3 T3 —/3 T3 T3

3 3

oo B Bl B

—3

-1

Holland Cofjee of Red River

the trading house. That route became the Texas or Preston Road.,
which for several years served as a main artery for trathe moving
north and south trom Cenural Texas, In 1845, Coffee’s Bend was
the most populous section of present-day Grayson County: the
town of Preston was laid off adjacent 1o the post; and “Regaban
boats were run up Red River as far as Fort Towson, and at times
came up to Preston.”™ Thus Preston became head of naviganon,
though the service was uncertain because of the varying leve! ol
the river.
Holland and Sophia Coffee set up housckeeping in o ten oot
square clapboard house, which was protected by a high stochade,
100 feet square. The furnishings were scant and homemade, Y
in telling of her new home Sophia declared that she was “ihe
happiest woman in Texas,”™
With cheerful domesticity brightening what had been Ja??
bachelor quarters, Coftee must have been tempted 10 remain
home. But just two months and ten days alter his mariiazge, he
turned his back on the telicitous and departed at the bead of
troop of fifty men to try to effect peace with the Indians who
had harrassed the settlers during his service in the Vhivd Con
gress. There is no account of Snphi;:'s objecting, to her hushand's
early leave-taking, but the Tact that he was away much ol 1he
time during their seven years, or more, ol married lite tng Masve
contributed o the less happy state which apparently develope!
in their later years together.
It seems that Coffee was uniquely suited o a career in rrading
with the red men of the Southwest. Reputedly he spoke seven
Indian dialects and wis an effective mediator hetween thospiea
ble natives and encroaching white men. Doubtless some members
of the party under his leadership on April 2. 1840, would hae
preferred making a punitive expedition, but he brought 1he neo
groups to peaceful settlement.
In May, 1841, after renewed hostilities, & company oty
eighty men gathered it Choclaw Bayou, between Cotfee’s siarivm
and Warren, and marched westward in search of the misc hievons
Indians. The destination wis the rumored site of villages on rhe
west fork of the Trinity. Coffee and Colville, rode with the party
for several days, but turned back before the Indians were con-
tacted.”? In his twelve years along Red River, dealing with both
[riendly and wild red men, there is no account of Coffee sustaining
personal harin from his primitive clientele. Nor were his prem-
ises molested except one time when a small party came about
dawn and removed three pickets from the stockade then fled
when a Negro servant began to grind coffee in preparation for
breakfast. It was believed that theft was the objective.™

Other evidence that Coffee trod the tight wire of [rontier
diplomacy successfully is revealed in his prosperity. In the years
subsequent to his purchase of the league of land from George
Ivey he acquired several other tracts, making him one of the
major property owners in the arca. In 1843, he built what was
to be the show place of North Grayson County for many years.

The evolution of the house is so enshrouded by the mists of
time that form and sequence are uncertain. Some claim that
originally it was a single story, double log cabin sevle residence:
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others insist that from the beginning it was two-story, exactly as
many people in the area remember it, except that siding on the
front rooms was added later. possibly when the brick dining
room-kitchen wing with its wine cellar® was built. But whatever
the order of change, it remained a place of distinguished appear-
ance for more than fifty years. Its wide-spreading roof swept out
front and back to shelter hospitable porches which ran the full
length of the house, upstairs and down. The supporting posts
were slender after the fashion of French colonial architecture,
and between them across the front of the house there was white
arille work trim which featured, in the angle of post and plate,
the indigenous design of a catamount rampant. On the first floor
a wide hall separated parlor and dining room; on the second floor
a like passageway gave entrance to the blue, or guest bedroom, to

the north and to the master bedroom to the south, Holland Cat-
fee knew the pleasure of his handsome home for only three yeans,
but Sophia lived there, through troublous and fair times, unul
her death in 18¢7. She added much to the beauty of the plice by
having fine furniture brought in by ox wagon Irom Jellendn,
and by supervising luxurious planting on the spacious grounds.

But Coffee’s prosperity was not without blemish: he wis nagged
by debt, possibly from over-extending himself in buying land ind
slaves. The following record seems to indicate such circumstances.

Jackson, Mississippi
October 27, 18435

I hereby agree to pay over to Thomas ]. Collee cither in progp
erty or money one half I may collect from William McDanicl
against whom I have instituted suit for twenty-one negroes in Nacog-
doches, upon claims due the said Thomas J. Coffce while the sand
suit to be deducted from my hall.

I further agree to pay the said Thos. J. Coffee the value of the
three negroes I received from him in 1830, viz, Abram, 1 estimate s
worth S$700, Isaac as $750, and Dicy at 3450.

I further agree to pay the said Thomas J. Colfee fourteen hundred
and filty dollars with interest being paid for mysell and Silas Col-
ville. Febr. 1, 1847.

1 further agree to pay him the sum of two hundred dollirs with
inuwest he lent me in 18j0. I further agree to hold for his own
a tract of land purchased from James Perkins—which wact was
received in liguidation of a debt on the said Thomas }. Coflee the
date above written.

Given my hand and seal’?

On December 7, 1847, Sophia made two notes 1o Thomas !
Coffee. each for $1.058. Since that is the first mention of her
assuming responsibility for the indebtedness, it seems that Hol-
land may have repaid the major portion before his death.

Information about Holland Coftee’s political views is vague,
but in the Republic of Texas opinion, for the greater part, wok
one of two directions: it was [or Houston or against him, Indr-
cations are that Coffee was not of the Houston camp. On Novem:
ber 7, 1838, chresem:uive Coffee offered a resolution requesting
inquiry into Houston's authority in appointing a commission to
run a boundary line setting aside certain sections of land for the
Cherokees. The resolution was passed and Coffee was named to the
commission.”® On the [ollowing December 10, Coffee was among
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the congressmen who voted against a motion to thank Houston
for the able manner in which he had served as president.””

In addition to carrying on trade with the Indians in his area,
Coffee acted as provisioner and guide for various groups, the
largest of which was Jacob M. Snively’s expedition against the
Mexican trade caravan in 1843.** With his usual caution Coffee
accompanied this ill-advised band only part way to its goal, thus
escaping the ignomy of capture and loss of arms which befell the
bold adventurers. .

Another expedition which Coffee serviced was that of Indian
Agent Pierce Butler, a former governor of South Carolina. But-
ler, much concerned over rumors that white women and children
were being held captive by Indians in Texas, crossed Red River
on January 8, 1846, and camped at Coffee’s station.® J. W. Wash-
burne of the Arkansas Intelligencer reported that “Our company
was a motley one—Governor, Colonel, Judges, Chiefs, one gen-
tleman traveller, whites, Cherokees, Seminoles, Choctaws, Span-
iards, et al., besides my humble self of Editing character. We
were quite an agreeable crowd.”* On February 20, they were at
Comanche Peak, in present-day Hoed -County..and “Colonel
Coffee, contractor to furnish supplies, arrived with word that
messengers sent out to find Comanches to invite them to the
peak had returned unsuccessful.”*

James Bowie was not alone in reporting ill of Coffee. One of
his contemporaries wrote that *Jonathan, with a Delaware colored
man, Jack, passed Coffee’s with 60 horses which he knew had
been stolen by the Comanches.”? On November 1, 1837, the

House Standing Committee on Indian Affairs recommended that
“Coffee’s trading house should be suppressed, or placed under
the survilance of this Government, . In the summer ol
1842, someone disliked him cnough to fire on him from a thiche
as he rode near Dagley's Landing. The bullet went through Lo
breasts of his coat without injuring him.* :

But there were others who had high regard for Trader Collee.,
At the close of the Third Congress, Coffee returned 1o his post
on Red River by way of Fort Warren in present-day Fannin
County. In the two or three days he rested there he heard repatis
on harassment by the Indians and “promised to use all of lus
prestige with the savages in an effort to establish peace wuh
them. No sooner had he reached his trading post than Collee
raised a party of men and set out to hold a series of peace parlevs
with the Indians. His negotiations proved entivelv snccess
ful .. . Later when white settlers along the western honne
were anxious to have capable. honest men estiblish irading st
tions among the Indians as a means of keeping peace, the naders
most frequently mentioned as models in promoting goad 1ol
tions hetween the two races were the Torrey brothers on the
Brazos and Holland Coffee on Red River.

On April 6, 1836, a small party ol eleven men, two wonen,
and three children was attacked by Indians on the San Panicia
road in South Texas. Nine of the men were Killed, inchiding
John Horn, husband of one of the women: and Mys. Horn, he
two small sons, Mrs. Harris, and her threemonth-old daughees
were cirried off. Alter months of wandering, duving whieh s,
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Harris' baby was killed, the little Horn ‘boys were sent off with
Im other Indians, and the women subjected to extremely cruel trew-
ment, the party came in contact with some of Coffee’s men whn
. tried to ransom the women. The Indians refused. After assuving
!m the captives that “if anyone could assist . he [Coffec] conld
‘ and would,” the men reporied to Coffee. OF his effores o e
them Mrs. Horn said:

He expressed the deepest concern at his disappointment and
wept over me as he gave me clothing and divided his scanty supply
of tlour with me and my children, which he took the pains to
™ carry to them himsell. Tt is, i possible with deeper interest that
I record this tribute of gratitude to Capt. Coffee because, since my
deliverance, 1 have been pained Lo learn that he has been charged
with supineness and indifference on the subject, but I assure the

]
reader that nothing can be more unjust. Mrs. Harris was equally
the object of his solicitude. The meeting of this friend in the deep
recesses of savage wilds was indeed like water to a thirsty soul.*

ol

To that tribute John Henry Brown added, “the noble-hearted
gentleman thus embalmed in the pure heart of that daughter of
sorrows, was Holland Coffee, the founder of Coffee’s Trading .
House, on Red River, a few miles apove Denison: He was a
member of the Texian Congress in 1838, .a valuable and coura-
geous man on the frontier.”™"

Tivice the Texian congress voted to reimburse Coffee for ex-
pense incurred in ransoming white settlers from Indians. In
November, 1837, for example, the Second Congress adopted a

T3 T3

r‘ joint resolution to pay Holland Coffee $6g1.* possibly for the
four Americans whom Silas Colville mentioned in his letter of
July 24, 1837. The Third Congress, on January 19, 1839, repeated

T3

the gesture by granting 3661 to Holland Coffee and Company.*
That occurred four days after Sophia won her divorce from Jessc
Aughinbaugh and exactly one month before she and Coffee were
married at Independence, which, in view of her taste for clegant
living, was a fitting time for him to recoup his finances.
Although wills were not common on the frontier during the

13

f"’m

! westward migration of ebullient young America, Holland Coffee
made a bequest early in his married life. That instrument, dated
May 7, 1841, simply stated that all of his possessions, beyond any

indebtedness he might have, were to go to his “beloved wife,
Sophia,” whom he named to serve as executrix without bond.*
At Fort Washita on May 17, 1846, he made a codicil to this

will, declaring that

be.ing apprehensive that surrounding circumstiances may soon ter
minate my life, and desirous of making this a part of e lotegomy,
will and not having said testament now with me at this pt.uhv "
quire that my wife Sophia shall be the exccutrix of my above spuectin
will ':md that she shall be qualificd by court without heing 1cyuned!
to give any security or enter into any bond whatsoever.>!

3 3

T3 3

It seems, however, that the circumstances of which he win
apprehensive did not develop immediately. It is impossible 1o
say \Yhether the threat lingered or whether fresh difficuliv arose,
but it was mid-autumn when Chickasaw agent Upshaw veported
| to his superior in Washington that “On . October fivst, at the
r‘ store of James Galloway at Preston, Col. Holland Coflee engaged!

3



™/ Holland Coffee of Red River Page 55

in a fight with C. A. Galloway who killed Coffee with & bowie
knife.”*> A newspaper account of the incident, which appened
on October 10, recorded that

on the first inst., a recounter took place in Grayson County, between
Colonel Holland Coffee, well known as one ol the carliest tadens
with the Indians, on the waters of Red River, and Mr. Chas, A
Galloway, a merchant, resident of Waushita Post. Col. Colfee 1 sind
1o have received some stabs which proved mortal. We have not tall
particulars.

The deceased, was a man warmly esteemed by a large cile ot
friends, and noted for great frankness and natural nobleness o
character. Though a long time resident upon the Tudian border he
was remarkable for the considerate kindness of fecling mote ordi
narily attendant upon refined society. He was a warm friend und
true hearted gendeman, and fell in a mater nearly concerminyg his
honor. His loss will be greatly lamented.®

3 —3 ~—3

3 T3

There is little mention of contact between Coffee and Gallo:
way, including nothing that shows cause for [riction between
them. On March 20, 1846, Colfee sold lots @ and 7 in Bonham
10 Galloway.** About that time or a little later Eugenia Cotlee,
) daughter of Holland's brother, George Washitgron Coffee, ol
Jackson, Mississippi, arrived and on'May 13, she and Galloway
were married. An excerpt from a letter wrinten several yeas latet
™ gives some detail of the event.

3

My mother Eugenia Elizabeth Coffee of Jackson, Mississippi—in-
vited to visit her uncle, General Holland Coffee and his wife Sophia
™ —met Charles Ashton Galloway on a visit ... he and my mother
! married after a short courtship. My mother was 14 and Mr. Gallo-

way was 28. They were the parents of three sons and one daughter
“ inside six years. Sons were: 1. George Washington Coffee Galloway
]-" 2. Charles Ashton Galloway §. Alex David Galloway. Daughter was
Virginia Lee Galloway.’
rﬁ)

A final newspaper comment on the disastrous clash between
these frontier citizens throws no light on the cause.

Grayson District Court—MTr. Charles A. Galloway, who was charged
= with the murder of Col. Coffee, has, we are informed been acquitted
1 by public sentiment. It seems there were several witnesses of the act,
' and it was so clearly a case of self defense in the last extremity,

that the grand jury could find no bill.
™ We are told that Mr. Galloway is universally considered blameless
| for his conduct throughout the difficulty, and in the final act which

terminated so fatally and unfortunately. We are gratified to find that
the case bears this character.’®

Thus it seems Coffee was the aggressor and justice was served
in the release of Galloway. But there was a note of sadness in the
report. Taken. with the tribute paid Coffee in the obituary no-
tice, it seems that the writer's chief feeling was one of regret that
two good men had been caughe up in a conflict that allowed no
compromise,

3
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'Rex W, Strickland, “History of Funnin County, Tesas, a836 081" Sowtceste o
Historical Quarterly, XXXII, 274, 274, 2gH.

*Jesse Coflee (brother) Family Bible,

*Ameng the five children mentioned in Edward’s will, probated in 1716, was John
who married Jane Graves. James, one of the nine children born of that union, took
as his wife Elizabeth Cleveland, a daughter of Alexander Cleveland, whose rela-
tive (brother or uncle) marricd Martha Coffee, a sister of John Coffee. John and

Martha (Coffee) Cleveland were the piurents of Colonel Benjamin Cleveland, thus

making Colonel Clevelund doubly related to Ambrose, son of James and Elizabeth

and father of Hollund Coffee. Hollund’s mother was a daughter of Jesse Moore of

Virginia and North Carolina.

Of the nine children of Ambrose and Mildred, 1wo besides Holland are known to
have lived in Texas. Afier residing for a time in Hinds County, Mississippi, Thomas
Jeflerson Colfee, who married Malinda Graves Williams Haley, came to Brazoria
County, Texas, where he operated a large plantation until his death in 1858,
America, a sister of Holland and Thomas ]., married Samuel Lusk of Buncombe
County, North Carolina, and Warren County, Tennessee. The Lusks moved first to
Alabama and then 1o Texas, where they settled in Austin’s colony as early as 1835.
Descendants of that family still live in Washington Counsy.

Elizabeth Coffee, another sister of Holland, married George Washington Jewell,
who built and operated the Indian Queen Hotcl in McMinnville, Tennessee. Jewell
raised a company and came 1o Texas 10 assist in the war agaihst Mexico in 1836,
but arrived after the battle of San Jacinto. Elizabell died in. Warren, County. in
1843, and her husband died in North ‘Texas in 1348. Apparently brought to Texas
by her father, Mary Elizabeth Jewell made her home with Holland and Sophia
Coffee and continued in the household afier Sophia’s marriage to Major George
N. But.

Also the Ambrose Coffee fumily had ac¢ least one cousin in Texas. Mrs. Thomas
J. Rusk was the former Mary (Polly) Cleveland, a granddaughter of “Mad” John
Cleveland, son of Colonel Ben and Mary (Graves) Cleveland. Although they were
not in Texas, other cousins of prominence were Mrs. C. J. McDonald, wife of a
governor of Georgia, and Jesse Franklin, who fought through the North Carolina
campaigns with his uncle, Colonel Ben Cleveland, then served in various lesser
civil offices before he was elected governor of the state in 1820,

Genealogical data on the Coffee family collccted by Don Ruth Coffee Merrirt,
Dallas, Texas; Lyman C., Draper, Kings Mountain and Its Heroes (Cincinnati,
1881), 425: Northern Standard (Clarksville), June 24, 1848; Lyon G. Tyler (ed)),
Encyclopedia of Virginia Biography (5 vols; New York, 1915), 11, 347.

‘Both America and Elizabeth Collee were in Warren County, ‘Tennessee. Mg,
their sister, married William Edinondson and lived there until her deaths 1
Jesse Colfee, oldest of the children of Ambrose and Mildred, married Ann Hackent,
and in 1825 built what is preseatly known as the Black home at Boi West Marn
Street, McMinnville, Tennessee, Elisabeth Wheeler Francis and Frhel Sivley A,
Lost Links (Nashville, 1945) , 156; Jean Young Leonard, Brealgreat oeee ab ot
Coffee’s partner Silas Colville, to A.J.M. and G.M., February -, bz (MNan eos
session of the writers).

8Ibid.

*Grant Foreman, Indian Removal (Norman, RTINS

"Strickland, “History of Fanuin County, Texas, RO N4 Notth eateay M
torical Quarterly, XXXHI, 267-268.

"lexas Collection  (Stephen F. Aunstin State College) .

*Silas Cheek Colville 10 Jane Colville Youryy, fuly =y, 1843
Jean Young Leonard, New York, New York).

Porter Lstate Papers Sherman Public Librov, stictnian) .

Y L T PR

"Paris News, June 17, 1921.

MSilas Colville to John Steele Young, July 10, 1842 (MS. in possession of Jean
Y. Leonard, New York, New York).

“Fannin County Deed Records (MS., County Clerk's Office, Bonham), B, 1.

YPorter Estate Papers (Sherman Public Library, Shenman) .

*Bert J. Griswold, The Pictorial Itistury of Fort Wayne (Chicago,
“ibid,

YIbid,

Texas Collection (Stephen F. Austin State Collegey .
UConveyance (General Land Oflice, Austing |
“Record at Houston County Abstract Otiee, Crahett,

II,I“,‘) P (LA
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a)\Mauie Davis Lucas and Mita Holsapple Hall, 4 History of Grayson County,
Texas (Sherman, 1936), 37.

=Telegraph and Texas Register (Houstn), July 26, 1843,

=Conveyance (General Land Olfice, Austiny. The title was pot cleared unnl s

s§trickland, “History of Fannin County, lexas, tH30-1844." Sunthawestern Ha
torical Quarterly, XXXII1, 2g3. - )

23 ena London. “The Initial Homestead Exemption in Tesas” thad  EATE gy

2*H. P. N. Gammel, The Laws of Texas, 1822-18y97 (10 vols.; Austin, 18¢8), 11, 45.

*Porter Estate Papers (Sherman Public Library, Sherman).

#Genealogical data on Whiteside tamily supplied by Harriet Reams. McMinn-
ville, Tennessee.

*Dallas Morning News, July t4, 1929.

% ucas and Hall, 4 History of Gravson Cuounty, Texas, Go.

BBella F. Swisher (ed.), The Ameiican Sketch Book, ¥, wtig-ang,

Strickland. “History of Fannin County, “lexas, 18361848, Southwestern flis-
torical Quarterly, XXXIII, 41.

*Elizabeth Lucas and Christine Wall. “Preston Bend’s Paul Revere Was a Lady,”
Dallas Morning News, July 14, 192g.

*Ibid. A favorite of the local stories concerning Sophia Coflee is that during the
Civil War she tured a troop of Fuderal scouts into the cellar, where they soon forgot

their rehel-minded hostess. She mounted i mule. swam Red River, and warned
Southern troops ut Fort Washita in time for them 1o escape,

**Porter Estate Papers (Sherman Public Library: Sherman) . While the sghature”
on this note has been torn off. probably in handling, other papers—such as the

purchase of Abram, Isaac. and Dicy—indicate that it is a valid agrecinent b
Holland Coffee. )

¥Journal of the House of Representatives of the Republic of Texas, Regular
Session of Third Congress, Nov, 5, 1838 (Houston, 1839), 28.

*71bid., 133.

*Lucas and Hall, 4 History of Grayson Cuunty, Texas, 58.

"*Grant Foreman, Advancing the Frontier (Norman, 1933), 177.

‘o1bid,

S1bid.

$ibid., 138.

SJournal of the House of Representatives of the Republic of lexas, Caiied Ses
sion of September 25, 1837 (Houston, 1838), 32,

Northern Standard (Clarksville), August zu, 83z,

“Serickland, “History of Fannin Contty, lesas, 8408448, Sonthwoio . s
torical Quasterty, XXXIII, 298,

*“John Henry Brown, Indian 1Wars and Pioneers of Texas (Austin, [18g-7])), 33.

**1bid., 34.

“Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 13358,

*lhid., U, 5q.

“Porier Estate Papers (Sherman Public Library, Sherman) .

“1bid. '

SForemun, ddvancing the Frontier, 177,

SNorthern Standard (Clarksville) , October 1o, 130

Fannin Conmuy Deed Records  MS,L Connty Clok s Ottwe. Bondon 50 -

**Letter from Mrs. E. E. McLemore, Dyass Collection (Tennessee State Archives,
Nashville) .

“*Northern Standard (Clarksville), November 28, 1846.

57



alBROSE COFPanY Faw_ Y Page 58
Lost Links, by Zlisabeth iwheeler rrancis, 1945, various pages.

T3 T3

3 T

-3

T3 3

3

- -3

T 3 3 3

3

rage b5

ALABAMA AND TEXAS
Kyle, William Rufus, m. .
Coffee, Ellen (1st. hus.), June 30, 1853

‘Tankersley, James, m.
-Kyle, Ellen (Coffee), (2nd. hus.)

“Ward, William, m.
Cqﬁee, Roxanna, Jan., 1860

Coffey, Milton Sinkler, m. (1st. wife) ' ‘ )
-Ragland, Nancy, 1845, Jefferson, Texas ( MARION Couvw7Y)

"Coffey, Milton Sinkler, m. (2nd. wif X ’
-Phillips, Elizabeth Cain, 185’(4 ) © T

"Coffey, Milton Sinkler, m. (3rd. wife)
Coffey, Mary 1., Nov. 28, 1860

. Page 9y ,
Joha Churech, of McKinney, Texa:, and wife, Julia Edmonson Coffee,
had following children: - ' : B
Church, Marion Somerville, b. March 1, 1884
Church, Thomas Arsthur, b. Oct. 28, 1885 o
/Church, Julia Morrow, married P. R. (?) Gilmer, Shreveport, La. .

e

ing children:
- Kyle, William Jefferson, b. Nov. 29, 1854 .
Kyle, Cassie, b. Sept. 2, 1856 )
-Kyle, Rufus Coffee, b. Sept. 1, 1858 .

William Rufus Kyle, of Texas, and wife, Ellen Coffee, had follow-

E————

David Haley, Knoxviﬂe, Tenn., b. 1760 (date computed from record
- in Bible of Thomas Jefferson Coffes) and wife, Eh‘nbe_th SR A

had dau., ) .
Haley, Malinda Graves Williams, b. Nov. 17, 1808, Knoxville,
_ Tema. _ B _

Fauge 108

McKINNEY, TEXAS

Seay, Cassie (Kyle), d. April 8, 1882
Kyle, William Rufus, d. March 14, 1859 _
Ward, William, died 1862 in Bacttle at Shiloh, Tenn.

Fuge 108 «ISSISSIZFI -
-Deaths of children of Aaron® Cofiee and wife, Mary Somerville
Smith: o

C"‘:. Cassie Kyle, d. Oct. 33, 1888 / Pe1551551 PP1)
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AWBROSE COFFEY FawlILY
Lost Links, by mlizabeth wheeler Francis, 1945, various pages.
Page 98

Ambmse Coffee, b. Va., settled in N. C., thence to Tenn m. (lst.
wife) Mildred Moore, in Va. (dau of Jesse Moore, and w:fe, et
Johnson, of lower part of Va.) and had followmg children (noc in
order of birth):

Coffee, Jease

- Coffee, George Washmgton

Coffee, Thomas Jefferson, b. Peb 16, 1805, BurkeCo N.C. -

Coffee, Holland (1st.), m. Sophia -..--‘! settled in Texu :

Coffee, Hiram . .

Coffee, Alice, bom in Burke Co., N. G. '

‘Coffee, America, b. Burke Co., N. C.,ma Mr Lusk tbcy had .

dau., who m. aea. ? Giddings .
Coﬁee. Mildred, b. Burke Co N.C -

Ambrose Coffee, and 2nd. wife, —-..?, had followmg chﬂdtea

-Coﬁ'ee, Christopher Greenup .
~Coffee, Emily ) ‘\.

Page 156
PULASKI COUNTY, KE.NTUCKY
Coffee, Ambrose, d. 1818 3 e

Deaths of children of Ambrose Coffee and 1st. wife, Mildred Moore:
-Coffee, Col. Holland, d. Oct. 5, 1846, in Texas
Coffee, James Madison, d. June 25, 1833, in Miss.
Coffee, Jesse, d. Feb. 11, 1835, in Tenn.
Coffee, Hiram, d. Jan. 29 1836 in Miss.
Coffee, George Washmgton. d. Mnrch 17, 1840, in Jackson, st.
Edmondson, Myra (Coffee), d. Sept. 3, 1835, in Tenn.
. Jewell, Elizabeth (Coffee), d. Jan., 1843, in Tenn. -
*. Coffece, Gen. Thos. Jefferson, d. Nov. 2, 1858, in Texa

Deaths of children of Amhrose Coffee and "2nd. wxfe, —-——=l:
Coffec, Col. Christopher Greenup, d. April 29, 1861, in Jackson,

Miss. Left dau. who died in childhood. - )

_Coffee, Emily o
fage 61
MARRIAGES
Coﬁ'ee. Thomas ]eﬂ'erson.

Haley, Malinda G. W, July 17, 1827, Boone Co., Tenn.

AVilson, James Tennison, m.
lCoﬁce. Mary_Jane, 1849, Davidson Co.. Tenn

Page 98

— ——

Coﬂ'ce. Thomas Holland, m. (1st. wife) Betty Lobdell a cousm. m.
(2nd. wife) Mrs. William Henry Kerr, nee Julia Gordon Law, of
Memphis, Tenn., and by 2nd. wife had two daus., Virginia Coffee
and Camille Coffee. Virginia Coffee, m. Paul Tietgens, Gaines-
ville, Fla. Camille Coffee, m. Malcolm F. Ewen, Evanston, .

Page 157

Loffee, Malmda Graves lelxams (Haley), d. Dec 24, 1857, Oyacr
Creek, Brazoria Co., Texas ,

Page 59
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Lost Links, by Elisabeth VWiheeler Francis, 1945, various pages.
Puge 9Y

.Aaron Coffee, of Texas, and wife, Masy Somerville Smith; had fol-
lowing children: . :
-.Coffee, Roxanna, b. Jan. 17, 1862 -
Coffee, Julia Edmondson, b. Dec. 8, 1864
Coffee, Cassie Kyle, b. Jan. 7, 1878

Page Y9

~Thomas Jefferson Coffee, of Texas, and wife, Mali '
liams Haley, had following childar:.n: e Malinds Graves Wil

Coffee, Louisa, b. Jan. 10, 1829 ,

"Coffee, Minerva Lavinia, b. April 2, 1830

Coffee, Aaron, b. Dec. 17, 1832 .

Coffee, Ellen, b. June 17, 1835

Coffee, Ambrose, b. Masrch 7, 1838

Coffee, Henry, b. Nov. 24, 1840

Coﬁee. Roxanna, b. Oct. 28, 1842

Puge 157

Deaths of children of Thos. Jefferson Coffee and wife, Malinc
G. W. Haley: T e :
Coffee, Louisa, d. Jan. 29, 1829 '
Lightfoot, Minerva Lavinia (Coffce) (Lobdcll), d. 1907
- Coffee, Aaron (no death date)
Tankersley, Ellen (Coffec), d. April §, 1866
Coffce, Ambrose, d. Aug. 2, 1859
Coffee, Henry, d. Nov. 9, 1857 .
Ward, Roxanna (Coffee), d. Aug. 22, 1860

Page Y8
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. George Washington Coffee and wife, Mary Catherine Isler (dau. of
™= Peter Isler, and wife, Mary Dromgoole, of Natchez, Miss.), had fol-
‘ lowing children: e
Coffee, Camilla, m. Prof. Rohrer; no issue g
™ Coffee, Eugenia, b. Dec. 15, 1854, Jackson, Miss., m. Alexander
; Goodridge, Norfolk, Va. They had dau., Sarah Goodridge,
who m. Emest E. McLemore, Columbia, Tenn. ’ :

n Page 159

wmjg_(%:_c‘)\; d. Nov. 13, 1901, in Miss. (wife of
Alexander Goodnidge, of Norfolk, Va.)

Bdu':ondson, James, d. Oct. 17, 1872, in Texas .

Page 157

- Deaths of children of David Haley and wife, Elizabeth ..__?:
' Haley, Elijah, d. April 1, 1810
Haley, William B., d. 1825
| Haley, Burrus, d. Sept., 1843
Haley, David W., d. Oct. 9, 1857
Haley, Sarah, d. Sept. 22, 1837
Coffec, Malinda G. W. (Haley), d. Dec. 24, 1857
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ustin Colony Pioneers, Wg.shin%ton County (TX), by Worth
published by author, austin, TX, 1949, .ages 28-29,

Pirst Settlers of Brenham

Prominent among the first settlers of the town of Brenham
were the lusks, tho came out from TennesSee, with Major Sam Lusk as
the head of the fdmily. His son Patrick H. Lusk joined the Somer-
ville Expedition, was captured with other prisoners, luckily drew one
of the rvhite deans, and through the intervention of his father's old
friend ANDREY JACKSON effected his ultimate release and his return
to Brenham, Pat Lusk is buried in the old Masonic Cemetery about a
mile from the business part of town, with his father Major Sam Lusk
and other members of the family.

* By the 3pring of the year 184 e town of Brerham hegan
to take on signs of real life vhen the JoSond building in the toan,
8 handsome hone for that period, s erected by one of the towmn Com-
missioners, Asa L. lewis*® Krs. Robert A. Hasskarl, the town's real
historisn 11933) declares that Y¥r. Lewis’s home was equipped with
glass windows, something new at the time, and which no other home

could then toast.

.Other important personages who'mede Brenham their home were
the 'two enterprising Giddings brothers, J. D. and Hon. D. C,; the
latter, Dewit Clinton Giddings, ®ho aftermards was elected to Cong-
ress from the Wachington District and served with distinction . and
honor. De C: Giddings was himself a great personality, like his bro-
ther, J« D., and the two worked together during the remainder of .
their 1ives to bring Brenham top the front.“ D: C. Giddipgs further -
solidified himself with the people of Brerham; ho were older in
point of residence by his marriage *o VALIRDA, the fair daughter of
Major Som Lusk and his wife America Coffey. Their stately mansion
on the outskirts of Brenham, reflected the social lif'e of the com-
mnity, snd there Malinda (Lusk) Giddings reigned like a queen, to
the day of her demise on-June 19, 1869. Malinda Lusk'and her sis-
ters, Xyre and Beersheba, according te Mrs. Pennington, the delight-
ful chronicler of those far flung days, were the belles of the fast
growing town and no social assemblage vas considered complete eith-
er in Brenham, Washington or Independence, without their presence.
As the {irm of GIDDINGS & GIDDINGS, Bankers, and business men, the
two brothers stood at the forefront in the building of Brenham. The
steam whistle of the *J. D. GIDDINGS® in 8 few years wcke up the
people of Brerham to the fact that the "iron horse” had arrived on
the scene and the town was no longer isolated from the rest of the
world,

-

Page 61
S. Ray,



austin Colo

A
published D Th

AuBRUSL C0s05Y Al

y author, austin, TX, 1949, Page 82,

HON, VILLLX IBSK, vensrable
Lepgtslatar, Mayer, and esitizen
of Losthm, 18 & grandson of
SERICA COFFEY, the wife of the
early Austin Colonist and pione
eor, Cole Som Luck, and soversl
yoars ogo gave the writer a copy
of tha following lestor, deesling
with the history of the Coffoy
feanily, written by RICE CQFFRY,
of Shelbyville, Tennessoe, t0 a
Jeftorson Coffey, brother af
Amsrics (Coffey) luaks:

91 renember to have soon my pe-
ternal grundfathar. His nzmo wae.
JOEN CQrFFEY. Hs was raised in
cne of the lower counties of Vae
anl 4ied in Albmarls. Ky grande
mothor's maldon name was JAND
GRAVES, and my fatbor's nzmw was
JAZS COFTEY, Hs also was raised
in ths lowor pert of Virginia &
fras thence rumoved to ESSZXK eo.
and fram thare to Aldemarle,
whore your father, AMIROSE COF-
FEY wae born in the yoar 1962.
From this county my fathar re-
mnoved to LAIRST County and hore
his children grow up to manhood.
My nottar's maiden name wes Elige
absth CLEVELAND,. My matarnal gre
father was ALFIANDER CLEVELARD.
Hy father was born in 1729 end
4ied in 1786, and bis children
.were aim sans and two dsughtors.
My brotbers were JORN, ARCHEZIAUS,
JASES, REDE, AWERQS3, XLI, JOEL
AND IXN19. They are all doad
save Ill and lswis, the first of
shax resides in Misacuri and the
ottor 1a Xentuokye. I bacars aae
quainted with your materzal gr.
fathar, JESST MOOE about ths end
of ths revolutionary war. Ee then

1ived in Burke County, He Cowhere

you were born. Ils was bora 1a Va,
and many of his doscondents live
" fn Komtucky, I am still living at
the ol4 horms place where you last
sow me, but cannot axpoct in tbe
oourse of nature to romaia muoh
longers I am now in ny 80th yoar.
May Cod bloss you. RICZ CQFFEY, °®

Page 247

JATS A, WIIXIRS assisted B. D.
LITTIE in the taking of the first
United States Consus of Washinge
ton County, in 1850, Ho married
Miss Barsheba Iusk, oms of the
daughters of ¥AJ, S8AZ IDSX and
his wife AMERICA COFTEY. After
the death of JAVES WIIEXIRS his” -
widow married ssocond, DR. HERRY
1EE CPAVES, who had besn Prosi =
dent of BAYLOR UNIVERSITY, who af
that time had retired and hed eo-
cumiletod nothing zmch in tls way
af this world's goods, while his
wife BARSEEBA WIIKDD was a very
wealtly woman,.

JEFTERSOH COPFEY to whon the let=
ter was written was bdrother to
ASTRICA COPTLEY wife of 3AS IDIK,
RICE COFFZY, the writer of the
lettor was brother of ALMOIR COP~
JEY, who was ths fatbor of AMERI.
cA {ceren sk, -

BOLLAND CCFFEB

(HOLIAND CQYTEE was: an 014 Indian
fighter, and lived at his trading
post on Red River County, but when
an army officer laft a lons widow,
8ophia Suttenfield, ia Washingtoa
County, he rods all the way down
froam North Tems to mekoe her his
wifo. This was oz Jamary 29,1839,
Holland Coffes was a relative of
the Iusk fmily, as the wife of Col.
San Insk was Acarica Coffos. "Cof-
fee's Trading Poot® was on Red Rive
or in what §{s now Rad River County
end its aito, I m told, has now
baon’ fzundated by the modern Red
Biver dm, Holland Coffco was &
trothar of Cens Joha Coffen, who
1ived in Willimson County, Tezas,
poar Caorgotowm, and Folland was

¢a tho Indien Ceopaign in which the
@slebratod JUHN B. Dounton was kille
o4, but happensd not to be present
at that particular time. Aunt "Se-
phia® Coffes outlived har buedand,
who was killod and was buried at the
trading post oa Red Biver.

HOTE: Tho name COYFEE or COFFEY woe
spolled both Ways oa ths old records
in both Tonnosses and Toxas, and have
ing apont saxe tims i p atudy of
this fumily, ths writer §s of the
opinioa that thoy wore the sams elan,

Page 220

SUTTORFIBLD FAMILY

It 1s not likely there was a SUT-
TONTIEID FAMILY in Washingtom Co.,
Texus, as the only one of which
there 18 & recoxd is SUPHIA T -
TAFIEID, the young widow, who was
narried to the esledretsd EOLIAFD
CI7TEE, who oams. al) the way from
Bed River domm there to marry her.
She and her sscond husband EOLIAND
CUFFXE ran a trading post of Red
River for a long time thereafter,
and she was known all over thas
part of Texas, as "Aunt Scphia®,
Hs husband was a relative af MAT,
881 IDSK, who had married AMERICA
COFFXE in Tenzsssee befors acming
to Texns end Weshington County,

Page 62

Pioneers, Washington County (TX), by Worth S. Ray,
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From: South Carolina Pension Abstracts of the Revolutionary War,
War of 1812, and Indian Wars, Vol. V.; by Annie Walker Burns,
pub. date unknown, Xeroxed 1972, Okla. Hist. Soc. Library.

Page 87 ---

SOUTH CAROLINA AND VIRGINIA SERVICE OF DAVID HALEY R 4451 -- and
moved freight to the country and settled 12 miles out of the
settlement at the mouth of Richland Creek where I lived 20 years.
In 1785 I removed to Richland Creek, the two years before I lived
up in the settlements. Pretty soon after I moved to Richland
Creek the people began to settle in. 1In 1786 or 1787 I was
elected Captain by the people and was commissioned by the
Government of North Caroclina. After I had been there about 2 1/2
Years the Cherokee Indians broke out war.against us and we had to
fort nearly 3 years until the Térritorial government took place.
I petitioned the Government of North Carolina and got my men all
under pay. There those that had horses under Horse man pay and
those that had none under foot pay. About this time General
Joseph Martin of Virginia came out and raised a company of 450
horse men. I went with my company with him and we had a hard
fight with the Indians at the end of Lookout Mountain where
several valuable men were killed. In the battle Capt. Buller and
Capt. Hardin were killed. After this myself and 43 men went into
the nation at the Hanging Maws Village and killed 12 fellows one
morning before breakfast. SIGNED DAVID HALEY to
David W. Haley

A letter from D.W. Haley, from Madison Co., Mississippi 1854,
April 10, mentions his father married to my mother Elizabeth
Graves? of Va. 12-15-1783, that he died 20 Sept. 1839 in Roane
County, Tennessee, and he was born Oct. S5, 1760. My mother was
born May 7, 1767 and died March 16, 1815. I am now living in
Tuscumbia, Ala. & brothers Robert K. Haley, or was alive some
months since. I have a sister living in Tex., Malinda G. Coffee,
Wwife of Gen. Thomas J. Coffee. This bro & sis are all the
surviving children of my father David Haley and my mother
Elizabeth Haley.

Copied by--- Gene Brewington
4728 NW 59 Terr.
Oklahoma City, OK
73122-7512
Tel. # (405) 721-1141
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-‘lmu‘:upéupqitg.nw'u have
spent. the night eo route to Bel

i
6 the’' CoHed home. Is
aund” in the Mick “Sam Houston's

texas”, by Sue Managan.
‘Mrse. Jim’ Coffee -said Colonel
Colfee, p ¢olonbl in the Confeder-

3 Houston, and it was not at
all vnusual for him to visit.

Mrs.. Caffee, Col. Coffee's
duughtey irddy, still Mves in the
Caffee home: iu Georgetawn, on
Jovoes Street, & the base of the
water tower in the east part o‘{
tewn. Mrs. Caffee graciously en-!
tertained & Sun . reglocter last’
week Wish a tur of her heme
showiny the beauwiful old: fuenish-!
ings which are stiff: staniting w:th’
dignity ' and* charm.

The house- was built of hard
pine and cedar. The walls, floors
g dosrs rethsin of the originet
eynstruction. The four remaining
[ire plgees are in exceﬂent. apers-
tipn, built of darge pietes of solld
rock with the iaside concrete
slastered. The firoplace mantle
in the parlor js the place of hon-
or for Colonel Coffee’s Civil War
sword and pistol. Beth.these wea:
pona are perfectly- preserved antl’
h&:le worthy. .

'l‘h‘é »Loffees had three daugh
urs and two sons. whose descen-
dents. still live in the Georgetowm
area. Tomye Coffe@ married W. .
F. Magee: their son. W. T. Ma. !
gee. lives in Houston, and daugh- .
.t8r ‘Mrs. Gordan (Lonis) Nave and‘
 granddaughter Mrs. Jackie Kreg-:
'er bath live in Georgetown, Jss I
ephing’ Mee married:J. F..
wod: Their "childven: b’ Miss
Bunice- Yearwood, Frank Year-
t{-wood; Jr., Robert F. Yearwood,
’Mm Florence Wray, Miss Ruth
¢ Yearwood, and Mrs, Donald Ur-
vine, Sr. all of Georgetown. Flor-
-om¥ Coffee married Tom Hanna: |

Apparently from the Georgetown, I'exas 8un, circa 1972, Page 64
Recelved from Don Ruth Merrltt: Dallas. I').( Novembeg71972. g-

Well Pteserved C off

W

Hom.e ‘Over.

S Ter )

- b\u

they had no children. The chil- |!tom. The screen doors kept the
o of John T. Co!lee. Jr. are hmsects from the prepured food

all deceasé.
dim's wite, Mrs Bequ-ieg

‘@ vetived teather, now Nves
*the family home. Thelr smn, Fran
cis.llvéshlAmtmmdm
“Georgetown avery Satur

'kipt there from one meal to the
next, before the days of refriger-
atron. o I
. e "back y' "‘a. WS Conew-
etplained that “Mother Coffee"

turday m\.hid slave. quatters - tiere,” antl

help his mother with chores andi that she was very good o her
errands. Mrs. Coffee keeps her slaves, . prqiding them with ade-
‘daugitter’s romm ready fer her IYite homes and food and' freat-

| frequent visits. Mists Kumice Col-.
fee lives in Temple where -shi

works in. medical research. .

Other: Coffee’ grandehildren

{known in our comimunity  are
‘Dewey Bradford.- Mrs. Carltan
Card, Mrs... Gladys . Whitcamb .
Mrs. Lenora Wright, Frank Cof-
,fee, Mrs. Edna Cook, Parry Cof-
' fee, Rax Coffee. and Guy Coffee.

When the three Coffee daugh-
ters reactivd the *‘courting’’ tige,
‘Coloncl Colfec built the two front |
rooms on to the front af the house.
These were parlors for the dough-
ters to entertain their behus.

On the walls of al the rooms '
hang beautiful paintings donc by
Tomye Coffee Magee, who was
the family artist. Much of the cle-
gant solid walnut furniture re-
mains in the house -- a pink
marble topped table. white mar-

- Ble topped dressers, chests with
_dovetailed  construction, tall
;he.'nvy walnut beds, and. a wash
stind complete with the original

Bowl and pitcher — just to men-
‘tion a few. The dressers all have
little lamp shelves on each side
.ol‘ the mirror. The piano, an up
.nght model of solid walnut with
' ebony finish, is over one hundred
vears old. Tt is benut! Hfully pre-
served — the ivaries gpurkle, the
red cloth behind the carved cut-
work on the front is stll- bright.
and the deep, rich tone is the
answer to a pianist’'s prayer. In
the kitehen. witly =il of Mrs. Cof-
fee's modern conweniences. is the
old family safe. It is not -the
combination lock money sale. as
we think of safes today. This safe
has several shelves in the upper
_tabinet- part, which are screen
doored, several drawers, and sol-
id door compartments at the bot-

ing them with kindness. Seme of
the old buildings still stand. The
vock and concrete cistern, where
the rain water was stored, is

.tlosed and boarded up; but fiir-

nishes a good place for ‘Mrs. Cof-

“fee to set her flowers. ,‘l‘he cedar

" post and plank fence remains to
enclose the back yard,. part  of
which "is covered with concord
grape vines and rose bushes. Mrs |
Coffee said one rose, the Pink
Kilarney, still blooms, and is the -
same bush that furnished her
wedding bougquet. !

Mrs. Coffee is glad the huge
old mesquite tree in the side yard
did not die as a result of being
water-logged this past year, split-
ting in half. This trec looks as
though it was made for climbing
and swinging, and could tell
many & tale of good times of the
Coffee children and grondchil-
dren.

See Don Ruth Merritt®.
comments on this
material.
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Comments of Don Ruth Merritt, Dallas, Texas.

Well Preserved Coffee Home Over 100 Years old.

of the finest Coffee/ey researchers I have ever been
associated with. (Gene Brewington).

hichason L cogra £ormp L

This choice bit is a good example of a "Grandma Said".

The lady is the surviving

I haven't heard) widow of Col. John T.'s youngest son.
She plain doesn’'t know her dates: Maybe Col. John T. & Sam .

Houstonwere friends but Col Coffee did not live in Texas until

after the Civil war. "Had three daughs & 2 sons" --- that was

Page 65

She was one

(or may be she's died recently =--

the 2ast marriage. Others in marriages 2 & 3. And, "Mother
Coffee" did not Sslaves =~ there was no slaves by the time
she was Mrs. Coffeesy I think maybe this house was hers

tho bvefore(she m, Coffee, when she was Mrs. Vontrees --
not sure tho.

anyhow,

own
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From Dallas, Texas newspaper, of unknown date, by Frank X. Tolbert.

Copy received 1972, from Don Ruth Merritt,

Sral cmaan ) e e sl baa ]
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>~ Cotlee’s Killer
- Congratulated

By FRANK X. TOLBERT .

r5 WO REAL ESTATE developers have a petition beiore the siaie
board of morticians ta mave off their Grayson County prepesiyy
the, body of an orncry old Indian trader and Republic of Tcuas)
co'?:rcssman. Col. Holland Coifec. The Colfce remains, remnved orce
beire when Lake Texoma was inundated. are now in ait ancient
brick mausolcum near the Preston Point shore of the big lake.

The disarrecable Coloncl Coffee was shot to death in 1346 while
having a difficulty with one Charles A. Galloway. And Mr. Gaileway
w:s congratulated for this by a Clarksville, Texas, newspaper, The
Cxandard: “Galloway was acquitted by public sentiment . . . it
\.as so clearly a case of scif defense in the last extrenuty that
tite grand jury could not find a bill.”

e

-4

OFFEE WAS ONE of the first scttlers of the country around;
Sherman. He was there by 1833, and probably some yearsi
earlier. He was said to speak seven Indian dialects, and to nave a
pacifying influcnce on the Kiowas, Comanches, and othcr big and
ugly-acting Indians of the Red River Valley. )
Certainly he was the master of ceremonics at a number of
pow wows betwcen the settlers and the redmen. And his widow
claimed, probably erroncausly, that he arranped a treaty meering
" at Pike's Peak in Colorado. Colfce was popular cnough in 1833
* to get himself clected to the Texas congress. And the lepislation he
_ sponsored was very favorable to the Indian traders’ lobby.
: The colonel acquired a lot of land and slaves. But there wes a
pasty rumor that his rcal business was exchanping whickey ard
guns to the Indians for livestosk.]. X
N 189, COFFEE became, | GYER THIRD huthyr. >Majl
sccond husband of Sophia iut-: George N. Butr. went 0,
tonficid Aughinbaugh, one of the’ Sherman in 1563 to scil kis cotton;
Republic of Texas™ most colorful’ _and was ambushcd and slain on

women. Sophia was lady of great

ibcauty, zest. and imagination.:
'Graham Landrum. in his admir-;
ably researched Illustrated His-r
tory of Grayson County, says that

Sophia was probably a prostitute: ;

his way home wiih she mnrev
Her fourth and final lu:bondd
Judge James Porter, died in 1893
of disabilities going back 10 lug
service as a Confederate soidicrd

Sophia, who lived in one of the

while she was following the Re-i!lgrandest mansions on toe Red:
public of Texas Army in 1836. | IRjver, Glen Eden, built the mat:n-
Grayson County sossip. perhaps;leum for Coloncl Coifce v wer!

iway were quarreling over Sophia. Ible burial placcs. i
!when the husband was shot. !E Now, that mausclcum asd us;
Sophia's spouscs did have toughi contents Rave to £o (0 maie rvo
luck, though. ’ !=f7‘or a sleck, modern housing

: e 4 oo ®
\-dny:Z‘9 ber the hig *ose
— o, ;
o S’

untruc, was that Coffce and Gallo-jiother husbands found more tume Solen Eden was dismantled, its
]

T - .?iﬂ-:" Texas . oee 66
ICOLONGL 7T,
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ETIORSEr ALCIRINel,
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e, WITee
- ol AH
wads WiILe
f
was one of the Red River Vailey's?
!Icudim; citizens and he had been
POTTRORO, Gravson  Co., 2 Repunlic of Texas congresz-
Texas—fter 114 years, the hones:man. Stil. the verdict of the-
of Col. Holland Cufice, one of the'irand jury on the kiliing of Col-
firss Indian teadess on the upperJee was that Galloway acied criy
Red River, found a resting place in self deiense. .
Wednesday besidie the grave oft There's a thich, amast 2%{on.
his plamorous wife, Sopnia. While high xrewth of crape myrle .a
a high, chill wind made spocky-and around Sephia's grave pia.
noises through the trees on Lake in Wednesday s poweriul winde
Texoma's heautiful Preston Point, these crzpe myriie dimbs would,
the remains of Col. Cuffee were fub togetacr and maie a screccr.
removed from a brick mausclcum;ing noise, semewhat like the so-
near the lake shore and reburicdiprano cry of a woman. Cal. Coi-:
{abouz a half ftle away.in thefee was a hig man, juéging by’
[Prcs&on Bead Cemectery. his leg bunes. At his re-buriall
Cul. Coffce and his S-times mar.iWednesday,  though,  what was!
ricd spouse, Sophia, had theic dif. 1eft of him was put in a smai,
ferences in life, In death they are'square pine box and laid 1o resi,
still separated by a rusting iron'iust outside of the iron fence, A
fence” Inside the fence are tall dronze marker wiii be placed on:
stonc markers to Sophia and her;the grave later. |
last husband, Judge James Por-: His wife, wro is said to have!
ter, with this carved on the sPoken to Coffea that I would,

. !
judge’s memorial: “He Always rather be marricd o a dead hero;

lMadc Home Happy.” than a livcg caw.::rri" bcf'o:e
Holland Coffee was one of thz:-.'”;'gn fignt wn'h Gailrway, kas ony
‘great men of the Rcpublic m...,ophm. wie O; James Ponr.,
Texas. Wednesday he was just a on:n F:.. A I:r::a_:f.:
fcw hones to be removed from D.Qc' 3, ‘"’lal_df_:d mf:'m: = I
the path of a real estate develep szr’n?".?{, Ae.sar.\.s.r.:c C‘
ment on the great lake. the de-7°° ,,ra.ej..onc::”.ko jranton %
veiopment called Glen Eden Es-lher four other cusmancs. |
tates. ; ?efore the Gl War, ste isi
. rrainad crmnle =oeli
Glen Eden was the name of Col.',:g:‘i::sh?;c émes‘ma.‘;i:h}i;f;‘ ;
Coftee’s mansion, the showplace'E [ee, Albers Sicner Johnston.'
of Grayson County. It was built 5oy Houstor. ard ntmerous Ined
in 1845, and was still in good gian chiefs, at Gien Ed=a
shape in 1942 when the old Cofice;r . — J
plantation was included in land
condemned for the Red River
wdam which created Lake Texoma. )

Beside

By FRANK X. TOLBERT
News Staff Writer

!
'
f
'

aure,

«ones and boards numbered sol
. could be rec-assembied. Only|
tuis re-assembling  project was|
forgoiten after some workmen)
used part of the ancicnt timbers;,
for firewood on a cold day.

Rcal estate developers E. B.h
Chapman of Sherman and Georgei:
DeArmond of Denison got an
order from the state board of
morticians which enabled them to
move Coiiec's grave. The colonel
was killed in 1845 in a gun ducl
lwith a fellow named Charies A
dGaiioway. The beautiful Sepiia
Iwas something of o firt. And the
sold siory is that the ficht was
Jjover irs. Cofice. Holland Cuolicet
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i AL, Chris Edwards and raye
Lure and Lo§e ofogg.rmgstong Cog.nygez: : 1567, Toeards and_mere.
L] [

SAMUEL EASTER (ca. 1845)

Mary Louise (Easter) Coffee read the letter again. It

bore the signature of General Joseph Wheeler and was v

dated Mar. 4, 1903. The letter srated:

"I cannot express in words the grief felt by my family
and my self to see the notice in today’s paper pf Col.
Coffee’s death. He was a brave and good soldier and
a fine good man. We all loved him and his death is a
loss to Alabama which cannot be replaced. My
daughters and myself extend to you our deepest sym-
pathy.”’

Mary Louise thought back to that hot July day in 1863
when she had first seen both Gen. Wheeler and Col. Cof-
fee clad in their gray uniforms and mounted on excellent
horses. They passed by the Samuel Easter house on rheir
way north, having crossed che Tennessee River at Log:k A
after checking an enemy advance south of the river.
Mary Louise had smiled and waved at them as onl_yda
pretty, seven-year-old girl can do She may have rt:mmh -
ed Joshua Coffee of sweetheart roses on that day’. as she
did others in her later life, for she was the personification
of that fragile beauty which one wishes to protect against
the realities of a prosaic world. ) )

After the war Joshua Coffee resumed his duties as a
planter in Lauderdale County, and relish_ed the pleasure of
looking after his wife and child. His wife died, however,

about 1875; and Joshua's thoughts returned ro the little
gitl who had waved at him in front of the Samuel Easter
house. He returned to the house and found that ¢he lictle

girl was a lovely and macure young lady. They were mar-
ried on Oct. 9, 1877, and had:

l. Telecy, “‘Lecie,” (1879-1949) md. John Blackwood Tanner
(see Tanner-Shernl{ House).

Il. Sadie (Aug. 18, 1881.Dec. 1, 1903) md. a Wells, n/c. .

II1. Richard Easter md. Mary Sue Graves and had (1) Louisc
md. Charles Morris of Decatur and had Mary Louise,
Charles, Joe, and Barbara. {2) Helen md. Ira Jounes and had
Jack, Mary Kate, Kay and Fay (twins), and another daugh-
ter. They live in Columbia, S. C. (3) Richard Easter Jr.
md. first Betty Beck of Union City, Tenn., and had Mary
Linda. He then md. Nora Virginia Strength of Marshall,
Texas, and had Richard Easter 1l and John Peyton.

IV. Mary (Occ. 14, 1885-1976) md. Dr. Archie Lawson of
Greensboro, Ala. and had: (1) Mary Archer md. Witliam
Baxter Booth and had (A) William Baxter, Jr. md. Mary
Cath=rinc Rolfe and had Mary Catherine and Beebe Rolfe,
(B) Mary Elizabeth md. Cleo Ellison Medders and had
Molly and William Bryant, (C) Archie Lawson md. June
Alfrey and had Gary Todd and Cindy Lee, (D) Richard War-
ren, and (E) Debra Jane. (2) Sadie Coffes md. Augustus F,

Tuck of Nashville, Tenn., and had Augustus, jr. and Ed.
ward Lawson.

This house was built by Samuel Walker Easter (June 25,
1825-Aug. 12, 1889) soon after his marriage to Telecy
Coffman (Feb. 20, 1830-Mar. 27, 1858) on Aug. 28, 1845.
Their firse child, Marcum (Dec. 1, 1848-June 22, 1926)
inherited the house and lived here with his wife, Lydia

(Kennemer) Easter, after their marnage on Dec. 23, l§69.
Lydia left this house on June 4, 1888, to visit her friend
Sallie (Nixon) Batts (see Nixorn-Batts House). As she was
going down the hill past the Poplar Creek Church Lydia
mer a fellow traveler going in the opposite direction. Her
horse shied and the buggy in which she rode rurned over,

killing her instantly.  Marcum later married Emity
(Gilbert) Easter (see Flezcher Easter House).

Another son of Samuei and Telecy was Flercher
(Nov. 20. 1857-June 25, 1920),

After the death of Telecy Coffman, Samuc! married
Mary P. Friend, n/c. i

The house is now owned by William Smith.

Joshua Coffee was a grandson of Joshua Coffee who
came with his brother Peter from Ireland abour 1749, and
sectled in Prince Edward County, Va. Joshua and Peier
Coffee each had a son named John who attained the rank
of general. Peter's son John lived in Georgia and Cofee
County in that state was named for him. Joshua's son
John was the able and faithful friend and fellow soldier of
General Andrew Jackson. He settled in Lauderdale
County, Ala., helped 10 found the city of Florence, and
lived on his plantation “Hickory Hill"" nearby. Thomas
Graves Coffee, elder brother of John and father of the
younger Joshua Coffee, also settled in Lauderdale Courny.
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All proper names are shown in this index. They are listed
exactly as shown in the documents. No attempt has been made to
correct any spelling, or to correlate different spellings. When
searching for a particular name, be CERTAIN that all possible

spellings are searched. Especially between "Coffee" and
"Coffey". These are used almost inter-changeably, so check both.
The spelling of other names is similar. Any name shown may
appear more than once on the listed page.

Alexandria, LA .....cco0000 39 Blunt,

Alexandria, TN ......0c0.0. 25 James, Gen. ......ce000: 32

Alfrey, Bois D'Arc Creek, Texas ... 45
June .......000 e b 67 Bolivar, MO ............ 26,42

Alpine, Texas ......ceocuees 18 Bonham, Texas .........s00. 55

American Standard ......... 27 Boonville, MO ......... .... 35

Andre, Boot Hill Cemetery ........ 10
Peter............. Ceee e 50 Booth,

Arkadelphia, AR ........... 35 Archie Lawson-......... . 67

Arnold, Cindy Lee .............. 67
Dan, death of ........ 3,10 Debra Jane ............. 67

Ashburn, Gary Todd .............. 67
L= 1 O 20 Mary Elizabeth ........ . 67

Atchinson, Richard Warren ......... 67
David Rice ......cc0cuus 27 William Baxter ......... 67

Aughinbaugh, William Baxter, Jr. .... 67
J.A., and Co. ......... . 48 Born of the Sun ........... 7
Jesse ............ 49,50,54 Boston Mountains, AR ...... 29
Jesse Augustine ........ 48 Bountiful, Utah ........... 24

Aughinbaugh, Bower's Mill .............. 35
Sophia ....... . 48,49,50,66 Bowie,

Austin, Texas ........... .. 39 James ............ 46,47,53

Austin's colony ........... 56 Bradford,

Baker, Dewey .. ..t 64
James S. .......c00000000 47 Lum ......c.00iiiiveensns 43
Weaver H., Judge ....... 18 Bradley County, TN ........ 43
William R. .......0oco. 47 Brawner,

Ballinger, Texas 3,11,20,22 Milton, Capt. .......... 32

Barrs, Brazoria County, Texas . 56,59
Sally Nixon ............ 67 Brazoria, Texas ....... ees. 45

Barstow, Brazos River .............. 53
William, Col. .......... 30 Brenham, Texas ............ 61

Barton County, MO ......... 30 Brown,

B Burl, death of ......... 10

Beck, Brown County, Texas .... 12,24
Betty ......c .. 67 Brown,

Beddo, E.B., Gen. ....... 29,32,35
Bob .......... e 3 John Henry .......... 54,57
L S - 3 Mary ....¢.ccecn.. che e 18

Beddoe brothers ........... 24 Brownlee,

Beddoe, Richard 5. ............. 41
Elizabeth Coffee .... 23,24 Brownsville, Texas ........ 39
Joseph Warren .......... 23 Brownwood, Texas 6,7,12,17

Bedford County, VA ........ 43 Brownwood, Texas .......... 21

Ben Ficklen, Texas ........ 17 Buckingham County, VA ..... 43

Bentonville, AR ........... 35 Buller,

Berry, Capt., death of ........ 63
Noah ..........¢civuuns 20 Buncombe County, NC ....... 56

Bingham, Bunyan,

George Caleb ........... 3 Paul ................... 20
Ted, Mrs. ......c000c0.. 11 Burke County, NC ....... 59,62

Bluffton, Texas ........... 10
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Butler, Coffee,
Pierce ......c.ooeeuvunnes 53 Clominda Jane .......... 24
Butt, . Col. .... 25,29,32,34,37,53
George M., Maj. ........ 66 Col., J.P. ..t innnnn 64
Canan, ) . 23
Howard V. .......c.0ceeve. 41 Pavid ........cc0ue. 43,44
Cane Hill, Delia .......civunnn .. 23
Battle of .......... ce.. 34 Deliliah ............... 24
Cannon County, TN ......... 44 drunkeness ............. 33
Caplinger water mill ...... 35 Edward ..........0vee. 45
Card, Elizabeth ........... 23,50
Carlton, Mrs. .......... 64 Ella Josephine ......... 43
Carthage Female Academy 27 Ellen .........c..... 58,60
Cason, Emily ............ e 59
Basil ......iiiiriinnan 47 Eugenia ............. 55,60
Castel, Eugenia Elizabeth ...... 55
Albert ............. cees 41 Eunice ........ivevenn 64
Catherwood, Coffee Family History ..... 40
Edwin C., Col. ......... 34 Coffee Family, The ........ 24
Cave Hotel ................ 32 Coffee, i
Cedar County, MO . 27,28,30,35 Florence ....,....... 43,64
Chapman, Fogo: . ...vcoviiviereneee., 10
E.B. ..t iititiiconrans 66 ¢ Fogg, Mrs. ............. 24
Chatooga County, GA ....... 23 Francis ......eeeeeeeoens 64
Cheyenne, Wyoming ......... 43 Frank .................. 64
Chihuahua Trail ........ .. 50 Franklin Brown ......... 38
Chisum, George Washington 55,59,
John .........cciivev.. 3 60
Choctaw Bayou ............. 51 GUY i vttt e et e nenerens 64
Chugwater, Wyoming ........ 43 Helen .........coiieunn. 67
Church, Henry ......iviinnernnn. 60
John .........iivunn. 58 Henry Buffington ....... 43
Julia Morrow ........... 58 Hiram ......co0iivenunns 59
Marion Summerville ..... 58 Holland ... 45,46,47,48,49,
Thomas Arthur ........ .. 58 50,51,52,54,55,56,57,59,
Clarksville, Texas ........ 66 57,62,66
Cleveland, Coffee Home ............... 64
Alexander ........... 56,62 Coffee,
Ben, Colonel ........... 56 Y 23
Benjamin ....... et e 56 James ...t iivennnnnns 24,43
Elizabeth ........... 56,62 James Earnest .......... 44
"Mad" John ............. 56 James Madison .......... 59
Mary "Polly" ........ ... 56 Jane . ...t 23
Cleveland, TN .......... 25,43 JesSSe ...t 44,56,59
Clinton, MO ..........c0.... 32 Jim, Mrs. ........cc0eu. 64
Cockrell, Jinny Trousdale ........ 25
Vard .. .oii it i 29,31 John ....... 10,23,24,56,67
Coffee, John, Gen. ....... 42,44,62
RARaron ........... .... 58,60 John Peyton ....... eee.. 67
BAlice ...ttt nans 59 John T. ....... 39,40,42,43
Ambrose .... 45,50,56,59,60 John T., Jr. . ..vvieenn. 64
America ........cc0000 56,59 John T., picture ....... 26
Ann ...... et e e 45 John T. surrender of ... 39
Arthur B. .........0.... 43 John Trousdale 25,28,42,
Beatrice ............ ... 64 43
Bell ........ciiivvenn. 24 John Trousdale, Jr. .... 43
Benjamin Franklin ...... 44 Joshua ................ . 67
C.F., MIS., ...ttt eennno 40 Joshua M. ........ 40,43,44
Camilla .........cc..... 60 Joshua, Rev. ........... 25
Capt. ...ttt 54 Julia Edmondson ..... 58,60
Cassie Kyle ..... e 60 Lawrence ............... 24
Catherine ........... 26,43 Lois ... ..., 64
Charles Franklin 41,43 Louisa ............cc... 60
Christopher Greenup 45,59 Louise ........0vivivunn 67
Lucinda M. ............. 44
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Coffee Coffey and Colville ....... 46
Lula ......... et e 43 Coffey,
Malinda G.W. ........... 60 Archelaus .......0000v.. 62
Malinda J. ............. 63 Aunt Sallie .......... 3,12
Marietta ............... 43 Belle ...... e et ese e 3
Martha ................. 56 Bill ..........0... 3,7,17
Mary .....c.... et 67 Charles R. e e e e 11
Mary Jane ....... ... 44,59 Charlie et e 18,19
Mary Linda ............. 67 Chuck ............c.o... 11
Mary Louise ............ 67 Coffey Crossing ........... 7
Mary Somerville ..... ... 58 Coffey,
Mildred ............. 45,59 Eli ....... e 62
Minerva Lavinia ........ 60 FOg i iii it ittt eannonns 18
Mother ............... .. 64 Fegg ........ 7,17,20,21,22
Mr. ............ et e 47 Fogg, Mrs. ............. 16
Mrs. .......... et e e 10 Helen ........ e . 7
Myra ......ce0iteeeeeens 56 JAMES .t ittt e 62
Nanecy .......... e 44 . Jefferson ........ e 62
Peter ..........0.... 44,67 JeSSe ...ttt 18
Pleasant B. ............ 43 Joel ... . et 62
Rector Cope ............ 43 ) John ........, 3,4,18,19,62
Representative ......... 52 . John.B. ..... et e e 11
ReX ittt ittt te it ennens 64 ' John vVan ......oeeeeeees 19
Rich ... veeese 1,10,24 - John Wright ..... 2,7,12,18
Richard ....... cheeva. 2,24 Lester ..... e e 19
Richard Easter ......... 67 Lewis ..... et e 62
Richard Easter III ..... 67 M. M. it it i 16
Richard Easter, Jr. .... 67 Mary Haley e e 16
Richardson ............. 23 Mary I. .....00iiiennn.. 58
RoXanna .......... 58,59, 60 Milton Sinkler ......... 58
Sadie .....ciihiiiinnnn. 67 MES. ittt it 3
Samuel Buffington ...... 43 Penny ......veiiieineens 16
Sarah.......c.iiiiiinenn. Penola ................. 7
24 Coffey Ranch .............. 14
Coffee Settlement ......... 24 Coffey,
Sophia .. 49,50,51,52,54, Reuben ......... e e 62
55,57,59 RiCE ..t ii ittt neenennn 62
Telecy "Lecie" .,........ 67 Rich .. 2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,11,
Thomas Graves .......... 67 12,14,16,17,18,21
Thomas Holland ......... 59 Rich, Mrs ........... .. 16
Thomas J. .....o0ven. 52,63 Rlchard ............. 14,16
Thomas Jefferson ... 56,58, Sallie ........ccvvvvnn. 1
59,60 Sallie Greathouse ...... 18
Thomas S. ....vvevennnns 44 Sallie, Mrs. ........... 8
Thursa M. ........cc0... 23 SaM vttt it i i e 18
TOMMYE & v vt e v e nennns 43 Uncle Rich .. 3,7,14,15
Tomye .......... e e 64 L - 16
Trader ......... e e e 53 W.A.,, Mrs. ....... ..., 16
Uncle Rich .......... 2,10 Walter ..........c0vv... 18
Virginia et e 59 Coffie,
William .......... 24,43 ,44 Aunt Sophie ............ 62
William B. .o v vv v nenn.. 23 Coffman,
William F. ............. 43 Telecy 'v'vererrienneeans 67
L 11 23 Coggins and Parks ......... 21
Coffee's Bend ............. 51 Coggins Ranchers .......... 3
Coffee's regiment ......... 37 Coker,
Coffee's Station ....... 45,51 Frank ........cciiueeen. 11
Coffee's Trading House ... 46, Cole Camp. MO .......... 35,36
53,54 Coleman County, Texas . 2,3,4,
Coffee's Trading Post ..... 62 12,17,24
Coffey, Coleman, Texas ....... 6,13,17
Adah ..........c0iiin. 16 Colorado River ..... 3,7,11,15
Ambrose ............. 44,62 Columbia, TN .......c00en.. 60
America.........cc.iu., 62 Colville .................. 51
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Colville, Easter,
Silas ...... 45,47,52,54,56 Emily .............. vee. 67
Silas Cheek ............ 56 Fletcher ............... 67
Comanche Peak ............. 53 Lydia .......... A - Y
Concho County, Texas .. 2,3,6, Marcum ....... et 67

12,17,18 Mary Louise ............ 67
Concho Herald, The ........ 24 Samuel ................. 67
Concho River . 3,5,7,10,14,15, Samuel Walker .......... 67

17,20 Edmondson,

Cook, James ..... O -1¢]
Edna, Mrs. ............. 64 Myra Coffee ............ 59
Cooke, William ................ 56
William G. ............. 50 Edwards,
Copeland, John N. ........iiiuvnn 36
Levi, Lt. .........c..0... 32 El Paso, Texas .....cc00u.. 17
Corinth, Mississippi ...... 29 Ellsberry,
Cotton County, OK ......... 46 Elizabeth P. ........... 40
Cowskin Prarie, MO ........ 29 Elm Creek .............. 10,12
Crane County, Texas .... 4,12 Evanston, IL .............. 59
Cravens, Everton, MO ........coiev.. 36
B.H. .............0000.. 28 Ewen, -
Crooked Prarie ..... e e 35 Malcolm P. ............. 59
Cross Hollow, Ewing, Thomas, Jr., Gen. .. 35
Battle of .............. 34 Fair Play, MO ...... e . 35
Culp, Fairbanks,
John H. ................ 7 Jonathan ............... 40
Currie, Fannin County, Texas .. 45,47,
Buck ............. e nen 17 49,50,53,56
Curtis, Fannin,
Gen. ..viiennnanns e e 33 James Walker ........... 45
Samuel R., Gen. ........ 29 Ferguson,
George A., Gen. ........ 39 Deliliah ............... 24
Dade County Advocate .. 25,40, First Kansas Battery ...... 32

42 First U.S. Army Cavalry ... 27
Dade County, MO . 27,28,35,39, Flanagan,

42,43,44 LOULISEe ...'ivrnerennnnens 11
Dadeville, MO ....... e 35 Flat Top Ranch ............ 3
Dagley's Landing .......... 53 Florence, AL .............. 67
Dalrymple, Florence, MO .............. 35

William C. .........v... 5 Foreman,
Davis, Grant .........00 s 56
Jefferson .............. 37 Forsyth, MO ............... 30
DeArmond, Fort Concho, Texas ..... 5,14
George ......... e 66 Fort Leavenworth, Ks ... 27,42
Decatur County, GA ........ 8 Fort Scott, KS ......... 30,32
Denison, Texas ........ . 45,54 Fort Smith, AR ......... 46,49
Denton, Fort Towson ........c.ove... 51
John B., death of ...... 62 Fort Warren, Texas ........ 53
Diamond Grove, MO ......... 34 Fort Washita .............. 54
Doolin, Fort Wayne, IN ......... 48,66
Bill ............. R Y Fort Worth, Texas ......... 17
Dove Creek ........eoveuuus 5 Foster,
Drake Constitution ........ 38 Emory S., Major ........ 31
Draper, 103 - 24
Lyman C. ........cev... . 56 Fourche LeFave, AR ........ 38
Dripping Springs, Texas ... 18 Fourth Missouri Militia ... 31
Dromgoole, Francis,
Mary ..ottt e 60 Elizabeth Wheeler ...... 56
Dublin, Texas ............. 2 Franklin,
Dunle, JESSe ittt 56
John .......... ... ... 36 Franks,
Eagle Pass, TexXasS ......... 38 Bill ... i iiiieies 4
Fredericksburg, Texas ..... 11
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Fredericktown, MO ......... 38 Greathouse,

Fremont, MO ............ s 27 Sallie ....... ceeieeeres 2

Friend, Sarah ............... 16,23
Mary P. ....... ..l 67 Greene County, MO ......... 26

Gaines, Greenfield, MO .. 25,26,27,35,
George Strother ........ 46 36,38,42,43

Gainesville, FL ........... 59 Greenfield Southwest ...... 28

Galloway, Grover,

Alex David ............. 55 GeOrge S. .ttt noeas 41

-3 55 Guest,

Charles A. .......cco... 66 Bob .......cciii 3,10

Charles Ashton ......... 55 Nathaniel ............ 3,7

Chas. A. ... i enn.n 55 Hackett,

George Washington ...... 55 2 4 ¢ 56

JaAMeS .. .iverercennronons 54 Haley,

Virginia Lee ........... 55 Burrus ......... 000000 60
Gann, David .......c0e0vvvns 58,63

Ol ... .. o 6 - David W. ...... e e 60

Walter .............. 8,17 Elijah .....c..viiievn 60
Gardner, Malinda G.W. ........ 59,60

Theodore ............ 32,40 Malinda Graves ... 56,58,60
Georgetown College ........ 39 Mary M. .......0iiiiieenn 16
Georgetown, Texas 39,42,43, Robert K. .............. 63

64 Sarah .......ciieiieen 60

Giddings, William B. ............. 60
D.C. ittt i it e e 61 Hall,

Dewitt Clinton ......... 61 Mita Holsapple ......... 57

J.D. ........ et et 61 MES. ..ttt ieeenansnaes 16
Gilbert Hall's trading house ...... 46

Emily ... .0 67 Halleck,

Gilmer, Henry W., Gen. ......... 30
P.R. e e e e e e e 58 Hamond,

Ginger, Nip i iiiiiiii it 4
Lewis, Col. ......... 5,15 Hanging Maws Village ...... 63

Glen Eden ........ c e 66 Hanna,

Gonzales, TeXas ........0.. 50 5 43

Goodnight Cattle Drive .... 12 g o 1| 64

Goodnight, Hardin,

Charles ................ 4 Capt., death of ..... ... 63
Goodnight Trail ........... 4 Harper, Texas ............. 11
Goodrich, Harris,

James W. ........00.. 25,40 MES . ittt ittt e e 53,54
Goodridge, Harrison,

Alexander .............. 60 . 5 24

Sarah ........c v 60 Hart,

Gordon, John ...........cciievinn 47
ANderson ........coc00. 7 John, Capt. ............ 48
Billy ...... . i 3 John, death of ......... 47

Gordon, Martin D. .............. 47
Uncle Billy ............ 10 Hasskarl,

Graham, Robert A., Mrs. ........ 61
Johnny, Mrs. ........... 11 Hatch,

Granbury, Texas ........... 18 JOANN vttt t et tnentnnnss 23

Grand RivVer .......c.oeunes 31 Hays,

Graves, John Coffee "Jack" ..... 45
Elizabeth .............. 63 Upton .......000.. 29,31,34
Henry Lee, Dr. ......... 62 Hearst,

JANEe .. vttt 56,62 Phoebe .......... ... 17

Mary ...ttt 56 Hearst Ranch .............. 17

Mary Sue ........c.c00000. 67 Helena, BR .......00eeuuenn 33
Grayson County, Texas . 47,51, Hickory Hill .............. 67

55,66 Hindman,
Great Missouri Raid ....... 36 GeNMl. &ttt it i 34,37



~-3

3 T3 3 T3

T3

C 3

!

3

THREE COFFEES FROM TEXAS Page 73

Hindman,

Thomas C., Gen. ..... 29,33
Hinds County, Mississippi . 56
Holmes,

Theophilus H., Gen. .... 33

Hood County, Texas ..... 18,53
Horn,

John, death of ......... 53
Horn, '

5 o= J .. 54
Horse Creek MO ...... .. 29,30
Horsehead Crossing ........ 4
Houston County, Texas ..... 48
Houston,

Pres., of Texas ...... .. 45
Houston,

SaAM vt it ittt e e 65
Houston, TexXas .......000.. 49
Howard,

Duncan ............ eeees 11

John T. ......... ceeeees 29
Hulston,

John K. ........... .. 24,40
Humansville, MO ........... 35
Hunt,

Catherine Grace ........ 26

Miss .....viveinennn. 42,43

Neah ................. .. 32
Hunter,

David, Col. ............ 35
Independence County, Texas 45
Independence, MO .......... 31
Iron Brigade ........... 34,37
Irvine,

Donald ................ . 64
Isler,

Mary Catherine ......... 60

Peter ........c0vve... 60
Ivey,

George .....c0i0vn 0 47,51
Jack,

Patrick C. ............ . 45
Jackman,

S.D. ittt e e e . 29
Jackman's Brigade ...... 37,38
Jackson,

Andrew ........c.0ieunnn 61

Andrew, Gen. ........... 67

Claiborne Fox .......... 28
Jackson County, MO ..... 29,31
Jackson, Mississippi ...... 55
Jefferson City, MO ........ 35
Jewell,

Elizabeth Coffee ....... 59

Mary Elizabeth ...... ... 56
Jingle Bob Brand .......... 3
Jones,

- 67

Ira ... .. it ieies 67

Jack ...t e 67

Kay ............ e e 67

Mary Kate .............. 67
Junction City, Texas ...... 7
Junction, Texas ........... 11

Kennemer,

Lydia ......ccviiminnenn 67
Kerr,

William Henry, Mrs. .... 59
Kerrville, Texas .......... 11
Kimble County, Texas ... 7,18
Knoxville, T™N ......... .... 58
Kreger,

Jackie ......... .. ... ..., 64
Kyle,

Cassie ........c0c... ... 58

Ellen ............... ... 58

Rufus Coffee ........... 58

William Jefferson ...... 58

William Rufus .......... 58
Lafayette, LA ............. 11
Lancaster, TN ............. 25
Ldandrum,

Graham ................. 66
Lathum,

W.Ke o e e e 42
Lauderdale County, AL ..... 67
Law, . )

Julia Gordon ........... 59
Lawson,

Archie, Dr. ............ 67

Mary Archer ............ 67
Leaday, Texas ..........v.. 18
Lee,

Robert E. .............. 66
LeFevre,

Hazie Davis ............ 16
Lemmons,

Lapoleon, death of ...... 4
Lemons,

Napolean, death of ..... 10
Leonard,

Abiel ......... ..., 40

Jean Young ............. 56
Lew Ginger Minstrels ...... 14
Lewis,

Asa M. ...ttt tnnennes 61
Lexington, MO ....... 29,31,32
Lightfoot,

Minerva Lavinia ........ 60
Lincoln,

Abraham, Pres. ....... .. 39
Lingo,

Pinckney ............... 23
Little Devil's River ...... 18
Little,

E.D. it ittt it ettt 62
Littlefield,

Bob ...ttt e 17

Edgar, Mrs. ............ 16
Livingston,

T.R., Maj. ... enn 34
Loan,

Benjamin F., Gen. ...... 39
Loan Jack, MO .......... ce. 32
Lobdell,

Betty .......0 et 59

Minerva Lavinia ........ 60
London, TeXas .....oeeveeens 18
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Lone Jack,

Battle of ........ ... 33,40
Lone Jack, MO ....... 31,32,37
Long Rail Brand ..... G hee s 3
Lookout Mountain, TN ...... 63
Love County, OK ......c0e0.. 46
Loving Cattle Drive ....... 12
Loving,

Oliver .......cieeuvnnnes 4
Lowake, Texas ........ eee.. 11
Lucas,

Elizabeth ..... e e e 57

Mattie Davis ...... ee... 87
Lusk,

Barsheba ........c00.0.. 62

Beersheba ........... ... 61

Malinda .............0... 61

3 59

Myra .....¢ccivviosnsans 61

Patrick H. ..........c.. 61

Sam, Col. ......civeev.. 62

Sam, Major ......... . 61,62

Samuel ........... 000000 56

William ................ 62
Madison County, Mississippi 63
Magee,

Tomye Coffee .......... . 64

W.F., it iin it eannnns . 64

Wl . i ittt st v et eossanns 64
Magee,

William Francis ........ 43
Malvern Hill .............. 33
Marlin, Texas .......occ00 11
Marmaduke,

John S., Gen. .......... 37
Marshal, Texas ............ 67
Marshall,

Battle of .............. 36
Marshall, MO ........ 35,36,37
Martin,

Joseph, Gen. ........... 63
Massey,

Benjamin F. ...... e eaen 28
Maximillian,

Emperor .......... 0000, 39
Maysville, AR ......... eeo. 29
McAfee,

C.B., Capt. ............ 35
McAllister?,

Mary ...ttt 43
McAulay,

Bill ......... ..., 7,17
McCarthy,

Jack ..., i e e 3

Mack ............. e 10
McCulloch,

Ben, General ........... 29
McCulloch County, Texas ... 2
McDonald,

C.Jd., Mrs. .........cv... 56

McDonald County, MO .... 34,36
McDowell,

Nelson, Judge .......... 35
McKinney,

Collin ......... .. ..., 4%
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McKinney, Texas ........... 58
McLemore,

E.E., MES. ...t ceveonsns 57

Ernest E. ........cc0ce 60
McMinnville, TN ..... 44,45,56
McNeil,

John, Gen. ..... e 35

John, Brig. Gen. ....... 36
Meadows,

Judith ................. 43

Sytha ......couviviens 43
Medders,

Cleo Ellison ........... 67

Molly .......... e e 67

William Bryant ......... 67
Meeks,

Bob .......ciiiiii 3,10

- Henry .. .vvtveereonas 3,10
Melville, MO .............. 35
Memphis, TN ........ Ceneaas 59
Merritt, .

Don"Ruth-............ 56,65
Middlebrooks,

AUudY J. ittt 45

Glenna .......ocuevieeen 45
Midland, Texas ............ 11
Millard,

Fred ..... e ee e e 17
Missouri River ............ 35
Missouri State Guard ... 31,33
Mitcherson,

3 o 47
Montague,

Paniel ................. 47
Montevallo, MO ...... 29,30,31
Montgomery,

Samuel, Major .......... 31
Moody,

John F. ............. ... 47
Moore,

Ethel Sively ........... 56

JeSSe ... 59,62

John C. ......ciiiviern.. 40

Mildred ............. ... 59
Moris,

Barbara ......o0ceeeeene- 67
Morris,

Charles ................ 67

Decatur .........ccveeee 67

Joe ...... c ettt e e e 67
Mosby's Brigade ........... 17
Mount Vernon, MO .......... 29
Mukewater Creek ........... 4
Nacogdoches, Texas ........ 48
Natchez, Mississippi ...... 60
Nave,

Gordon ......0h 0o nas 64
Neosho, MO ............. 29,35
New,

Charles Turner, Dr. .... 44

John Coffee ............ 44
New Orleans, LA ........ 27,42

New York Clipper ....... S,14
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Nixon, Randolph,

Jorge Antonio .......... 48 George ......iceievnnens 34
Norfolk, va ..... ceeieies.. 60 Reams,

Northcutt, Harriet ............0... 57

John R., Rev. .......... 2 Red River . 45,46,50,51,53,54,
Noxville, Texas ........... 18 55,62,66
Noxville, Texas cemetery .. 18 Red River County, Texas .. 45,
O.H. Triangle Ranch ....... 21 47,62
Organ, Red River District ........ 47

Minnie ........0iiiivnn. 40 Renfro,

Osage River ......... .. 31,32 Lewis ......... oo 37
Osceola, MO ............ 30,31 Reynolds,
Oyster Creek, Texas ....... 59 Governor, of MO ........ 37
Paint Rock, Texas . 7,8,11,13, Reynolds,
20,22 Thomas C., Gov. ........ 34
Parker County, Texas ... 2,10, Rich Coffee, Texas ........ 7
12,21,23,24 Richland Creek ......... ... 63
Parks Ranchers ............ 3 Richmond, VA .............. 37
Payne, Rio Colorado .............. 14

John T. ...... et i e 26 Roane County, TN .......... 63
Pea Ridge, AR ....... e 29 Robins, ferry ...:.......... 46
Pearl, Robinson, ’

Lewis, Rev. ............ 18 JW., Hon. ............. 49
Pecos River ............... 4 James W. Judge ........ 49
Perkins, Rock Bluff Cr0551ng ....... 50

James .....ctiitennnon . 52 Rock Prarie, MO ........... 36
Phillips, Rogers,

Elizabeth Cain ......... 58 John ................... 49
Picketville, Texas ........ 12 Rohrer,

Pierce, Prof. .......00ivirveun 60

Charlie ................ 17 Rolfe,

Pilot Knob, Beebe .................. 67

Battle of ........... 38,41 Mary Catherine ......... 67
Pineville, MO ........ .. 34,36 Rose,

Pioneer Minstrels ......... 5 Jim . e e 17
Polk County, MO . 26,27,28,35, Ross,

42 L.S., Capt. ............ 3
Ponca City, OK ............ 17 Rowlett,
Poplar Creek Church ....... 67 Daniel, Dr. ............ 45
Porter, Rueg,

James, Judge ........... 66 Henry ......civiiivev.. 46
Pottsboro, Texras .......... 66 Runnels County, Texas .. 2,3,
Powell, 6,12

28 2 ) « S 45 Rush,

Bishop .............. 11,12 Libbie ........ e e 18

Douglas .......co0evveun 11 Rusk,

Eskell ................. 11 Thomas J. .......0ovvu.e 1)
Prairie Grove, Battle of .. 34 Sac River .............. 35,36
Preston Road ...... e 51 Saline County, MO ......... 35
Price, Saloman,

General ................ 29 Frederick, Col. ........ 29

Sterling ......... 28,29,37 San Angelo, Texas ...... 11,24

Sterllng, Gen., ...... 34,37 San Angelo Times .......... 20
Price's Cavalry ........... 37 San Patricio County, Texas 48
Price's Missouri Expedition 38 San Patricio Road ......... 53
Prince Edward County, VA . 43, Sand Springs, Texas ....... 50

67 Schofield,
Pulaski County, KY......... 46 Gen. ....iveivieneanns 33,35
Quantrill, John M., Gen. .......... 29

William .......... 32,33,39 Seay,

Ragland, Cassie (Kyle) .......... 58

Naney ... iiiii i 58 Seybert Mill, MO ....... 35,36
Rains, Shawneetown, Texas ........ 47

James S. ............ 29,33
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Shelby,

GeN. ...icieeeerovonns 37,38
Shelby,

JO, Gen. (picture) ...... 3

0 T 29
Shelby Raid, The .......... 41
Shelby's Brigade .......... 35
Shelby's Iron Brigade ..... 36
Shiloh, TN .......... ceeees 29
Shnively,

Jacob ....... . i 5
Shoemaker,

Floyd ¢. ........... ... 41
Shrevesport, LA ........... 58
Sigel,

Franz, Gen. .....¢evevee 35
Sims,

Matthew ................ 46
Sixth Missouri Cavalry .... 31
Smith County, TN ....... 25,43
Smith,

Edmund Kirby ........ 33,38

Mary Somerville ....... . 60

TonKk «.venieennnnennnnns 17

William .........ccvun 67
Snively,

Jacob M., ........ .0 ... 53
Snively's expedition ...... 53
Snyder,

John F. .......cieereenn 40
Somerville Expedition ..... 61
Soule, Miss ........0e000u. . 42
Springfield, MO . 26,29,30,34,

40
St Louis, MO ........00vvn. 30
Sterling City, Texas ...... 16
still,

Bush ............cc.. ... 21

Stockton, MO ........ 31,35,38
Stone,

Eliza .......... e e 43

Elizabeth Jewell ....... 25

MiSsS ittt i it nonennn 42
Strange,

Mr. ....... et 42
Strength,

Nora Virginia .......... 67
Strickland,

Mr. o e e 42

RexXx W. ..t eerienennens 56
Stuart,

Jeb, Cavalry .,,,,,cc0.. 17
Stubblefield,

Jack ..ttt i e 22
Suttenfield,

Laura ....ccceeeeeonneees 48

Sophia ......... cee.. 50,62

William ...... teereeae.. 48
Suttonfield,

Sophia ......00vvieinenn 62
Sweitzer,

< R - 50

Tankersley,
Ellen ......ccveeeeerens 60
JAMeS .....ceiec0veeeeess 58
Tankersly Ranch ........... 5
Tanner,

John Blackwood ......... 67
Tarrant,

Edward H. .....cieeesees 45

Creed ......coviiieevnn .7
Taylor,

Laura .......... e e e 48
Temple, Texas .......cc0e0. 17
Tennessee River ........... 67
Terrell,

Judge ........c.c0iiians 48
Texas RANGErS ..cvivoveonss 38
Texas Red River .......... . 50
Texas Road .......c0o0e0cuen 51
Thompson,

Gideon ......c.oititiernnn 37

Gideon W. ...,.......... 29
Thornton, .

J.F., Mrs. .....ciceeee.s 11
Tidwell,

D.D., Rev. ....cvivuve.. 11

Donavon Duncan ......... 1

) 11
Tietgens,

Paul .........ciieeve.en. 59
Tillman County, OK ........ 46
Tolbert,

Frank X. ... 66

Tom Green County, Texas ... 2
Toney,

Virginia Ashley ........ 43
Torrey brothers ........... 53
Totten,

JAMeS ... ciii i 32
Trapp Crossing ........... . 10
Trapp saloon .......... oo 10
Tread of the Longhorn ..... 8
Trickham, Texas ........... 4
Trinity River ....... 46,48,51
Trousdale,

JANe ... .. it 43
Tuck,

Augustus F. ....cccvivns 67

Augustus F., Jr. ....... 67

Clyde E. ........ e 40

Edward Lawson .......... 67
Tuscumbia, AL ..... e 63
Tyler,

Charles H. ........c.u0s 37
Upshaw,

Chickasaw agent ........ 54

Van Dorn,
Earl, General .......... 29
Vehlin,

Joseph .......c0iiveeann 48
Vernon County, MO ......... 29
Villa, Pancho ............. 17
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Vontress, Wilkins,
Edward Hughes .......... 39 James A. .......... ceee. 62
Eunice .....voeevnas e, 42 Williams,
Eunice Allen .......... . 43 John, death of ......... 46
Eunice Amelia .......... 39 Malinda Graves ......... 58
Judge ............. cene. 42 Williamson County, Texas .. 4,
Maj. .. iennnn e e e e 39 39,43,62
MES. ittt eneeetonnsas 65 Wilson,
Waco, TeXasS ....viveeneenns 38 James Tennison ......... 59
Walker, Tennison J. ......... ... 44
Charles R. ............. 11 Winters, Texas .......... .. 11
Clabe ............... 11,19 Wood,
Emery ......ccvvveeee... 11 Jackson ........cc0c000 44
Hollon ....... e 11 Woodruff,
Jesse, MES. .....cccouv. 18 Howard W., Mrs. ........ 40
Nathan, Mrs. ........... 18 Wright,
Wall, Clark, Col. ......... 31,32
Christine ..... e e ne s 57 L 0 « 3 33
Ward, Lenora, Mrs. ........... 64
Inez Cates ......ccvvv. 24 Yantis,
Roxanna ................ 60 Thomas C. ...:.......... 11
William .......0vevenn. 58 Yearwood, -
Warner, EUNiLiCe ..t itttninnennnn 64
Ezra J. ... iiviienneenn 41 Florence .......oevuuues 64
Warren County, TN ... 44,45,56 Frank ............... 43,64
Warren, 0 64
Fitz Henry, Col. ....... 32 Robert F. . v .. 64
Warren, TeXasS ....oeeveeeeen 51 Ruth ......... ... 64
Warsaw, MO ................ 35 Young,
Washington, AR ............ 36 - 40
Washington County, Texas ..50, Jane Colville .......... 56
56,62 John Steele, Dr. ....... 47
Washita Post .............. 55
Watie,
Stand, Colonel ......... 29
Waverly, MO ........... .... 36
Wayne County, KY .......... 46
Weatherford, Texas ...... 2,4
Weaver,
Myrtle, Mrs. ........... 11
Webb,
= 43
Weir,
Harriet ................ 42
Harriet L. ............. 43

James Jackson, Rev. .... 26

Lavena Harriet ......... 26
Westport,

Battle of .............. 38
Wheeler,

Joseph, Gen. ........... 67
Whetstone,

A.T., MIES. ...t veeinnn 18

Albert ...........c... 11,19

D.H., Mrs. .....cveueeees . 18
Whiskey Trail ............. 50
Whitcomb,

Gladys ......... Chee e 64
Whiteside,

JAMEeS ...ttt rineronsonn 50

Jenkin .........ciiiieinn 50

Jonathan ............... 50

Robert ................. 50





